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The establishment of the European Bank was based on the commitment of its contracting parties
to the fundamental principlas of multiparly dernu(:rat;y, the rule of law, respect for human rights and

H'lﬂl"k(‘."l ECONOMICS.

Its purpose is to foster the transition towards open market oriented economies and to promote private
and entrepreneurial initiative in its countries of operations committed to and applying those same

principles, thereby helping their economies to become fully integrated into the international economy.

The Bank focuses in particular on establishing the framework of a markel economy, on ereating modern
financial and physical infrastructure, on strengthening financial institutions, on implementing
restructuring and privatization, on developing the local private sector and on promoting environmentally
sound and sustainable development in all of its operations, The projects it supports may involve one

country or span several countries of the region.

The European Bank seeks to be a catalyst of change in its countries of operations. In plaving that role,
it encourages co-financing and foreign direct investment {rom the private and public sector,
mobilizes domestic capital and provides technical assistance in relevant areas. The Bank applies

sound }Jal‘lking prinr:ip].es to all its operations.



Guide to readers

Throughout the text, for reasons of
consistency, non-ECU currencies have
been converted into ECU on the basis of
the conversion rates in force at

31 December 1991.

References to central and eastern Europe
throughout the text include all the republics
of the former Soviet Union, and references
to the USSR or the Soviet Union as

such are to be considered as valid until

31 December 1991.

Details of non-captioned photographs are
provided on page 152.

* For consistency, the country reviews are
presented in the same order in all language
versions.
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President’s statement

Since the European Bank was established, the geopolitical landscape of the continent has changed
enormously: one member country, the German Democratic Republic, has united with another; a second
member country, the Soviet Union, has ceased to exist and been replaced by fifteen others; a third,
Yugoslavia, has seen the break-up of its federal system and recognition by many in the international
community of several of its constituent republics, and Albania has rejoined the ranks of European
democracies. Overall, the number of countries of operations of the Bank is in the process of expanding

from eight to more than twenty.

In each of these new nations the euphoria that greeted the downfall of the otalitarian regimes has given
way to the difficult task of implementing the rules of democracy, and the illusion of rapid economic
reconstruction has vanished in the face of lasting recession, as severe as in western Europe between

the two world wars.

Progress to date has been limited, because the legacy of the former totalitarian regimes has proved more
pervasive than anticipated: parliamentary and legal institutions, banking systems, telecommunications,
rail and energy networks, all have to be rebuilt. Each of these countries is trying to implement its own
strategy to achieve the same goals; some governments have discovered that freeing prices does not in
itself create businesses; others have learned that massive privatization cannot be effected only by decree.
All of them now recognize that it will take time and substantial financial and operational help to rebuild
their economies and develop their competitive sectors. A top priority will be for these countries to
modernize their bureaucracies and indeed their entire state administration, in ways that ensure they are
answerable to parliament. It will also be essential for them to establish fair and efficient systems to

levy and collect taxes. Without such reform, these nations will have no possibility of developing into

modern states.
The bulk of what needs to be done will rest on the shoulders of the citizens of these countries themselves,

on their steadfast determination to establish the necessary institutions, on their ahility to face up to

challenging reappraisals. There is no doubt that their geography, history, culture and skills will help.
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Of course, much will also depend on the extent to which the international community can marshal
support; on its ability to see the value of financing the stabilization of a continent that has been unstable
for a thousand years and to integrate 400 million people into the market economy. This will make

it possible, on the one hand, to reduce the nuclear threat that hangs over the planet and to cut defence
budgets and, on the other, to scale back agricultural subsidies and open up new markets. It is no
exaggeration to state that, at the end of this century, global prosperity will largely depend on the success
of this transition in Europe. International assistance must therefore be significant. It amounted

to ECU 25 billion in 1991, taking into account debt rescheduling, and it will be on the same scale in

1992. These are large sums, but not enough.

The European Bank was created to complement the international response to these enormous needs.

The idea of the Bank emerged at a time when the problems seemed to many far less serious than

they have turned out to be; the Bank has now become an essential instrument in channelling
international support, a catalyst and a partner for the business and banking community. It is a unique
institution to deal with a unique situation. Not solely a development bank, or a merchant bank, or a
consultative body, it is the only institution where, alongside the United States, Japan, Canada and others,
practically all the countries of western, central, eastern and far eastern Europe are members on an

equal footing. It is also the only institution entirely devoted to the success of transition both to democracy
and to the market econony. The Bank can provide long term capital and invest in equity; it has

specific mechanisms for financing infrastructure, privatization, enterprise, major networks, institutional
reform and training centres. For all those involved in this formidable task, it is becoming a focal

point for knowledge, experience and the exchange of ideas.

The idea of the Bank was first conceived in October 1989, before the Berlin Wall came down;

it was inaugurated in April 1991 before the Moscow coup; and, in a matter of months, it has become
fully operational. It has staff of close to 400 from almost all its member countries. Their average

age of 36 is symbolic of the youth of the new Europe. The staff has experience in private and public
sector financing and has specific skills in the financing of agriculture, energy, telecommunications,
transportation, municipal development and financial services, as well as in the techniques of
privatization and restructuring. It has developed environmental expertise and policies consistent
with its founding Agreement. The Bank has selected its headquarters, and has established its

name and its credit on capital markets with a triple A rating. Its first public ECU bond issue is

considered a benchmark by the market.
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President's statement

The Bank has also committed almost ECU 500 million to sixteen projects up to the end of February

1992, which will attract close to a further ECU 2 billion from several banking and industrial partners.

It has carried out these projects by developing high quality financing structures and operating according
to international banking standards. We will continue to develop the syndication and co-financing capacity
of the European Bank as a high priority in 1992 and have adapted our organization to this end. We

have also provided technical assistance for close to one hundred projects and have begun to establish

more than ten training centres, becoming a natural forum for government and corporate consultation.

In 1992, I hope that the Bank will more than double its activities, thanks to the work and support of all
its members. The Bank will continue to help all its countries of operations to find the right paths of reform
and approaches to transition, will continue to open resident offices in these countries, will enhance

its relationship with the business community, and will finance as many projects as it can, consistent with
its strategy and with sound banking principles. Priority will be given to those projects that help draw
together the two parts of Europe such as transport, energy, telecommunications and those that promote
the market economy. The Bank will continue to attach particular importance to concrete implementation
of the projects it finances in each of these areas, closely allying a large part of its technical assistance

to its projects to ensure that the specific skills required for implementation appear when and where

they are needed.

The transition in Europe’s eastern half will be long and arduous and will last well into the beginning of
the next millenium. There will be no magical transformation. If xenophobia and disintegration are to be
avoided, generosity, tolerance and integrity will be required. If the transition succeeds without tragedy or
violence, the European Bank, together with other institutions, will have provided an impetus for what the
whole of Europe could become - a centre of culture and creativity and a continent of freedom and justice,
with a sound economic and physical environment, playing its part in the creation of a more tolerant

and peaceful world.
A
/’ ’

Jacques Attali
London, 25 February 1992
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Directors’ report

Under the Articles of Agreement Establishing the Bank,
all the powers of the Bank are vested in the Board of
Governors. As indicated in Article 27, the Board of
Governors has delegated most of its powers to the Board

of Directors.

The President of the Bank is the Chairman of the Board
of Directors. The Board of Directors is responsible for
the direction of the general operations of the Bank.

It establishes policies and takes decisions concerning
loans, guarantees, investment in equity capital,
technical assistance, borrowing by the Bank and other
operations of the Bank. Under the direction of the
Board, the President conducts the current business of
the Bank. The President, as chief of staff, is responsible
for the organization of the Bank, and makes staff

appointments.

At the Inaugural Meeting of the Board of Governors on
16 April 1991, Governors representing the 41 initial
members of the Bank elected the first Board of
Directors. The Board consists of 23 Directors, who each
may appoint an Alternate Director. In most cases
Directors who represent more than one member country
have appointed an Alternate Director from another

country in the constituency.

In accordance with Article 31 of the Agreement
Establishing the Bank, the Board of Directors has
appointed five Vice-Presidents on the recommendation

of the President.

The Board of Directors expresses its sincere
appreciation to the staff of the Bank for their substantial
efforts in the first operational period of the Bank. Their

work has enabled the Bank to commit finance for a
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significant number of loan and equity operations,
and to establish an initial programme of technical

assistance activities.

Policies

During 1991, the Board adopted policies concerning
the Bank’s operations, its finances and its
administration. These have defined the basic approach
of the Bank towards fulfilling its mandate in its

countries of operations.

The Bank’s first operations publication ‘Operational
Challenges and Priorities: Initial Orientations’,
approved by the Board at its inaugural meeting in April
1991, examined the main areas the Bank should aim to

tackle, and the principal mechanisms at its disposal.

It was agreed that the Bank would place emphasis on
activities that support the creation of the infrastructure
necessary for private sector development. The Bank
will also take a central role in areas such as
privatization and restructuring, reform of the financial
sector, encouraging foreign direct investment and

environmental rehabilitation.

The Board emphasized that the Bank should

concentrate its efforts on developing an entrepreneurial
spirit at grass roots level by helping small and medium-
sized enterprises and by promoting the development of

financial infrastructure.

Within this general approach the Board approved
operational policies and guidelines which specify the
types of project eligible for Bank financing, the main
criteria to be used in identifying and preparing a
project for Bank financing, the role of the Bank during
execution of the project, and the requirement

for evaluation of projects when the execution stage

is complete.



Letter of Transmittal London, 25 February 1992

Chairman of the Board of Governors

In accordance with Article 35 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank and Section 11 of its By-Laws, the enclosed
Annual Report of the Bank for 1991 is submitted by the Board of Directors to the Board of Governors. It includes the
approved and audited financial statements required to be submitted under Article 27 of the Agreement and Section
13 of the By-Laws. The Annual Report also covers the environmental aspects of the Bank’s operations, as required

under Article 35 of the Agreement Establishing the Bank.

President and Chairman of the Board of Directors

Jacques Attali

Directors

William Curran
Claes de Neergaard
Tony Faint
Tetsuma Fujikawa
James Humphreys
Ron Keller

Heiner Luschin
Giuseppe Maresca
Alexander Maslov
Donald McCutchan
Patrick Mordacq
Kari Nars

Guy Noppen
Branimir Pajkovic
Tomds Parizek
Jacques Reverdin
Christopher Sibson
José da Silva Lopes
Lars Tybjerg

José Luis Ugarte

Antoine Van Goethem

Jan Winiecki

Giinter Winkelmann

Alternate Directors
Emily Walker
Halldér J Kristjansson
Craig Pickering
Yoshihisa Kuroda
Seung Woo Kwon
Paul Menkveld
Mordechai D Fraenkel
Maurizio Serra
Serguei Ovseitchik
Robert Mackenzie
Erik Aarhus

Ernest Muhlen
Stanel Ghencea
Gyérgy Matolesy
Ibrahim Berberoglu
Terry Brown

Dimitri Koulourianos
Pol O’Duibhir
Vicente Ferndndez
Peter Blackie
Plamen Ilichev
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Bank operations are implemented within the framework
of strategies for each country of operations. At its
inaugural meeting, the Board established financial
policies to enable the Bank to manage the risks
inherent in its operations so as to safeguard the highest
standing in the opinion of its members, business

partners and capital market investors.

These policies establish specific rules about interest
rate and foreign exchange risk exposures. They require
careful analysis and limitation of credit risk and specify
that the Bank’s liquid funds must be invested within
acceptable credit, market and counterparty risks. These
financial policies helped the Bank to obtain a triple A

rating from the main rating agencies.

Within this framework, the Board took other important
decisions affecting the Bank’s finances, including
establishing the Bank’s accounting policies and
determining a schedule for the encashment of capital
subscription payments made by members in the form

of promissory notes.

The Board approved the Bank’s initial borrowing
programme of ECU 800 million until the end of 1992,
to be carried out in different markets and using
different borrowing techniques. As part of the borrowing
programme, the Bank’s first Bond Issue of ECU 500

million was successfully placed in September 1991.

During 1991, the Board approved detailed portfolio
risk management and lending policies, which include:
® limits on the extent of exposure the Bank can take
on in any country or sector, or to any borrower,

= terms of loans and equity investments, and

* guidelines for co-financing and the use of financial

intermediaries.
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The Bank’s pricing policy distinguishes between
perceived risks both in the public and competitive
enterprise sector and terms are adapted to the needs

of each project.

The Board considered and approved a policy approach
for fulfilling the environmental aspect of the Bank’s
mandate. This emphasizes the following priorities:
= advisory assistance on environmental policy
formulation,

= promotion of business activities in environmental
protection and restoration,

* initiation of studies or programmes to address
regional and national environmental problems and
to promote environmental education,

* adoption of environmentally sound operational

procedures throughout all Bank projects and activities.

It was recognized that the environmental aspects

needed to be further specified at a later date.

The Board of Directors has approved procedures to
implement the political aspects of the Bank’s mandate.
These provide for the Bank’s country strategy papers to
assess political progress in each country of operations
together with economic progress, using a range of
reference points internationally regarded as essential

elements of multiparty democracy and pluralism.

Recognizing the critical importance of technical and
advisory assistance and training as a preparation for,
and complement to, investment operations, the Board
encourages the conclusion of agreements with members
of the Bank for the provision of resources for these
purposes. During 1991, the Bank concluded

such agreements with eleven donors, members and
non-members of the Bank, amounting to approximately
ECU 68 million in total.



Directors’ report

The Board would like to express its sincere gratitude to
the donors for enabling the Bank to become operational

in the key area of technical assistance.

A general policy approach for technical assistance has
been approved. Such assistance will be provided to
private sector institutions, to central governments and
local authorities in individual countries, or in
programmes promoting regional integration among the
countries of operations as a group. The Bank’s technical
assistance programme should result in:

= faster build-up of the pipeline of projects,

= more effective investment programmes and projects,
» faster and broader policy reforms, and

= more effective institutional adjustments.

The Board approved the Budget for the period from
15 April to 31 December 1991, within the framework
of five-year financial projections and on the basis

of an initial work programme from the Bank’s various
departments. It approved a policy to open resident
offices in the countries of operations. The Board
expresses its satisfaction that the financial results of the
Bank during this period were better than forecast.

At its December 1991 meeting, the Board approved
a Budget for 1992 of ECU 91 million for net
administration and staff expenses. The capital

expenditure programme totals ECU 80 million.

The Board also agreed on the Bank’s staff compensation
and benefits policy, to ensure a competitive package
which attracts high quality staff. The Bank is currently
located in temporary premises. The Board approved the
recommendation to locate the Bank’s permanent
Headquarters at One Exchange Square in the City

of London.
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New members

During 1991, Albania, Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania
applied to become members of the Bank. The Board of
Directors considered the President’s recommendations
to accept the applications and approved draft
resolutions of the Board of Governors. In October, the
Board of Governors voted unanimously in favour of
membership for Albania, which completed the
procedures to become a member on 18 December 1991.
In November, the Board of Governors voted
unanimously in favour of membership for Estonia,

Latvia and Lithuania.

Strategies for the countries of operations

The Board approves the strategies for operations
(lending, equity investments and technical assistance)
in each country of operations to ensure that the purpose
and functions of the Bank, as set out in Article 1 and 2
of the Agreement, are fully served. Country strategy
papers include a review of political and economic
developments and identify priority areas for the Bank.
They are prepared in consultation with the authorities

of the countries of operations.

During 1991, strategies for the following countries

of operations were considered and approved: Hungary
{June), CSFR (July), Poland (September), Romania
(October), Bulgaria (November) and Albania
(December). Representatives from the member
country's capital, in most cases the Governor of the
Bank, have participated in all the country strategy
discussions in Board meetings. In view of the political
developments in the former USSR and its republics,
the Board, rather than adopting a more comprehensive
strategy, approved in September a short-term Action
Plan for Bank operations with an emphasis on technical
assistance. For similar reasons, no strategy has yet

been approved for Yugoslavia.



Operations

In the first operational period of the Bank, from

15 April to 31 December 1991, the Board approved

14 projects for investment in the countries of
operations. An overview of these projects is presented
in the section of this Report entitled ‘Highlights’; the
individual operations are reviewed in the ‘Bank
involvement’ section of each of the country reviews. The
total amount committed in loans and equity investments
was over ECU 426 million - a catalytic amount which
may result in a total investment of more than ECU 1.5
billion with co-financiers and joint venture partners.
Some projects are geared towards improving
infrastructure in countries of operations, for example in
the fields of telecommunications and energy. Others
involve loan or equity finance for direct investments in

private enterprises. Two projects are specifically aimed

at financing small and medium sized private companies.

Cooperation with other international institutions

The Agreement Establishing the Bank requires that the
Bank shall work in close cooperation with other
international institutions. The Bank works in
particularly close cooperation with the European
Economic Community and the European Investment
Bank, which are both members of the Bank. In June
1991, the Board of Directors approved a policy on the
reciprocal exchange of documents with other
international institutions, which provides for
cooperation in this area with the Commission of the
European Communities, the European Investment
Bank, the International Monetary Fund,

the International Bank for Reconstruction and
Development, the International Finance Corporation,
the Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency, the
Organization for Economic Cooperation and

Development, the United Nations and its Specialized

15 European Bank for Reconstruction and Development

Agencies, the Council of Europe, the International
Investment Bank, the Nordic Investment Bank, the
Economic Commission for Europe and the General

Agreement on Tariffs and Trade.

In November 1991 the Board of Directors recommended
that the Board of Governors authorize a general
agreement for cooperation with the Council of Europe;
this would be the Bank’s first such agreement with

another international organization.

Working methods of the Board

The working methods of the Board are determined by its
extensive involvement in the development of the Bank’s
operational policies. In addition to regular formal
decision-oriented Board meetings, the Board has met
regularly to prepare Board decisions. These included
workshops with Bank staff to consider proposed policy
papers and country strategies, as well as information
sessions with Bank staff on many topics related to the

Bank’s operations.

The Board has established three Committees each
containing eight Directors (see Appendices). The
Committees report to the Board, through their
Chairmen, on issues related to Board decisions:

* the Audit Committee reviews, with the External
Auditors, the Financial Statements of the Bank and the
Auditors’ Report. It considers the Internal Auditor’s
work programme and the Bank’s policy on project
evaluation.

* the Committee on Staff Compensation and
Administrative Affairs of the Board considers matters
relating to administrative policy for the Board.
Proposals on staff compensation and benefits are also

reviewed by this Committee.



Directors’ report

= the Finance Committee examines all aspects of the
Bank’s financial policies, including elements of the
Borrowing Programme. The Committee is also mandated

to consider overall budgetary policy.

The Board has been honoured to be addressed at the
Bank by President Mitterrand of France, President
Goncz of Hungary as well as a number of Governors of
the Bank and other high officials from member
countries. Board members have also participated in
colloquies and conferences on issues such as the
economics of transition, minority rights, and economic
law reform, as well as attending lectures by experts

on subjects of interest to the Bank and meetings of the
Business Advisory Council, the Economic Advisory

Council and the Environmental Advisory Council.

Prior to Board consideration of a strategy for a country
of operations, a group of Board members usually travels
to the relevant country of operations to meet with
representatives of government, commercial banks, and
industries in the process of restructuring. Board
members visited Poland and the CSFR in June, Russia
and Ukraine in August, Romania in October and
Bulgaria in November. These visits have helped to
deepen the Bank’s dialogue with policy-makers in the
countries of operations, and provided the Board of

Directors with additional insight into these countries.
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In addition to representing member countries, Board
members act as contact points for the private sector in
their constituencies. In this respect Directors and
Alternates play an important role in initiating contacts
between companies who are interested in doing
business with the Bank and Bank staff involved in
project preparation. Many Board members have given
public presentations about the Bank’s work to corporate

groups and banks.






Highlights

Key Dates

1989

25 October

President Mitterrand of France puts
forward the idea for the European
Bank in a speech at the European
Parliament in Strasbourg, in these
words: “What can Europe do? So
much more! Why not set up a Bank

for Europe...?”

8 December
European Council in Strasbourg
endorses proposal to create the

European Bank
1990

15 January
Negotiations on establishing the Bank

begin in Paris

29 May

Agreement establishing the Bank
signed in Paris. This was followed
by three post-signature conferences,
held in July and October 1990 and
January 1991

1991
9 February

First meeting of Economic Advisory

Council

15 April

Inauguration of the European Bank
for Reconstruction and Development
in London. Board of Governors
unanimously elects Jacques Attali

as the Bank’s first President

16 April

First Board of Directors elected

17 April

First meeting of Board of Directors

25 June
First project approved for Bank of
Poznan, to finance Polish heating

enterprises

13 July
Conference on the Economics

of Transition

20 September
First meeting of Business Advisory

Council

24 September
First three private sector projects

approved

25 September
First bond issue of ECU 500 million

4 October
Board of Governors vote to accept

Albania as a member of the Bank
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25 October
First meeting of the Environmental

Advisory Council

1 November

Agreement signed for first resident
office in Warsaw

8 November

Agreement reached on location

of permanent headquarters

16 November

Colloquy on Economic Law Reform

29 November
Board of Governors approves
membership for Estonia, Latvia

and Lithuania

18 December
Albania becomes a full member

of the Bank

19 December
Meeting with Berne Union
(International Union of Credit

and Investment Insurers)



Financial Highlights

Paid-in capital

Capital instalments received

Medium and long-term borrowing for the period

Operating loss

New projects approved during the period

Total assets

1991
ECU million

2,956

591

499

427

1,129

The Bank has established itself as a prime credit institution in the financial community, achieving a triple A rating from

the two largest rating agencies.
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Technical Assistance

Project Commitments 1991

Albania

Bulgaria

Baltic Republics

CSFR

Hungary

Poland

Romania

USSR

Bank restructuring techniques (training)

Funding proposal for technical assistance in restructuring and privatization

Constitutional Protection of National Minorities (conference)

Telecommunications - institutional development programme

Telecommunications - prefeasibility study

Budapest urban infrastructure development

(assistance in defining a priority investment programme)
Feasibility study on the establishment of a Giro system

Transport - M1 - M15 motorway concession

Feasibility study for Polish mutual fund for privatization
Textile industry restructuring, L.6dz

Social security identification study

Gdarisk wastewater treatment

(project preparation for subsequent investment)

Deposit insurance system (feasibility analysis)

Business Advisory Service

Advisory role in privatization

Telecommunications - institutional development planning

Telecommunications - project management review

Assistance in implementation of ‘early privatization’ programme

Moscow City Council privatization programme
International School for Banking and Finance, Moscow
International School for Business, Management and
Privatization, St Petersburg

Initial advisory programme, St Petersburg privatization
Far East port and {ood distribution feasibility study
Advice on securities market

Transport and logistics study (food distribution)

Agriculture pricing policy and food distribution survey
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ECU thousand

21.5

570.0

27.7
610.0

76.4
352.1

55.8
2.4
48.6
115.0

153.8
2,200.0

533.0
62.3

1,230.0
2,300.0
1,000.0

914.0
12.3
7.4
378.3
81.0






Countries of operations

Albania

Bulgaria

CSFR

Estonia*

Hungary

Latvia*

Lithuania*

Poland

Romania

USSR

Yugoslavia

*Membership approved by the Board of
Governors, but not effective as of
31 December 1991

Review of the region of operations

In achieving transition to a working
democracy and market economy, half
of Europe - the central and eastern
European countries - faces a
formidable array of complex problems
which need to be tackled urgently, but
which will take many years to
overcome fully. This poses a major
challenge: to create a new economic
framework, while simultaneously
changing the political system,
behaviour, and even the attitudes of
the people involved, without creating
intolerable social conditions which
could seriously endanger their
societies and threaten those nearby.
There is no historical precedent for

such restructuring.

The establishment of appropriate legal

and financial institutions will be
crucial to successful transition.
Privatization has a key role to play, as
well as the mobilization of domestic
and international savings and
investment. At the same time, reform
of infrastructure is essential to build
the foundations of a market economy,
and represents the areas of greatest
potential for regional integration and
for the interlinking of the eastern and
western halves of the European
continent. Finally, the extent of the
reglon’s environmental problems gives
rise to great concern and requires

urgent action.

The following regional reviews
address several sets of interrelated
issues, giving a general overview of
the situation and discussing the
Bank’s priorities and involvement:
political and legal; economic and
trade; financial, privatization and
foreign direct investment; key areas of
infrastructure - transport,
telecommunications, energy and
municipal development; and the

environment.
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Political

In recent years central and eastern
Europe, including the former Soviet
Union, has undergone immense
political and economic change.
Countries of the region decided, with
astonishing rapidity, to move away
from communist regimes and
centralized command economies
and to embrace democracy and

the market.

The end of the Cold War, which had
assured a certain international
stability, altered the geopolitical
balance of the world. It opened the
door to the advance of democracy and
arms control. It also heralded new
types of international tension and
conflict, springing not only from
military concerns but from new
threats of large-scale migration,
environmental degradation and
unemployment. The political and
economic dimensions of these

changes were closely interlinked.

What made such momentous events
possible? It became clear by the mid-
1980s that economic systems were
under strain throughout the central
and eastern European countries,
despite sporadic reform efforts.
Although the need for drastic change
in the system itself was obvious, it was

not until the introduction of President



Gorbachevs glasnost and peresiroika
policies that the reform process
throughout the region gained
momentum. The fact that intervention
in the internal affairs of other central
and eastern European countries was
no longer a significant aspect of Soviel
foreign poliey represented a greal
turning point in the history of

the region.

Most of the European Bank’s
countries of operations made
tremendous demoeratic progress and
firm steps toward open markel
economies in 1991, albeit at a
somewhat slower pace in the
economic sphere than they and others
might have expected in the early
euphoria of freedom. This was
especially the case in Albania, where
economic difficulties are the most

acute of the region.

Despite severe economic problems,
most of their governments generally
enjoyed broad, if sometimes apathetic,
support. Careful governance, coupled
with a strong commitment to
democratic values allowed most of
them to maintain a delicate political
halance, not least in the CSFR, where
demaocratic debate continued about
the extent of powers of the Federation

and the Czech and Slovak republics.

New systems of local government,
featuring institutional and operational
autonomy and immediate
accountability to constituents, were
established in most central and
eastern European countries.
Imprecise legislation and inadequate
funding might have hindered
development, but a firm beginning
was made, Trade unions were
generally free to act independently,
although in some countries the trade
union movement was still weak.
Freedom of the press made
remarkable strides and the media
proved a powerful influence in most
countries, despite usually being

constrained by economic difficulties.

New constitutional provisions were a
priority for all countries in the region,
Using the aceumulated experience of
democratic societies and international
standards for human rights, legislators
based the drafting process on wide-
ranging popular participation. The
process is not yet complete. Bulgaria
was the first country to adopt a new
constitution, followed by Romania.
Other countries are still deliberating
specifie provisions. Meanwhile,
guarantees covering a broad range of
civil and political rights, including
freedom of religion, speech, the
media, equality under law and local

self-government, were enacted. The

practical effort of these rights varied
from country to country depending on
the strength of the political and

judicial institutions concerned,

Following Hungary, the CSFR and
Poland joined the Council of Europe
in 1991 and signed the European
Convention on Human Rights and
Fundamental Freedoms, Most of the
Bank’s other countries of operations
have indicated their intention to do
likewise. All were active in the CSCE,
of which the CSFR holds the

Chairmanship as 1992 begins.

However the political situation
throughout the region, but most
particularly in the former Soviel
Union and Yugoslavia, was fragile.
The chosen path of democracy and
market economics brought with it the
difficult task of setting up completely
new political and economic
mechanisms and dealing with their
social consequences. The pace of
reform was the eritical question: an
excess of radicalism or gradualism
could put the whele process at risk. It
was recognized that overall stability
and success in attracting foreign
investment depended on the readiness
of major political movements to
cooperate in the transition, There was

also the difficult task of balancing
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radical action and social costs, There

was no established formula to apply to
such unprecedented change. Although
freedom was often achieved in a
matter of hours. the creation of the
indispensable instrument for the
preservation of freedom, a democratic

society, was seen to take longer.

By the end of 1991, the USSR had
formally ceased to exist. Several of its
former republies had already gained
widespread international recognition
of independence. Unlike the other
countries of central and eastern
Europe, the new states emerging from
the dissolution of the Soviet Union
faced the challenge of post-communist
dcfvu|upml:nl with a (:um[.)lt:lt:i)
untried set of political institutions and
what many of their people believed to
be the negative experience of six
vears of perestrotka. Reforms
implemented during that period were
more liberalization measures than
clear steps toward the fundamental
dismantling of the totalitarian
structure. The slow, erratic reform

process led to social discontent.

The eivil conflict in Yugoslavia was a
painful realization of the threat of
instability. The independence
declarations of the Yugoslav republics
of Croatia and Slovenia in June 1991,

resisted by Serbia and the Yugoslay



Federal Army, set off escalating
violence that defied the mediation
efforts of the European Community
and the United Nations in 1991.

The issues of national sovereignty
and ethnic and minority rights
concerned in the conflict highlighted
potential problems elsewhere in the
region, raising the fear that they

would escalate.

Throughout the region, many
governments also had to face ethnic
minority concerns, including
citizenship rights and minority
language education questions. Ethnic
issues showed potential to disrupt
relations between, as well as within,
states, especially where governments
claimed to represent people of their
own ethnic origin living in
neighbouring countries. Territorial
claims based on ethnic claims or
dating from the end of the Second
World War are also a potential source

of conflict.

The main risk ahead is for democracy.
Failure to achieve economic growth
quickly may feed political fragility.
The role of the freely elected
parliaments, both in monitoring
administration and government and in
generally supervising the remaining,

large, state-owned sector, will thus be
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crucial, as will appropriate
mechanisms to mediate among the
competing interests of governments,
the private sector, workers, and other
social groups. Democratic
accountability of governments may
impose certain constraints on
economic reform, especially where a
widespread fall in living standards is
involved. Different countries are
likely to choose different paths,
according to their individual

preferences and traditions.

The countries of central and eastern
Europe have shown themselves
determined to create new democratic
market economies. The linkage
between the political, economic and
social components of the changes
have become increasingly clear. A
market economy requires an adequate
legal and democratic political
framework to foster the spirit of
enterprise, individual rights and
institutional stability necessary for

sound investment.

Bank involvement

It was against this background that
the Agreement establishing the
European Bank was agreed in 1990
and the Bank became operational in
1991, with unique political and
economic aspects to its mandate to

help the transformation to multiparty,

pluralistic market economies. This
idea was enshrined in the Agreement,
which extends the political aspects of
the Bank’s mandate to all elements of
the Bank’s operations. The Bank
therefore monitors progress toward
multiparty demoeracy in each of its
countries of operations to contribute
to the formulation of the Bank’s
strategy for the country. The Bank
seeks to encourage civil and political
rights essential to the full
development of multiparty democracy
and pluralism as part of that sirategy,
s0 as to work with the country to help
it ensure its continued adherence to

the Bank’s purpose.

Examples of such rights are free
elections; representative government
in which the executive is accountable
to the elected legislature or the
electorate; freedom of speech and
assembly; freedom of conscience and
religion; freedom of movement; the
right to private property; availability
of redress against administrative
decisions; separation between the
State and political parties;
independence of the judiciary; equal
protection of the law, including for
minorities; fair criminal procedure;
and the right to form trade unions and
to strike. As stipulated in the Bank’s

founding Agreement, if the Bank’s
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assessment of a country of operations’
democratic progress indicates that it
is implementing policies inconsistent
with the Bank’s purpose, the Bank’s
Board of Directors may consider
proposing that the Board of Governors
suspend or otherwise modify some or

all of Bank operations in that country.

The Bank’s explicit link between
lending and investment operations
and civil and political rights codifies
the ideal that the long-term success of
efforts to transform the former
communist states into successful
market economies turns to a
significant degree on their willingness
and ability, both real and as perceived
by potential investors, to safeguard
civil and political rights in
accordance with international
standards. This link between
economics and democracy is the new

framework for the future.



Main events in central and eastern
Europe in 1991

4 January

Jan Krzysztof Bielecki elected Polish
Prime Minister by Sejm at head of
Solidarity Government

20 February
CSCE Secretariat established in

Prague

21 February
CSFR joins Council of Europe.
Hungary is already a member

31 March

First free Albanian election results in
victory for ex- Communists, although
they suffer major losses in urban areas
to opposition Democratic Party

20 May

Stipe Mesic, a non-Communist Croat,
assumes Presidency of Yugoslavia,
despite opposition from Serbia and
her allies

1 June
Warsaw Pact dissolved

4 June

New coalition ‘government of national
stability’ in Albania, under Ylli Bufi,
installed after resignation of Fatos
Nano’s government following a four-
week general strike

12 June

Boris Yeltsin democratically elected
President of the Russian Republic,
winning 58% of the popular vote

19 June
Albania admitted to CSCE

25 June
Slovenia and Croatia declare
independence from Yugoslavia

28 June
Comecon dissolved

12 July
Bulgarian Parliament adopts new
constitution

15 July
G-7 summit begins in London,

attended by Mikhail Gorbachev

19 August

Conservative hard-liners, led by
senior ministers, assume power in
Soviet military coup, on the eve of
proposed signing of Union Treaty.
Mikhail Gorbachev is kept under

house arrest in Crimea

21 August

Coup collapses after losing army
support and encountering popular
resistance, led by Boris Yeltsin.
Leaders are arrested and President
Gorbachev returns to Moscow

6 September
Moscow recognizes the independence
of Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania

7 September

Yugoslavian leaders attend peace
conference in The Hague, held under
auspices of EC, and chaired by Lord
Carrington, former British Foreign
Secretary and Secretary General of
NATO

10 September

CSCE Conference on the Human
Dimension opens in Moscow.
Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania

admitted to CSCE

26 September

Petre Roman resigns as Romanian
Prime Minister after miners riot in
Bucharest. Replaced by former
Finance Minister Teodor Stolojan, an
independent

13 October

UDF wins Bulgarian election, but fails
to secure absolute majority. UDF
leader Filip Dimitrov eventually forms
government with the backing of the
Movement for Rights and Freedom, an
ethnic Turkish party

27 October

Polish election produces fragmented
Sejm. The two leading parties are the
Democratic Union, led by former
Prime Minister Tadeusz Mazowiecki,
and the ex-communist Democratic
Left. Efforts to constitute a governing
coalition begin

21 November
Romanian Parliament adopts new
constitution

26 November
Poland joins Council of Europe

8 December

Russia, Belarus and Ukraine sign
Commonwealth of Independent States
Treaty

10 December

Vilson Ahmeti appointed Albanian
Prime Minister, at head of interim
government of mainly non-party
technocrats, after Democratic Party
leaves government
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16 December

EC Council of Ministers agree to
recognize those Yugoslav republics
wishing to proceed with independence
on 15 January 1992, provided human
rights and the rights of minorities are
respected, and the republics have no
claims on the territory of other
sovereign states and republics

20 December

Ante Markovic, resigned from his
post of Federal Prime Minister of
Yugoslavia, in protest at 81% of the
draft 1992 Federal Budget being
proposed for army expenditure.

21 December

Eleven Soviet Republics sign
Commonwealth Treaty at Alma-Ata.
Only Georgia does not sign

31 December
USSR formally ceases to exist
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European countries face a formidible array of energy and municipal development; and the
complex problems: political and legal; economic environment

and trade; financial, privatization and foralgn
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Legal

The successful transition from
command to market economies
requires the establishment and
development of vastly different legal
structures which will support free
market enterprise within each of the
economies In transition. Moreover,
adequately safeguarded constitutional
rights, soundly administered
privatization and foreign investment
laws, the protection of private
property rights and effectively
enforced banking, securities and
bankruptcy regulations will assist the
former communist countries in their
integration into the international
economy. This is widely recognized.
Nevertheless, the response to the
urgent need for law reform has been
inadequate in a number of respects.
Efforts to build legal systems capable
of supporting market economies have
often resulted in conflicting codes,
legislation which can be neither
implemented nor enforced, and
general uncertainty which impedes
efforts to attract investment in the
region. A particularly difficult
problem has been presented by the
issue of restitution of property rights,
which has further complicated the

difficult process of privatization.

Review of the region of operations

During the last few years each of the
Bank’s countries of operations has
enacted a wide array of constitutional
and economic laws. Nonetheless, the
drafting of new legislation is bound to
continue at an active pace for some
time. New laws enacted in haste, as
many have been, will need revision.
In addition, where countries have
chosen to rely on codes enacted prior
to 1946, extensive amendments may
be required. Amendments will also be
required where interim measures were
enacted with the intention that they

be elaborated upon in the future.

One question the recent drafting

of new legislation has raised is that of
sequencing. Which laws ought to be
enacted immediately, and which must
wait until the legal system is further
developed? A related question

is whether it is either realistic or
desirable for central and eastern
European countries to coordinate or
harmonize their laws with those of the
western industrialized states in order

to facilitate access to global markets.

The drafting and revision of codes
and regulations also raises important
concerns regarding the ability

of governments to implement and
enforce these new laws. Some
countries have placed undue

restraints on the executive which

hamper its ability to implement new
laws. Of even greater concern is the
fact that many of the Bank’s countries
of operations have no means of
systematically examining the

effectiveness of their new laws.

The inexperience of the judiciary in
commercial law matters is also a
problem. Judges are not alone in their
need for training. Corporate counsel,
private practitioners, public
administrators, magistrates, and

law professors could all benefit
extensively from educational

programmes.

Bank Involvement

As a first step toward fostering legal
reform in central and eastern Europe,
the Bank organized a colloquy
entitled ‘Setting an Agenda for
Technical Assistance and Training for
Reform of Economic Law in Central
and Eastern Europe’, in association
with the International Development
Law Institute and the Harvard
Programme on International Financial
Systems. Held at the Bank’s
headquarters on 15-17 November
1991, the colloquy was attended by
21 participants from eight central and
eastern European countries, and legal
scholars and representatives from

multilateral, bilateral and private
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financing organizations including the
EC, EIB, BIS, NIB, Council of
Europe, IMF, OECD, the World Bank
Group (IBRD, IFC, MIGA) as well

as US AID, the UK Know-How Fund
and many other country organizations.
The colloquy focused on legal
obstacles to foreign investment and
entrepreneurial initiatives in the
Bank’s countries of operations, the
merits and shortcomings of the legal
technical assistance projects under
way and areas where legal technical
assistance was most needed and

would be most effective.

At the conclusion of the colloquy,

the Bank was invited to play a key
role in the effort to institutionalize

the exchange of information among all
parties. To enable the Bank to act as a
source of information relating to legal
technical assistance and training

in its countries of operations, the
Office of the General Counsel has
embarked upon :

* the development of a database of
technical assistance and training
programmes,

= the formation of an international
advisory committee, comprised of
representatives from the various
international financial institutions,

professional organizations and



academic institutions, which will
seek to increase coordination and
information sharing among the
providers of assistance, and

= the establishment of counterpart
advisory committees within the
ceniral and eastern European
countries to assess needs and
priorities in their respective countries
and to work with the international
advisory committee to create a

targeted response to specific needs.

Heston-Summers 1985
PlanEcon 1988
PlanEcon 1989
PlanEcon 1990
CIA 1989
World Bank 1988
IcP* 1985
IcP* 1989
WHW** 1990
WiHw*** 1990

CSFR Hungary Poland
7,424 5,765 4,913
7,600 6,490 5,450
7,878 6,108 4,565
7,940 5,920 3,910
7,900 6,090 4,560

- 2,460 1,860
- 5,625 4,018
- 6,200 4,980
2,810 3,160 1,740
9,830 8,890 6,640

Estimated GDP Per Head in Central and Eastern European Countries
Sources: PlanEcon, Report 6 (52) 1990; Collins-Rodrik, 1991; OECD ESD/CPE/WP1 (91) 6, 1991; Havlik, Forschungsbericht (11) Wiener Institute filr

Internationale Wirtschaftsvergleiche (WIIW) 1991

*UN-supported International Comparison Project **Converted at current exchange rates ***‘Physical indicator’ method

Economic

This review addresses the economic
developments of the central and
castern European region as a whole in
1991. The significant differences
existing among the individual
countries and general trends are
outlined below, while trade, both
within the region and beyond, is
discussed in more detail in the

following section.

Hungary began its reform in 1968,
Poland enacted various liberalization
measures during the 1980s.
Yugoslavia had pursued an
economically distinctive path for
many years. In the CSFR the
traditional command economy
remained virtually unchanged until
late 1989. In Albania, Bulgaria and
Romania, economic reform began
relatively recently, whilst the former
USSR was separating into
economically autonomous states,
several of which were to introduce
radical reforms at the beginning

of 1992.

This diversity is a hazard to
generalization, but not the only one:
the quality, consistency and
coherence of statistical data are far
from ideal. Official, black market and

purchasing power parity exchange

rates can give widely varying
estimates of GDP per head (see above
and right). Administered exchange
rates, unlike market rates, need not be
consistent as to their cross rates and
inconsistent rates make the
delineation of the pattern of trade
especially difficult. The emergence of
private enterprises outside the
planning structure before
comprehensive fiscal and statistical
measures are in place, means that the
picture of private activity is far from
complete. Registration of an
enterprise is no guarantee that it is
operational and is totally
uninformative as to its scale; this
applies equally to joint ventures with
foreign participants. Moreover, under
national accounting conventions,
officials laid off and going onto social
assistance represent a loss of output
even if their activities were not
economically useful. Similarly, when
relative prices have changed radically,
activities which added value at the old
prices might cease to do so at the

new ones - the ‘closure’ reduces GDP
at old prices but raises it at the new
ones. Thus, closing enterprises
characterized by negative value added
does not reduce GDP, although

the output of a particular product

may fall.
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Expressed In US$

Bulgaria Romania Yugoslavia USSR
5,113 4,273 5,063 6,266
5,630 4,120 4,900 5,500
5,710 3,445 - 6,500
5,430 2,950 5,140 5,060
2,690 3,440 5,460 9,230

- - 2,520 1,735
- - 4,594 -
- - 5,320 -
6,290 1,540 - 5,660
8,380 6,070 6,455 8,490

— denotes not available

Measurement problems

The statistical problems referred to in the
text are particularly acute in relation to
GDP per head. The table above (from the
Austrian Institute of Economic Research,
November 1991) sets out 10 estimates
for up to seven countries.

The range of estimates varies from a
ratio of 2.5 for Yugoslavia to over five for
the USSR, the other five countries have
ratios between three and four.

Apart from problems raised by the
incomplete coverage of socialist NMP
relative to conventional GDP, and
problems of rationing, the key question
relates to the exchange rate used to
convert national currency estimates into
hard currency estimates. Most of the
estimates presented use the purchasing
power parity approach which involves
comparing the local and international
prices of a large number of items.

The physical indicator approach relies
on data on availability of specific types
of goods.

For the tables attached to the country
reviews below, we have rounded the
1990 PlanEcon figures which

are relatively recent, have relatively
good country coverage and are
relatively central.



'|'|\T'nll,l.'.‘|1(|lll the region, 1991 mighl

reasonably be summarized as a year of

econmmnic (|iml|)||ui|l|1n('l|l_ or al least
ol hopes deferred. Only in the case of
exporls lo the West. and that not
everywhere, did performance exceed
expeclations, even though Agreements
between the CSFR, Hungary and
Poland with the |‘jl||‘u[n‘:m
Community, signed in December
1991, failed to fulfil all the hopes of

the countries concerned.

In nearly all cases, heavily laden
||‘(‘_‘:-|HII||i\"(‘ programmes .'-'lill}\t"ll. HE)
”\t'_\ lt‘llll 1o (I() t'\'!'l"\ \\'I](’l't", [.l'fll‘lll‘“],\“
of restitution, with important
iHl|IH|'alIimlh for the |)t‘i\!11izL||i(|||
timetable, proved particularly
troublesome. In several cases, such as
laws on bankruptey, approval of
legislation did not necessarily lead 1o
widespread implementation. When
technical .IIIH()IH‘I'H'_\. ol many state-
“\\'“"‘(l t“'llll"l'|lt'i:-l".'-' i.“ Yery commaorn,
the decision to launch a particular
procedure may have serious social

is taken

implications and therel

with understandable reluctance.

I‘)r':-apilr' the Ilnpl'u;)ilfnui
circumstances, some progress was
made in 1991 with privatizalion,
notably small privalizations. Large

scale |l|‘i\'ulimllic]n and associated

1989

BG C5 H PL R YU USSR

Chart 1 Percentage change in GDP at constant prices

1990

BG €& H PL R YU USSR

BG Bulgaria CS Czech and Slovak Federal Republic H Hungary PL Poland R Romanla YU Yugoslavia
Sources: OECD, United Nations ECE, National authorities, European Bank estimates

restructuring have been delayed by
the fact that fk'\u'rHlu'l'pr'iﬁr-v.-i than

had been l'x|u-('h—(] are prolitable,

Stabilization, output and employment
Stabilization programmes invariably
impose fiscal and monetary
restrictions which veduce demand and
oulpul. As chart 1 shows, nnlput.
measured subject to the problems
mentioned above, fell 10-20 per cenl
from its previous peaks and, in mos|
cuses, s |ikt-'|} to fall almost 25 per

cent before it starts to recover.

Nearly all the countries embarked on
reform with high levels of repressed
inflation attributable to the
monetization of large liscal defieits

eliminaled in several

which w
cases in 1990 as subsidies were
substantially reduced. Sustaining this
improvemenl in 199] Prn\'wi difficult
where recession caused rising
unemployment and falling profits of
stale-owned l‘I]l{'f‘[li‘iﬁt‘H which
accrued to the government. The
implementation ol tax reforms
appropriale to a market economy will
lill\!" Iil”t' l('\'t"["\ \\'I]l‘['(". (:I’"“I:“l
restrietions and high inlerest rates in
thoge countries also i:'nnlrn”in)(,v their
f‘i\hi(--hll '?U-"‘iti”n:" h('ll]l'(l lo ['“Hl."lil'l
monelary growth, but at the expense
of new small and medium sized

enterprises thal did not have

established links with financial
inatitutions still in state hands,
Privatization proceeds made only a
modest contribution 1o the nl;.\-‘.m'pli(nl
ol the monetary overhang or of

conlinuing monetary emission.

Although restructuring. linked to
privatization, has hardly yet got under
way. Illlr-lnp|n,\'lm‘nl started 1o rise
towards levels tvpical of western
Europe - and shows no sign of
*il(}l)llil'l}.'{ there (see charl 2). Of
course, Lthe very low levels reported
hefore the reform process |u-'_:g;||| were
not associated with a well=-functioning
labour market, but reflected
administrative arrangements, The
!["'gll('_\ l)lllill)”“l' ill”””l)l"lill\. as \\t"” as
a poorly functioning housing market,
continued Lo limit (exibility in the

labour market.

Labour [oree participation rates in
l'('”“‘d“\ ’3|:l||||('f| ['l'(ll]“nli(‘ﬁ were
much hj;.l,‘ll('l‘ than in the West.
Although one might expeel some
movemenl lowards the pallerns of the
Wesl, the transition is likely 1o be
protracled as families are fll‘[n'mh‘ul
on mulliple incomes. Even though
measured real wage [alls exaggerated
the decline in living standards, as

’H'("\ if\“l‘ i'i.l:‘ill ill('l’llll(".‘i ('I)UI(I ()f‘lt-'l] nol
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1991 estimate
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be spent on gouds available at official
|JI'it'(-‘H (the ration of available ;,',tnul.-‘\
did not absorh all the available cash
income, the surplus accumulating as
prarl of the Irl()ll(‘l.'\ll"\ 0V z-l|'|1;_|||g). a
rapid fall in participation could prove

dilficult to absorh.

The figures for employment and
outpul respectively imply a fall in
productivity. That, of course. is quite
normal during a recession.
Furthermore, shedding labour remains
a last resort of many managers,
particularly when ownership issues
are unresolved, workers” couneils
influential in state-owned enlerprises

and profit incentives weak.

International aspects

An im}mrh‘ml faclor (‘unlrihulin}_r Lo
the fall in output throughout the
region in 1991 was the collapse in
trade between the former Soviel Union
and its former CMEA trading
partners, This fall of about 25 per cent

was altributable 1o the shift in the

basis of trade to hard curreney and
world prices and 1o falling oil
procluction. Moreover, an inhereni
bias prevailed against spending
scarce hard currency on goods
formerly available on sofl terms. The
deterioration in their terms of trade
reduced the real incomes of some

counltries l;_\ about 10 per cenl,



1990

1991 estimate
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Chart 2 Unemployment as percentage of labour force

The gross linancing of the region

|H'(I|):l|l|_\ reached about US
billion. Nearly half of this was
attributable to the USSR despite its
having a trade surplus, and was mel
|l) ':”I(] ;l”fl ('lll'['('lll"\ reserve .""“]t'.".
debt reliel and bilateral assistance,
Mn.-ii nl' ||I(‘ ﬂn.zmt'ing of the other
('l)llll“'i('h was "”V("l't‘(l ||\ ”[Ti('ii‘l
linaneing, mueh ol it through [Fls.
Only about US$ 3 billion took

the form of private foreign direct

investment.

J!'ll(‘ .‘,ll'('l”"lllutil”l ﬂl'. lll‘l!‘i(]l(] slocks (’l.
exporl goods, often financed at very
hi;,:h real inlerest rales l)_\ the
producing enlerprises. masked. in
some cases., Lthe very substantial
reduction in inventlories consequent lo
a move lo free markets, Just as
households have less reason to hoard
\"hl‘ll gfl“(l!’\ cHn IN' I'(‘““(I upon Loy I'l(‘
|l\ai|ﬂ])|" i|| ﬁll(]}]!‘i, 50 oo llU
enterprises have less reason to carry
high levels of inventory. In the former
Soviel republics, partial reform and
continuing inflationary expectations
meant that this destocking and
consequent falls in demand did

not oceur,

The collapse of trade deprived the
former Soviet Union of essential
imports and spare parts, thus

contributing 1o a fall in output similar

BG €& H PL R YU USSR

mn m;u_(uilu(h' to that of the central
Furopean states which had
llll(!l"l'l{ll\'.(‘ll maore |‘.‘H“l'é|| ll“(I
H)HI('l]l:lli(‘ relorm. '|'|'It-'_\‘. in turn,
sulfered from the loss of markets for
zoods nol, in many cases, readily
saleable elsewhere. Furthermore, hard
curreney expenditure by the former
Soviet Union was I)l't'-l"lll'llt‘ll |1_\ the

need Lo serviee ils debl.

]|| I!w i'nming vears, substantial
external finance will be required lor
economic growth in the region,
although the bulk of capital formation
will be financed by domestie savings
which then contribute more 1o GNP,
Investment has been ]‘('Iilli\‘l-']}
restlient in the lace of recession which

also (lt'|)r‘l".‘i.‘~‘(‘H savings. A major task

¢ [inancial sector is o

ol the domes
mobilize and allocate savings
efficiently. All the countries of the
region face difficulties in borrowing
[rom world (';i[)il;l| markets where real
interest rales are high and tightened
|lu||ki11g standards eall for |n‘uvi.~‘-}nm
against many borrowers, even
Hungary which, despite the size of its

debt, has always met its obligations.

Although loreign enterprises have
mlguliulwd a number of irrlpul'lillli
;u'(|||ihilim|h‘ u||(| _Iniul venlures, the
flow of finance for foreign direc
investment, with the |m,~‘.-ai])]r\

exceplion ol Hungary, has vet to reach

1990

1991 estimate
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Chart 3 Consumer prices, percentage change from previous year

n;_'.nif‘i(-unl [n'npu:r'liull:-‘. U||_i|'k'li\'t'
estimates of capital needs are
conceptually extremely difficult. A
number of studies have attempted 1o
estimate the value of the capital stock
ol the |'('frr_iu|| in terms of the value of
its oulpul al world ]n'iw'h andl
asstmplions aboul t';lpilnl oulpul
rutios. These produee very much
lower figures for the capital of the
region than does inflation adjustment

of cumulated investment ligures.

Prospects for prices and output
Inﬂuliml u('t':'lt-‘l‘nlﬂi in the Soviet
Union as its republics increasingly
asserted their autonomy and the
consolidated fiscal deficit rose
towards 20 per cent of GDP.
Stabilization of prices has been
['!*lﬂl;\'i'l‘\ ."‘!l,]("'('.‘"\!"\rlll ;I'I ('{'Hll'“l !ll“l
easlemn l*:uru;u' (see chart 3) 1lllll:g|l
only in the Czech and Slovak Federal
Republic, with an official forecast for
1992 of inflation between 10-15 per
cent, does the achievement of price

stability seem to be within reach.

An imporlant development, with
illl[}l‘l(‘ufi(lll:—i for the evolution of
z)l'i('t‘h'. has been the miupliml IJ_\
several countries of predelermined
crawling adjustments 1o exchange
rates fixed, increasingly, in terms of

published composile currency
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hask

merease the (-rwlii)ilil_\ ol an

This is a significant step to

inl|m|‘|‘.ml anchor lo the domestic
|u'i{'¢‘ level, The alternative of discrete
exchange rate adjusiments al
uncertain intervals creates a lension

t

between the high nominal inter
rales on domestic currency
appropriate o stabilization and the
]]]ll('ll ||)\"“'I' I.‘l“"‘! on lIN' |'(‘|.“r('||('|'l
CUTTENCY 1N |('rl|li||i||g the ('1‘1-'(|i|ni|i't_\
ol assurances thal the exchange rate is
nol ;min,\_( Lo L'|l;ln,Lfl-. A consistent
partial accommodation of differential
cosl movements, designed to constrain
domestic inflation al the expense of an
inili;[”} cumulating loss of
compeliliveness, is liable to make the
ultimate restoration of
compeliliveness depend on domestic
inflation eventually falling below that

of the reference currency - which is

unlikely 1o be seen as very eredible.
Fl‘lu" movemenl l(}\\‘{ll'fl."‘! !"\1']).‘\“‘““"
currencies [or the former Saviet
republies is likely to gather pace as
does inflation. In the process, the
value of the rouble, the rate for which
had reached nearly 150 roubles to the
US dollar by the end of 1991, is liable
l(l ]'f’ \.\"1"{_["{1"”"'(] rl”'ll!('l', Il““"'\'!'l', Ill('
markel value of a curreney using
.ElllllliIi'E.‘-‘\l(‘l‘l‘(I rales Tor most
international dealings is not a reliable
auide 1o the value it would have if il

were made freely convertible. In the



presence of a monetary overhang, the
free market price of an otherwise
inconvertible currency understates its
value, if convertible, to a similar
extent that the official price overstates
it; in an otherwise rigid economy, the
free market exchange rate, as the only
instantaneously flexible price, is
extremely sensitive to disequilibria

anywhere in the system.

It seems likely that the countries of
the region will reach turning points in
their economic activity in a similar
sequence to that of their progress in
reform; those that were first to initiate
reforms being the first to resume
positive growth. In Albania, acute
political uncertainties must be
resolved as a precondition for
economic growth while, in Yugoslavia,
a settlement of the civil war and of
economic relations between the states
is a necessary precursor of
reconstruction and widespread
recovery. Likewise, were there to be a
disruption of trade between the
successor republics of the USSR,
output there, which has already fallen
nearly 20 per cent from its peak,
would fall considerably further, as the
interdependence of the states is

exceptionally high.

Review of the region of operations

Trade

External trade of central and eastern
European countries, including the
former Soviet Union, fell sharply in
1990 and 1991. Measured in volume,
total exports of the region declined by
about 10 per cent in 1990 and by
about 25 per cent in 1991 (Table 1).

Imports fell by five per cent in 1990
and were estimated to have contracted
by more than 20 per cent in 1991. In
particular, the trade balance of non-
Soviet ex-CMEA members shifted
from an overall trade surplus in 1990
to an overall trade deficit in 1991.
The dramatic contraction in trade in
ceniral and eastern European
countries is widely attributed to
domestic recessions and to the

collapse of the Comecon system.

The domestic recessions were partly
brought about by the macro-
stabilization policies implemented in
most of the countries, which led to a
substantial reduction in aggregate

demand for imported goods.

Trade collapse in the region also
contributed to domestic recessions, in
particular through the following three

channels of transmission:

= a supply shock component,
namely the realignment of (Soviet)
energy and raw material prices to
world market levels, which induced
a severe deterioration (15 to 20 per
cent} of the terms of trade of central
and eastern European countries, vis
a vis the former Soviet Union,

* a demand shock component,
namely the loss of Soviet markets by
the other central and eastern
European countries. This loss is
mainly attributed to the switch from
transferable roubles to hard
currency trade within the ex-CMEA
zone, combined with a dramatic
shortage of hard currency in the
various countries, especially the
former Soviet Union, where hard
currency was badly needed to
service its external debt,

= the limited degree of
technological substitution to
accommodate the loss of essential

imported inputs.

The extent to which the collapse of
CMEA accounts for the observed
contractions in GDP throughout the
region depends on each country’s
involvement in former CMEA trade.
The deep recession in Bulgaria, in
particular, was more attributable to
the loss of Soviet markets than that
experienced by Hungary or Romania,

(Table 2).
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Trade among ceniral and eastern
European countries shrank by 20 per
cent in 1990 and by 20-25 per cent
during the first half of 1991. Trade
between these countries and the
European Community, however, has
increased by 13 per cent since 1989.
Table 3 and related charts detail the
westward reorientation of central and

eastern European trade since 1989.

Exports from central and eastern
Europe are concentrated in four main
areas: agriculture, iron and steel,
textiles and chemicals. All these are
considered sensitive by OECD
countries (including the European
Community) and are subject to special
rules, tariffs and non-tariff barriers.
These last have been estimated to be
equivalent to additional tariffs of
about 100 per cent on agricultural
goods and food, 25 per cent on textiles
and apparel, and 10-20 per cent

on chemicals imported into

OECD markets.

The trade collapse in the region is
essentially that between the former
Soviet Union and its ex-CMEA
partners: Soviet imports from central
and eastern Europe (in value) fell
by 15 per cent in 1990 and by

45 per cent in 1991. (Soviet exports

to central and eastern Europe fell in



*CEE - from central and eastern Europe
USSR - from Soviet Union
DE - from developed economles

""CEE - to central and eastern Europe
USSR - to Soviet Unlon
DE - to developed economices

Source: ‘Economic Bulletin for Europe’,
volume 43, Economic Commission for Europa

1989 1990 1991

1989

1990

1991

CEE USSR DE CEE USSR DE

CEE USSR DE

Percentage growth of imports to central and eastern Europe

(excluding the former Soviet Union)”

Country or Group
Indicator 1986

Central and eastern Europe

Exports 1.2
Imports 4.8
Former Soviet Union

Exports 10.0
Imperts -8.0

Tabla 1 Central and eastern Europe and the former Soviet Union: Percentage change in imports and exports, 1986-1981

1987

1988

4.8
4,0

CEE USSR DE

CEE USSR DE CEE USSR DE

Percentage growth of exports from central and eastern Europe

({excluding the former Sovlet Unlon)™*

1989

-1.9
1.2

2.3

Sourge: 'Econamic Bulletin for Europe’ voluma 43, Economic Commisslon for Europe

“nil or negligible **not avallable or not pertinent

Share of the former Soviet market in

each country’s total exports In 1980

Bulgaria
CSFR
Hungary
Poland
Romanla
Yugoslavia

Table 2 Central and eastern Europe: Percentage change In trade with the former Soviet Union and demestic production

64.4
25.2
20.2
15.4
25.2
17.8*

Jan-Sept
1990

-11.1

-3.6

6.3
0.6

Full Year
1880

7.9

-8.6

-13.1
A4

Changa in exports to the former
USSR, January-June 1891

-58.0
-47.0
-55.0
67.0
28.0
-48,0""

Jan-Mar  Jan-June  Jan-Sept

1991 1981 1991
-10.7 -5.7 L

0.4 2.9 =
-15.3 23.4 -30.3
-44.7 -47.7 -48,2

Change In industrial production,
January-Juna 1991

29,1
-14.3
-14.6
9.3
-16.6
-20.0°°

Source: 'Economic Bulletin for Europe’ volume 43, Economic Commission for Europe; *Natlonal authorities; **National authorities, figures for all of 1991

Country or Country Group

Central and eastern Europe, to or from
Waorld

Socialist countries

Central and eastern Europe
Developed market economles
Developing countries

Formar Soviet Unlon, to or from
Waorld

Socialist countries

Cantral and eastern Europe
Developed market economies
Developing countries

Value
1980

G4.8
26.8
8.5
319
8.2

58.1
15.3
11.1
20.2
14,5

1989

-3.2
8.6
-84
8.5
125

0.4
-8.7
-11.1
7.8
2.0

1890

33
-14.4
-18.6

116
14,3

5.2
-24.3
-26.9

12.3

8.5

Exports

Growth rates

1901

-11.0
-32.5
-25.6

9.2
-24.6

17.7
26.3
-31.6

-7.0
-31.7

Value
1990

65.1
24.0
8.5
34.6
6.5

65.0
19.1
15.0
34.4
11.5

Imports

Growth rates

1989 1990 1991
2.2 29 114
9.4 -16.9 -4.5
-8.9 -18.2 -34.5
4.8 24.2 27.5
5.5 = -3.2
12,0 - -41.4
4.5 10.6 -38.5
-5.7 -12.1 41,2
21.1 5.8 -41.1
26.0 3.8 -51.4

Table 3 Exports and Imports: Central and eastern Europe and the former Soviet Union: Foreign trade, by direction, 1989-1991

(Value in billion US dollars, growth rates in percentage)

Source: 'Economic Bulletin for Europe’ volume 43, Economic Commission for Europe

= denotes not avallable

See also the charts above end on the following page
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*W - from world

CEE - from central and eastern Europe

DE - from devaloped economias

"W - to world

CEE - to central and eastern Europe
DE - to developed economies

Souree: ‘Economie Bulletin for Europe’,
volume 43, Economic Commission for Europe

Russian Federation
Ukralne
Belarus

Estonla
Latvia
Lithuania
Maldova

Georgia
Armenia
Azarbaljan

Kazakhstan
Turkmenistan
Uzbekistan
Tajikistan
Kyrgyzstan

% of NMP

18.0
39.1
69.6

66.5
64.1
80,9
621

53.7
63.7
58.7

230.9
50.7
43.2
41.8
50.2

Table 4 Trade Dependence among

former Soviet Republics; Inter-republican

Exports 1988, (As per cent of NMP)

Source; Osnovnye Pokazatell (1980),
page 4, 34-39, 43, 44;

Narkhoz 1982 (1990), page 634

1989 1990

W CEE DE W CEE DE

Percentage growth of imports to the former Soviet Unlon®

volume but not in value, due to the
realignment of Soviel energy prices lo
world levels), The contraction of trade
Nows between the (:HFH-HUH;,{;H‘_\-
Poland remained limited (10 per cent
in 1990 and less than 20 per cent in
1991) and the reduction in trade
between Bulgaria and Romania since
1989 was negligible. Trade between
the CSFR-Hungary-Poland and
Bll|,|,.u||'i:i-nm||uni:|. however,
l'()llll'{l('l(“(l |)_\ more than 66 per cenl

since 1989,

The current [ramework for trade
between central and eastern European
countries involves a set of bilateral
treaties. These treaties provide for
some l\.ill(l ”i‘ {l(llllirliHll'I'("l ll'u(l(' ll\
means of pre-specified ‘indicative
lists™. In jll".ll'lil'l‘-'. however, trade
between enterprises in central and
eastern European countries has heen
mediated through direct (bilateral)
barter deals intended to by-pass the
]H”l(I ('"I'I't?l“'_\ "()I]hll':!illlH on
enlerprises imposed by governmenls
(in [Jill'li('lllul‘ the [Il‘!?\’i(lll.ﬁ Soviel
adminigiration). The present
institutional structure for trade suffers
from a “lack of export credit facilities
and export insurance schemes,
inefficiency of customs services, lack

of financial and technical

1991 1989

W CEE DE W CEE DE

infrastructure (and) the lack of
enterprize level marketing and
managerial skills needed to operate in
a competilive market environment”™

(ECE Bulletin, November 1991),

To I‘rlm-'(]_\ the t'u“:lp.ﬂt' of ||'.'1(|('
between central and eastern |‘l|||'n|mn:1
countries, their governments
altempled to creale openings such as
bilateral elearing arrangements,
agreemenls on using national
('I]I'I'(?II('it'H i]] ||':!(l(' ll]l'llllgll Hl)('(‘ii_]l
bank accounts (e.g. between CSFR
and the former Soviel Uninn) and
official barter deals (e.g. helween
Bulgaria and the former Soviet Union
since June 1991), Such bilateral
barter arrangements are {ar from
ideal. They have not succeeded in
;ll‘t‘\'l'lllillg the ('u“u[n—it-‘ of ||'{|(|t‘
|n‘l\\'t-'r'n caslern ]‘:umlw ;|||(| fnrm('r

Soviel republies and they are unlikely

lo prevent a more dramatic l'u“u;wf ol

trade hetween the former Soviel
republics themselves. Such a collapze
would be all the more disruplive

for the production activities of the
former republies as they had become
highly specialized, under the
previous system, in the production

of complementary goods. The high
degree of trade dependence

of the republics is illustrated in

Table 4.
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1990 1991

W CEE DE

Percentage growth of exports from the former Soviet Unlon®*

There 1y he scope for |||;||ii||g
multilateral, the bilateral elearing
arrangements that are likely to
emerge. While such arrangements
have been eriticized as preserving an
obsolete pattern of trade, the
alternative, in the short run, could be
a severe diminution of trade on an
t‘\ll't"llll‘!_\ inefficient li.‘l['lt-‘l' |1(|His—‘., Tlu-'
ultimale ul)jw'li\(' must bhe t|u' f||||
convertibility of all the currencies of
the region and the complete
integration of their economies into the

world trade system.



Financial sector

Current situation and recent
developments

The development of an efficient
market-based financial sector is one
of the Bank’s highest priorities. The
desired transformation from a
centrally managed economic system to
a market economy based on
autonomous investment and credit
decisions depends on the
establishment of banks and other
financial institutions with the
incentives and skills required to play
an effective role in mobilizing
financial resources and allocating
those resources to competing

investment demands.

Commercial banks established in the
Bank’s countries of operations
typically fall within two main
categories: (i) commercial banks
which were created out of the former
‘monobank’ system, remain state-
owned, have strong operational ties
with large public enterprises and
carry significant proportions of non-
performing loans in their portfolio; (ii)
newly established domestic and joint-
venture banks which concentrate on
the provision of basic banking

services and relatively secure, short-

Review of the region of operations

term lending to a client base
dominated by large, often foreign or

joint-venture, corporate clients.

With regard to state-owned banks, two
patterns have emerged depending on
the manner in which the former
‘monobank’ system was dissolved.
One model broadly applies to
couniries in which commercial
operations of the former National
Bank were transferred into a single
new state-owned commercial bank
with a nationwide network of
branches. Another model is
characterized by the division of the
commercial activities of the former
National Bank into smaller regional
banks each with an effective
monopoly in their respective
geographical area. This model applies
to the CSFR, Poland and Bulgaria
where the former National Bank was
split into two, nine and over fifty
regional banks, respectively. In either
case, competition has been slow to
emerge either in collecting deposits,
making loans, or providing basic
banking services. In Hungary,
because the process of transformation
began as early as 1987, there is
greater competition and diversity
among the state-owned banks as well
as competitive pressure from new

private banks.

Former ‘specialized’ banks which
served clients in specific sectors, such
as agriculture, industry or foreign
trade, have also been transformed into
joint-stock companies and are
attempting to evolve into full-service
commercial banks. However, they
often lack the branch networks to
compete effectively. All commercial
banks have little experience
collecting deposits as this activity
continues to be dominated by the
National Savings Bank. In some
countries such as Romania, Hungary,
the CSFR and Poland, the National
Savings Bank is expanding its loan
portfolio to compete with the other
banks as a full-service bank.
Cooperative banks, which exist in
most of the Bank’s countries of
operations, have the potential to serve
individual, well-defined groups of
savers and investors to meet local
requirements, provided their banking

skills are rapidly improved.

There is considerable pressure and
incentive for all these banks to
continue lending to enterprises in
default because of historical and
institutional connections, concerns
regarding further falls in output and
employment, and pressure not to
recognize non-performing assets on
the portfolio. Moreover, many state
enterprises and state-owned banks

have patterns of co-ownership which
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would lead to conflict of interest
problems in a truly competitive

environment.

New domestic private and joint-
venture banks have demonstrated an
early capacity to be profitable through
the provision of basic banking
services. Some have also had success
in attracting deposits. Since most new
banks choose a cautious business
strategy which focuses on basic trade
and working capital finance (i.e.
short-term), they are beginning to
draw high quality business away from
the state-owned banks. Policy
decisions regarding the future of state
banks, therefore, become all the more
urgent, as the ‘flight to quality’ creates
further portfolio problems. Moreover,
higher pay scales in the private sector
can cause the “flight of managers’
away from the larger, state-owned
institutions to smaller private banks.
Private banks, where they exist,
represent less than 10 per cent of total
assets in the most advanced financial
sectors (e.g. Hungary). However, the
greater profitability of these banks
implies that the private sector will
gradually increase its market share
through the expansion of existing
private Banks’ business and the entry

of new banks into the market.



The Bank has approved the establishment of
a Regional Training Framework which will provide
training In the financial sector

Countries vary substantially in the
degree to which market mechanisms
are beginning 1o be observed in the
allocation of credit. Interest rates in
the more developed countries are
positive in real terms despite high
rates of inflation, while other
counlries conlinue (o have
administered interest rate structures
which have not adjusted fully 1o the
inflationary environment. In mosl
countries, deposit mobilization is
dominated by the Savings Bank which
channels these resources through
various inter-hank lending
mechanisms, These have a retarding
effect on the establishment of market-
based rates of interest normally
generated through the competition for
resources among [inancial
institutions. Credit ceilings are relied
upon in most countries for the control
of monetary aggregates although all
countries have taken steps or intend
to move towards open-markel

operations,

Issues in the reform of the sector
Despite the transformation of the
‘monobank’ in each of the Bank’s
countries of operations into several
publicly owned joint-stock companies,
there can as yet be little confidence in
the capabilities of these banks to
make sound credit decisions or
provide the services necessary for a

market economy. Their former role

was to execule financial allocations
according to the central plan with the
result that skills associated with
banking are underdeveloped.
Therefore, the appointment of
compelent managers, exlensive
programmes of training for bank staff,
as well as a restructuring of bank
halance sheets burdened by bad
debts, are of the utmost importance
both for the eountries of operations

and for the Bank.

The non-performing loans of large
public sector banks require an urgent
solution which must be integraled
with general restructuring of the
economy. Many banks have portfolios
which, il classified on the basis of
slricl accounting eriteria, would mean
they were technically insolvent, Many
loans which are currently classified as
performing are likely 1o go into defaull
when borrowers are restructured,
privatized, closed-down or begin to
[ace a more competilive environment.
Given the incentives to continue
rolling over short-term credits to
enterprises technically in default, it is
possible that in many countries the
portfolios of banks are getting
progressively worse. A solution to the
loan portfolio problems is an urgent
priority in order to allow new loans,
particularly to private sector

borrowers, to reduce lending spreads

over costs of funds and to facilitate
the privatization of the banks on a

('L!Hf'-i IYV=CHse l’“-‘ii-‘i-

An issue of mounting importance,
especially as the number of smaller
private banks increases, is the
establishment of an effective legal and
regulatory environment, While
countries vary in the pace and
sequence of enactment of key
legislation (such as banking laws,
securities laws, aceounting laws and
land and private ownership laws etc),
new laws and regulations have been
adopted with commendable speed in
most of the Bank’s countries of
operations, It remains now for the
institutions responsible to implement
them effectively, which requires
significant strengthening and training
of their staff. Regulatory authorities,
especially banking regulators, require
increased numbers of frained stalf 1o
ensure a prudent and healthy
expansion of the private financial
sector and also to avoid the threat of

systemie collapse or sel-backs

through financial impruder

malfeasance.

Bank invelvement

The Bank’s approach to financial
sector development comhines an
emphasis on the promotion of the
financial sector, mainly through the

establishment of private
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intermediaries, with assistance 1o
|)l|l)lit' seclor inslitlutions which are
responsible for the supervision and
l‘ﬁgll'ﬂ[i(m of their activities, A top
priority is the identification of the
financial intermediaries in each
markel which meet or approach
acceptable standards of eredit
assessment, moniloring and control.
The Bank will work actively, but
ﬂt‘h‘('li\*rl_\. with financial
intermediaries paying particular
atlention lo managemenl experlise
and stafl quality. The Bank’s
operations in the financial sector will
he directed toward identifyving
appropriale intermediaries which can
best meet the needs of small and
medium-sized c'lll("l‘l'n[‘i.tu-‘ﬁ in the
private sector while ensuring healthy

financial sector development.

The expansion of private ownership of
[inancial intermediaries ean be
achieved in three ways: (i) the higher
growth of existing privately owned
banks through better client services
and superior performance relative lo
existing public sector banks; (ii) the
establishment of new banks in the
private sector: and (iii) the
privatization of existing public sector
institutions. The Bank will explore all
three options. Regarding potential

investment in new, or existing hanks.



the Bank will secure the involvement
of strategic partners in the private
sector to provide the management
expertise that is essential for
profitable operation. The criteria for
direct Bank support to financial
institutions, whether equity
investments or loans, are that lending
decisions are based on strong credit
assessment capabilities, that the
management and staff are of proven
quality, that financial and operational
performance meet acceptable
standards and that the institution has

a credible business plan.

Other financial institutions such as
insurance companies, pension funds,
venture capital companies, leasing
companies, housing finance
Institutions and savings banks, which
are required to provide a broad range
of financial services needed in a
modern economy, will also be assisted
on a case-by-case basis. Because of
the uncertain status in some countries
of title to land and other property,
there may be particular potential in
the area of leasing, provided tax and
accounting rules can be established to
allow the successful operation of
leasing companies. Insurance and
pension fund activity will need to be
considered jointly with existing social

security programmes.

Review of the region of operations

The development of primary and
secondary markets for securities has
important linkages with the financing
of government deficits, indirect
mechanisms of monetary control and
privatization strategies, which offer
citizens tradable securities in
privatized companies. Stock markets
are also an important indicator of a
listed company’s value in an
environment where valuation of assets
is problematic. The Bank is exploring
ways and means of supporting
securities market development
ranging from technical assistance to
direct participation in the markets to
facilitate local currency operations

by the Bank.

In December, the Bank approved the
establishment of a Regional Training
Framework, to be administered by the
Bank and executed in cooperation
with the Japan Centre for
International Finance (JCIF). Two
projects in the Soviet Union in the
areas of Government Securities and
Commercial Banking were approved.
Various other projects have been
developed and are under
consideration for implementation

in 1992.

Privatization

The emergence of large private
sectors in the countries of operations

is fundamental to successful

transformation into market economies.

Growth of the private sector will
depend on the expansion of new
private {irms, as well as on the
privatization of existing assets. Based
on the limited experience io date,
there is reason to believe that the key
to private sector development is the
expansion of new enterprise, based on
individual entrepreneurial initiative.
But as this growth process will take
time, privatization is a necessary
means to boost the growth of the

private sector.

This transfer from the state sector to
the private sector not only increases
the size of the private sector but is
often the only way to salvage state
enterprises. Privatization of state
enterprises is essential both for the
improvement of enterprise efficiency
and for decoupling business and
political decision-making. At present,
enterprises operate without well-
defined owners, as the state does not

exercise 1ts property rights.
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Accordingly, management has neither
consistent objectives nor appropriate
supervision which might emerge
through profit-motivated owners
asserting their property rights.
Without appropriate incentives,
enterprises ignore the interests of
their customers and the economy no
longer adjusts what it produces as
people’s demands change. Without
appropriate incentives managers and
workers ignore the interests of their
enterprises, and eventually the whole
economy becomes dysfunctional.
Also, state-sector managers are less
able - and less inclined - to resist
worker pressure for wage increases,
particularly as wage decisions are not
the result of a decentralized
bargaining process. In turn this can
lead to inflationary tendencies as

governments face political pressures.

Despite these arguments, a proportion
of state enterprises will, and should
be, retained by the state. However,
some degree of commercialization
should be introduced to make
retained state enterprises more
responsive to market signals, such
as the prices of inputs. Such
commercialization can also act as
an intermediate step for enterprises
to be privatized in the medium

and long-term.



To give an idea of the magnitude of
the task in the countries of operations,
it should be noted that in no country
of the region does the public sector
account for less than 60 per cent of
value added, while in no OECD
country does it account for more than
20 per cent. Typically, at least 40 per
cent of activity will have to be
transferred to reach OECD levels.
Another striking measure is the sheer
number of state-owned enterprises: for
example, over 8,000 medium to large
enterprises in Poland and some 700
owned just by the Moscow
municipality. Nowhere in the world
does an equivalent situation exist, and
although we can draw on the previous
experience of other countries,

the techniques used here should be

entirely new.

Current situation and recent
developments

Most countries of operations have
established, or are in the process of
establishing, a legislative and
administrative framework for
privatization. Privatization tends to
be treated differently for small

and large enterprises.

For the privatization of small units,
public auctions have been highly
successful. For example, in the CSFR,

over 15,000 small units were
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auctioned in 1991. In Poland,
approximately 60,000 small units
were leased or sold to the privaie
sector in 1990 and 1991, and 70 per
cent of retail trade is now in the
private sector. In Hungary, a similar
auction process is under way. Bulgaria
is making some progress in
privatization of small units in trade,
services and tourism. In Romania, the
process for divesting small assets of
commercial companies, such as small
shops and restaurants, has been
started under the supervision of the
National Agency of Privatization. In
Russia, laws have been proposed for
the auction of most small assets, and
some auctions have taken place in

St Petersburg. In Moscow, the local
authorities favour direct sales to
minimize the displacement of the
existing workforce: the situation with
respect to the Russian authorities still
requires clarification. Other nations
and republics including Latvia,
Armenia and Kazakhstan, are making

progress in selling small assets.

Privatization of agriculture has
encountered substantial obstacles,
except in Poland, where agriculture
had remained predominantly private
under the communist regime.

Similarly, privatization of housing

proceeds slowly because of political
implications of the increase in the
cost of rental housing necessary to

induce private purchase.

Nevertheless, privatizing the housing
sector will be key to achieving labour
market mobility, thereby helping to

overcome transitional unemployment.

The privatization of large, state-owned
companies s proceeding more slowly
than initially expected. Hungary has
chosen traditional methods for
privatization, typically via trade sales
supervised by the State Property
Agency, and initiated at the enterprise
level. The CSFR is using a muli-
track approach, based on enterprise
developed privatization projects and
involving possible equity distribution
to citizens via a voucher scheme.
Poland is also pursuing a multi-track
approach, which includes trade sales,
public offerings and the setting up of
privatization funds managed by
professional fund managers, involving
the distribution of ownership to
citizens via vouchers. Romania has
developed a similar programme, but
with a smaller number of funds and
greater reliance on state-administered
trade sales. Russia is developing a
bold programme of privatization, the

details of which are still under
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discussion. Amongst the other CIS
republics, the Ukraine and
Kazakhstan are considering vouchers,
Armenia has privatized three quarters
of its land and most of the other
republics are initiating privatization of
some kind. The Baltic states are
trying different approaches: Estonia
has launched a pragmatic programme
of management buyouts and trade
sales, Lithuania has an ambitious
coupon programme and Latvia is still
finalizing its approach for larger scale

enterprises.

Privatization of large companies has
proceeded slowly, inter alia, because
of: ill-defined property rights
(including restitution); administrative
bottlenecks (including uncertainty
over areas of competence); high
restructuring costs involving
enterprise balance sheets, labour
reorganization and operational
restructuring; the low level of
domestic savings; and a scarcity of
management resources. There are also
important issues raised by
demonopolization, vertical de-

integration and restructuring.

Some valuable lessons can be drawn

from experience so far.



[t is important to deal with
privatization within the broader
context of the enterprise sector as a
whole, Most medium to large
(-'lﬂ(ﬂ'lu‘iﬁ(gs in the countries of
operations need restructuring, and
privatization should be regarded as
the main avenue for this. But. of
course. nol all enterprises will or
should be privatized, even in the long-
term. Western European economies
have matured over long periods and
are still evolving through careful
mixes of state and private ownership,
Therefore the decision to restructure
firsl, or privatize first, can only be

e basis,

decided on a case-by-

Similarly. on the question of
demonopolization, while this might be
necessary before some privatizations,
some ex-monopolists are inereasingly
exposed to international competition
and domestic competition from
greenfield competitors, [t would
sometimes even be unwise o break up
a natural monopoly il this would entail
i (_‘(_}111[_1](43( reconstruction and where
the polential abuse of monopoly power

can he appropriately regulated.

The employment impact of
privatization and its attendant

restructuring is being factored in more

and more Lo the privatizalion
equation. While an understandable
concern, the maintenance of
employment is often in conflict with
the overall objectives of the

privul izalion process, The
Treuhandanstalt has demonstrated
that in demanding job guarantees it is
willing to provide a trade-off in terms
of reduced value. The recognition of
this trade-off will be important for
successful privatization throughout

the countries ol operations.

Generally, government policy
statements and announcements tend
1o contain conflicting objectives.
Experience lo date dictates that one
objective is overriding: helping the
enterprises lo compele and survive.
This is the main reason why
privatization must lake place speedily.
Il & earing owner does not take
conlrol, numerous enterprises, even
potentially viable ones, will not be
able to face the rigorous market
environment, The extensive
liquidations this would entail would
lead not ()1'1|_\' Lo \\'i(ll‘:H]M‘("il{l social
displacement, but also to enormous
losses of capital. Therefore, massive
and urgent technical assistance is
necessary o carry oul the
privatization as rapidly as possible,
and finance is required to keep the

Pnterpriﬁnh' alive in the interim.

Privatizing the housing sector will be key to
achieving labour markat mobllity

In such an environment there is not
much time to develop grand schemes,
Excessive emphasis on building up an
administrative machinery and
specifving detailed rules 1o govern the
I‘Jt'ivalizuli(u] programmes has led to
long and difficult decision-making
and legislative processes for each
major transaction. Meanwhile the
enterprises themselves are entering a

crisis slage.

Often potential buyers are put off by

the complexity and uncertainty of the

process. Many of the privatization
nugulimi(_lns lxgk]llg l)].l.l('t* have
collapsed because of bureaucratic
difficulties. These are not just
administrative problems: they are
caused by the long round of
concessions and requests required by
all the various interested
constituencies. The end resull is often
not merely that the investor decides to
sel up a brand new venlure, wasting
the potential savings of using an
existing enterprise and improving il.
The experience can lead the polential

buyer not to invest in the region at all.

Efficient decentralized approaches
must be adopted. The main
approaches would be: to permit large

privatizations to be initiated and
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processed by enterprises themselves
u|](| ]}:. prnﬁ])m:liwg inveslors, with
control by the state limited to matters
of valuation and transparency, and to
use a larger number of diversified
intermediaries in addition to a
centralized state agency and its
branches. such as state holding
companies, restructuring and

privatizations funds.

If privatization is to be initiated, and
mostly carried oul. in the field by

investors and enterprises, then it will

be necessary to share experiences of,
and techniques used in, actual
p:‘ivulizuti(_mﬁ as well as experience of
unsuceessful attempts and schemes,
Shared experience about the
management/employee buyouts and
related financing techniques used by
the Treuhandanstalt in Germany
would, with proper tailoring, be
reproducible on a larger scale in the
countries of operations. Early
experience of different methods of
selling small assets should be
analysed and the most successful
elements replicated. A body of
knowledge exists on the various
financing schemes required to
compensate for the lack of domestic

resources. In these areas and others,



the Bank will make an effort to
disseminate information
systematically. A project to launch a
privatization information base is being

developed for the purpose.

Bank involvement

The nature of the Bank’s involvement
depends on how far the country
concerned lies along the path of
privatization. In countries where the
process is under way and proceeding
reasonably successfully, the Bank is
involved as a financier and core owner
of newly privatized companies. In
countries just beginning to create a
framework, the Bank is acting as an
adviser to the government on the
design and implementation of its
privatization plan, basing its advice
on practical transaction work in the
country itself and applicable

experience from the other countries.

In countries with a functioning
privatization framework, no matter
how imperfect, the Bank is assisting
the emergence of private enterprises
and supporting their growth through
lending and investment. The approach
is to stress privatization methods that
encourage clear control and corporate
ownership. The most viable
companies or sectors can be

privatized quickly through trade sales
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to committed industrial partners.
Some state enterprises will be fully
privatized, but many enterprises are
also expected to be privatized through
the entry of a new investor who will
dilute state ownership, thereby
recapitalizing the enterprise and
facilitating urgently needed
investments to modernize the

enterprise and change its product mix.

The Bank acts as a catalyst to
privatization by helping viable
enterprises attract such investment.
Seven of the 14 transactions approved
by the Board in 1991 have involved
the privatization of either an ongoing
business or some of its assets. As the
recent examples of Bank involvement
in individual Czech privatization
transactions show, the Bank can act as
a facilitator of a privatization by
taking a carefully measured core
ownership stake, with the remainder
taken by a committed trade investor

and local institutions.

The Bank also assists governments or
relevant agencies in organizing and
implementing entire privatization
programmes, focusing in particular on
their initial phases. Generally
however, in providing such advice and
technical assistance, the Bank has a
transaction-oriented approach. The

intention of the Bank is to rely as far

as possible on external advice from
investment banks and specialized
firms, financing such services, where
possible, out of its Technical
Cooperation Funds Programme. So far
some 50 experts have been involved
in the six largest assistance

programmes actively taking place.

In Hungary, for example, the Bank is
helping to assess the viability and
define the business plan of a
‘turnaround company’, which will buy
potentially viable businesses from the
state which are in need of
restructuring and investment in order
to become attractive to buyers.
Support has been provided as well to
the privatization programmes of

Bulgaria, Macedonia and Romania.

The Bank was involved in initial
discussions on the mass privatization
scheme in Poland. Like all such
schemes it has had a long and
complicated nurturing period, but now
appears to be well conceived and

worthy of support.

In the City of Moscow, the Bank is
assisting in the formulation and
implementation of a privatization

programme for roughly 16,000 small
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businesses and 700 medium to large
enterprises, controlled by the city.
The experience gained from the
immediate processing of three ‘pilot
transactions’, including a consumer
plastics manufacturer, a stone-
processing factory and a gelatin
manufacturer, is now being applied to
designing an overall scheme that can
deal with the large numbers of
enterprises involved in a realistic and
workable way. At the request of the
Mayor of St Petersburg, the Bank has
taken a similar approach aimed at
developing a privatization programme
for the city’s medium to large
enterprises. As in Moscow, three pilot
transactions are under way including
a consumer products manufacturer, a
confectionery manufacturer and a

chain of department stores.

The Bank and the World Bank Group
are jointly organizing a large scale
privatization advisory project for the
Russian Federation, and the Bank has
already been able to bring the Moscow
and St Petersburg experience to bear
on a better definition of various
elements of the overall Russian
programme. A project management
unit, to be situated within the Russian
State Committee for the Management
of State Property, is currently being

staffed to launch this project.



The Bank will continue to refine its
responses, but at this stage, it finds
the ‘empirical’ approach to be the
most productive, as only the direct
experience of negotiating with a
worker collective, of trying to get a
transaction approved or of offering
investment opportunities to risk-shy
investors, will give an insight as to
what changes in the framework are
most urgent. The Bank will also
recommend what needs to be done
institutionally within the relevant
governments to facilitate
implementation of a large volume of
transactions. It believes that such a
pragmatic approach, based on
experience, is the most realistic way

to proceed.

Foreign direct investment

Current situation and recent
developments

Foreign direct investment plays a
strategic role in central and eastern
Europe and the former Soviet Union
which goes beyond the flow of capital.
The operational commitment on the
part of trade investors also brings a
transfer of technology and managerial
skills, helps introduce new standards
of product quality and operational
efficiency, and can open access to new
markets. Privatization through direct
investment by an industrial partner is
often the most expedient way to
restructure a company and bring it to
a level of operational efficiency which
will enable it to survive in the new

competitive environment.

While much hope is pinned on the
generation of a substantial flow of
direct investment and while the level
of interest among potential industrial
investors is high, the actual flows are
disappointingly low. As of October
1991, it is estimated that the
aggregate foreign direct investment
earmarked for central and eastern
Europe and the former Soviet Union

as recorded in registered joint venture

and investment proposals had reached
approximately US$ 13 billion,
representing over 30,000 investment
projects. The actual dollars disbursed
and number of ventures which are
operational are, however, at best 40
per cent of the recorded figures. This
estimate represents less than five per
cent of the region’s estimated 1990

net external debt.

On an annual basis the estimated
investment flow represents less than a
fraction of a per cent of the region’s
estimated GDP. These figures suggest
that concerns over encouraging 100
much direct investment are premature
and that much still needs to be done
by the host countries to create a more
attractive environment for
investments, starting with a
streamlining of the governmental
approval process and the reform of the
legal and fiscal systems. Foreign
direct investment must reach a more
significant level. However, it should
not reach a level and concern sectors
where foreigners own the choice
assets and the integrity of the local

economies is lost.

EEC and EFTA couniries are by far
the greatest investors, accounting for
figures ranging from 55 per cent to 80
per cent of the foreign capital

committed, depending on the country.
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The United States has participated in
approximately seven per cent of the
projects, and their capital
contribution has been highest in the
former Soviet Union and Hungary,
estimated at approximately 11 per
cent. Canada and Japan have invested
less. Cross-border invesiment from
central and eastern European
countries themselves has accounted
for approximately four per cent of the
projects and as much as 13 per cent of
the capital inflow in the case of the
CSFR and nine per cent in the case of

the former Soviet Union.

The former Soviet Union has received
the largest capital commitment from
foreign investors, earmarked, in large
part, for the natural resource sector.
But only a small proportion of the
amounts committed has so far been
invested. Otherwise, Hungary has
been to date the most successful
country in attracting foreign direct
investment in excess of US $1 billion
in 1991 alone. Increasingly, the CSFR
is attracting investors. Now that the
privatization programme is moving
ahead, the CSFR may this year
surpass Hungary. The level of interest
to date in Poland as well as the other
countries in the region has been

disappointing.



The investment elimate is and will
remain a difficult one: local
economies are in depression, [inancial
and physical infrastrueture is
deficient and the legal. administrative
and fiseal systems are at bes
uncertain, Yel central and eastern
F.ur'upt‘. and the former Soviet Union
offer investors lwo main strategic
advantages: the proximity to weslern
Europe and the perspective of one
integrated market of 700 to 800
million people, and an educated and
[(;‘.{‘]'II'Iil'HII'\‘ prul'i('i(*nl labour loree.
Tl)r: t?xprrl'i(-rm'(r of most weslern
industrialists who have been active in
central and eastern Europe. Russia or
Ukraine shows thal. with appropriate
incentives, the workers perform
efficiently and diligently and that
their level of technical skills is equal
10, or higher than, that in many
weslern l'l)lll'l“‘irf:-h Investors who are
willing, notwithstanding the short-
term risk, to invesi in the long-term
potential of the region should be
encouraged. The role that the Bank
wishes to play in this respect is

Hl.lll.-'\lnnligﬂ_

Bank involvement

Many of the Bank’s first projecis
contribule directly o encouraging
direct investment, In 1991, seven oul

of a total of 11 operations in the
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privale sector involved foreign
industrial partners, all four others
involved foreign investors. The capital
commilted by the Bank was leveraged
[our times by the commitments made
by other foreign investors and lenders.
The Bank’s involvement in these
projects acted as a catalyst without
which the investments either would
not have oceurred or would have been
severely scaled down. By sharing the
ri.-ikﬁ w‘ﬂh ]mlt-‘l‘lliuI inveslors ;-ultl l:_\
providing some shield from the
political uncertainties, the Bank
hopes to multiply the number of
investors and amount of capital

commitied to the region,

A comprehensive view will be taken of the transport
sector across all modes of transport

Transport

Current situation and recent
developments

Recent events in the region resulted
in dramatic changes within the
transport sector. Although there was a
significant decline in all land
transport movements, the mosl severe
recductions aflected the railways,
previously the backbone of the
.-iﬂ('ii,l]iﬁ[ tn‘th)l'L‘.ﬁ. f)ll)rl' impm'!am[
changes relaled 1o the direction of
traffic flows. Since the collapse of
CMEA trading arrangements, there
has been a drastic reduction in traffic
between central and eastern European
countries and the former Soviel
Union, an almost equally dramatic
incrense (though smaller in absolute
terms) in flows between central and
eastern European countries and
western Furope and lesser, but still
substantial. reductions in traffic
]wlwm:n Ilm central u||(| easlern
European countries themselves.
Institutional changes were also
dramatie. Mosi forms of transport
which were centrally organized are
now being privatized or split into
smaller administrative units, The
changes have produced disarray and
confusion, ('(\)l'lll)()l.lll(l(?(l l)) additional
handicaps of an old-fashioned
organization, outdated technology and

inadequate infrastructure.
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Overall aceessibility to transporl
services is generally lower in central
;ul(l easlern lllun in weslern F,[n‘u[w,
and much lower in the former Soviel
Union. Personal mobility is below that
of higher income countries, as the
effects of much lower levels of car
ownership are only partially offset by
more travel by publie transport. In
1991, l|u" Bul]k‘.‘i countries ol
operations generated higher volumes
of rt‘righl per (l()”ill" of mllinniﬂ income
than western European countries.

As a whole they also relied 1o a
greater extent than most other
countries on railways and to a far
lesser extent on roads, for the
movemenl of both i.l‘('ll,'_';lll and

passengers,

Although the environmental impacts
of transport in the Bank’s countries of
operalions are not as serious as in
western Europe, they are potentially
of concern, The I't‘ILI|i\-l‘L\ low levels
ol car ownership imply that the
transport contribution to ])u”ll[ilm is
rather less than in other European
countries. Poorly maintained vehicles,
however, particularly diesel engine
buses, contribule to high levels of
pollution. In addition, the use of lead
;il‘]l]i[i\-’('f-i ‘lll ;:uﬁnlim' is 5(1'” ])I't-‘\mhtn[
|n‘m:li('r in these countries. Inereased
demand for transport services could
lead to a rapid increase in urban

air pollution,



Future prospects

The move to markel economies in
central and eastern European
countries can be expected to have
major repercussions on transport
industries, in particular with some
shill away [rom ]u'uv_\' t'.'tpillﬂ gumiﬁ
industries towards lighter consumer
goods industries, services and loreign
trade. The price of energy will rise
towards international levels,
encouraging energy efficiencies and
further reducing transport demands
[.(Jl' ('(_HI.I l”lll |J('!|l()|('l]tl]. F['h(. "llj“
towards high-value light
||'|uriui£l('1lll‘il1g will increase the
demand for higher quality transport
services in terms of [requency,

dependability and cargo security.

The demand for passenger services
and higllm‘ standards of service is sel
1o c.\p:llltl gt'mll])‘, hoth because

present quantities and qualities are

abnormally low by world standards for

given income levels and because per
capita incomes and expeclations are

|||\|~|\ 1o rise. The demand (or |n‘ivm:-
cars is rxpﬂ'lﬂl 1o expuml

dramatically throughout the region.

The anticipated changes in demand
will, generally, militate against

traditional rail services and favour

higher standard services, including
road and aviation. The decline in bulk
traffic has already hit central and
eastern European railways
IJUI'“(‘I.I]UI'I_\_ hard. The prospects for
rail transport eapluring a significant
share of the growing volumes of
high=value freight are poor as average
haul distances in these countries are
short and the railways, in general,

suffer from obsolete organization.

(‘:(Hnllillt‘ll Lransporl, \V]Ir‘i't-'l)_\ guutlr‘-
are moved across Lransporl modes
under the same documentation, has
heen totally neglected in central and
eastern Europe and it is unlikely 1o
])]H'\ a |ﬂ(g(" l'“l(’ il'l l]]!“ r‘]'lll'(", (I(?HI)“!"
elforts to stimulate ils development.
Central and eastern F:lll‘n|u-'a.u|
countries have developed a gystem
whereby the various forms ol transport
supplement one another instead of
compeling internally and this could
form the basis [or fulure developmen
uf:‘umhim"(! II'HIIHIHH‘[. ['|n\1r|'\m.1‘, i[
will not be viable until road and rail
teallic each independently achieve

salisfactory standards of efficiency.

Supply responses

The transport means in much of
central and eastern F.lu't)pu will
operate in a physical and economic

environmen! increasingly similar to

that of western Europe. Thus,
assuming compelilive policies are
pursued, the outlook for long-term

counlries

lransporl solutions in the
should be similar to I|u11 in the Wesl.
The principal difference is that lower
per capila incomes will depress
demand for higher quality passenger
services, although demand for privale
cars will soar unless constrained by
government intervention, Road
lransporl will assume a much grealer
importance and there will be a
socially painful, but economically
necessary, coniraction of the railways
sector. The exact form of the
restructuring of the rail sector will
(|(:p('m| on how (‘(JIII]J("!iliV(“ the
railways are in the market,

parl i('u|au‘l_\ for passenger services.

In the former Soviet republics,
however, the long haul distances,
heavy traffic volumes and the cost and
service disadvantages of road
I:'mmpurl \\'i“ mean Ilull [lw I'uilwu_\'ﬁ
are llni(]llr'.|_\' |'Nmiliunr(l lo compele
with door-to-door road transport. In
the Baltic states, there is a major
question as o whether existing port
facilities will continue 1o be utilized

by Russia and the other former Soviet

I'C"[)“l)“(! Srﬂ)l i”l ”ll(l (H.'()H()n]it'
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circumstances dictate that they should
be. but political factors may militate
againsl this, In passenger transport,
aviation is likely 1o expand its role
significantly for long haul passengers,
while bus transport will continue to
grow rapidly for short and medium
distances, The natural role for rail
passenger transporl is for medium
distance traffic, roughly in the range
of 200-800 km, and for very high
V(Jll]:ﬂ('. |||k["|n ““(l HIIlH”'IH!“

movemernls.,

Institutional reform

The organization of transport in the
Bank’s countries of operations
I'I"(’“il“'fﬁ a I'IIII'I'I%M;?I' Il!- I]l(li(‘{ll |'|"|’ﬂrl||“i
and sector-specific developments o
('nuh[r' il Lo meel {,{I'(J\\'in;,{ (]mlmlulh‘ [or
[aster movement of both freight and
passengers, and for improved quality

standards.

lurrent iniliatives Lo reduce the role
nl' governmenl in liw former Hi\('i;1]i>il
countries hold Hignifi:-nm |mlrn1i:||
pitfalls as well as benefils. A key
danger is that the essential minimum
role of government may be lost. Care
will he needed to ensure that the
public interest is protected in the

planning and provision of



infrastructure, safety (air traffic
control, road police and traffic
management) and environmental
protection. There are also compelling
arguments for governments to retain at
least a monitoring function, a research
and analytical capability for assessing
major trends in supply and demand,
and a financial and user taxation role.
There are many models from different

countries from which to choose.

Barriers to competition are virtually
non-existent in the road transport
industry, fairly limited in water
transport, still moderate in aviation
but quite formidable in the railways
sector. Virtually all that is required in
the way of institutional reform of road,
water and air transport are policy
measures aimed at decontrol of
market entry and exit,
demonopolization (with a vigorous
anti-trust/pro-competition stance in
the case of water and air transport),
deregulation of tariffs, economically
efficient user taxes, and safety and
environmental regulations and
enforcement. With these measures in
place, road, water and to some extent
air transport modes can be expected
to develop efficiently. Where inter-
modal competition is limited -

primarily in the former Soviet
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republics - particular efforts will be
needed to create competing elements
within the railways sector itself and/or
exercise regulatory restraint on the

monopoly powers of the railways.

For the railways, however, it will be
essential for government to develop a
programme to safeguard the public
interest when introducing institutional
reforms, particularly in the creation of

internal competition in the sector.

Investment needs and strategies

The transport industries demand huge
new investments and, at the same
time, adequate resources for
maintenance. Not all of these needs
can be met at once. Governments will
need to utilize all the instruments at
their disposal to maximize the
productivity of existing assets before

undertaking new investments.

Proper pricing is vital. This will
require the introduction of modern
cost accounting and the careful
structuring of user taxes, including
congestion and pollution charges, so
as to encourage both users and
suppliers to adapt their behaviour to
make best use of the existing
infrastructure. Both demand and the
requirements for new capacity should
then be more manageable. Moreover,

revenues {rom taxes on congestion

and pollution can be expected to
make a major contribution to meeting
the enormous financing needs of

the sector.

New financing instruments are also
needed. For most of the twentieth
century, provision of transport
infrastructure has been predominantly
a public sector function. In recent
years, there has been a major revival
of interest in concession financing,
particularly for BOT (Build, Operate
and Transfer) operations. BOT
projects are not, however, easy to
implement, especially in the absence
of a sophisticated commercial and
legal environment. Nonetheless,
many countries will simply have no

other option.

International equipment leasing has
grown phenomenally in recent years.
All modes of transport, save perhaps
pipelines, have embraced leasing
finance enthusiastically and recent
major additions to the world’s capital
stock, as well as fleet renewals, have
been financed through leasing
companies. The risk reduction
associated with the mobility of
equipment makes this a particularly
suitable form of finance for use in
central and eastern European
countries and leasing companies are

already active there.
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Bank involvement

The Bank’s initial approach to the
transport sector has four basic
elements:

* a comprehensive view will be taken
of the transport sector across all
modes of transport,

* the principle that competitive
markets provide the best opportunity
for guiding the economies of both the
East and the West will be supported,

* the development of transport
networks guided first of all by
economic priorities and technical
efficiency will be promoted, and

* priority will be given to projects
which contribute to the integration of
Europe and to the enhancement of the

environment.

One of the basic aims of the Bank’s
approach 1o the sector is to upgrade
the subsectoral planning capabilities
of the various agencies dealing with
transport. This will be achieved
through the preparation of basic
pre-investment and design studies by
consultants and, more importantly,
through well-designed training
programmes targeted at the
implementing agencies, technical

institutions and local consulting firms.



The Bank, with its mandate to assist
the private sector, will also play a
significant role in enterprise
restructuring and management. This
will include assisting in the
restructuring and partial privatization
of railway, port and road transport
enterprises. Management information
systems for railways and ports, and
cost accounting and tariff studies, will
also be provided, emphasizing

the balanced development of the

transport system

Highways A major backlog has built
up in the rehabilitation and
maintenance of highway networks.
The Bank is concerned, therefore, not
to over-emphasize the need for the
development of new motorway
schemes. There is also a need to
increase efficiency in the use of
scarce road maintenance funds
through the introduction of pavement
maintenance systems. Specific
investment support could well be
directed at relieving major bottle-
necks in the main road corridors
through the implementation of a
staged approach to the development of
motorway networks. For such
schemes, the Bank will examine the
possible use of BOTs or bond
financing for toll facilities.

Preliminary indications, however,

show that, for most central and
eastern European countries,
competitive tendering with a view to
obtaining the best possible
conslruction contract could well
provide the most attractive solution to

toll road construction.

Road transport The road transport
industry offers scope for the early
development of private enterprise and
it is one where the Bank’s merchant
banking expertise can be fully
utilized, through the restructuring of
existing enterprises prior to
privatization, as well as in the sale of
specific units or assets. Road safety
programmes will also be developed as
part of the assistance programme to

the road transport subsector.

Railways Although railway traffic is
now declining, the Bank may focus on
the major need for selective
rehabilitation and renewal of railway
infrastructure and equipment,
particularly io develop local capacity
for the rehabilitation of locomotives
and rolling stock. Railway projects
will also seek to support the
contracting out of other activities such
as track rehabilitation, equipment
maintenance and catering. Contract
plans defining the respective
responsibilities of government and

railway, particularly in relation to

pricing and cost-sharing arrangements
for track renewal and maintenance,
will be an important policy tool in the

restructuring of railway enterprises.

Aviation In contrast to railways,
aviation is a sector which is likely to
expand greatly. Requirements for
development stretch across the full
spectrum of the industry: air
navigation and traffic control, airports,
aircraft and enterprise reform. The
Bank has a role to play in all these
dimensions, as well as in advising and
assisting in the development of
appropriate public policy regimes.
The first priority will be to establish
an overview of policy and investment
priorities for the subsector in each
country of operations, although some
urgently needed investments, the
economic priority of which is
manifest, can be identified for

immediate action.

Ports The Bank’s emphasis will be on
modernizing port facilities and
adapting existing infrastructure to
changes in shipping technology. The
main objective will be to reduce port
handling costs and sea freight rates,
thereby lowering the cost of imports
and making exports more competitive.
Particular attention will be given to
the development of a limited number
of load centres for container and roll-

on roll-off traffic in order to benefit
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from economies of scale in the growth
of this type of traffic. As the ports
constitute a key interface between
transport modes, such projects
represent ideal ways of focusing
attention on transport logistics issues
such as documentation and clearing
procedures, and freight forwarding
and support services. These are areas
where there is also considerable scope
for private enterprise and where the
Bank’s merchant banking expertise

can provide support.

Urban transport Traffic management
and vehicle emission issues will be
addressed as part of urban
development programmes rather than
as stand-alone transport projects.
However, assistance will be provided
{or urban transport through other
transport projects such as by-passes
and/or urban throughways, support for
suburban railway services and the
restructuring of bus enterprises

serving urban areas.
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Telecommunications

Current situation and recent
developments

The telecommunications sector in
central and eastern Europe confronts
two main challenges: an urgent need
to upgrade existing infrastructure in
line with market demand and best
|n'm-|ir-t‘- in other ('()llrlll'il‘.!-i, untl ||w
need to :.l.tln[‘)t o new (1llrrllll(51'(1i.1||
practices and adjusl to a competitive
environment. These challenges need
to be addressed simulianeously
against a background of scarce
resources and an uncertain regulatory

structure.

Current lt‘.lt'[':h(‘mt' [N‘:l'lt'lr‘;ﬂi()ll |1'v(:|:—i
in central and eastern European
countries range between 9 and 22
direct exchange lines (DELs) per 100
inhabitants, well short of the OECD
average of 40 per cent DEL density.
At a cost of US $1.500 to $2.000 per
line, the investment envelope that is
required to reach the countries’ target
of 30 per cent DEL penetration by the
end of the decade amounts to US $38
hillion to $50 billion. This implies a
compounded annual investment
gruwlh rate of 11 per cent, nc:e|r|y
twice the rate in the period 1980 Lo

1990. Much of the current

infrastructure, however, needs
upgrading or replacing. The total bill
in the 1990s is therefore likely to be
one-and-a-half times as large - up to
US $75 billion. This is hoth a
formidable financial challenge and an
unprecedented organizational and
implementation challenge for the
governments and the post, telegraph
and telephone organizations (P171s) of

central and eastern Europe.

W’]‘lil(? lll(' ]"'(J\-’i!‘ii‘_\[] ()!.
|.f'1"'.(!f')n“|'||.n'|if'“li”llH HC'I'V‘“'“H
commands healthy margins, pay-back
periods for large public infrastructure
projects are long, In addition,
experience shows that the ability to
manage the various parts of the

business is a crucial factor.

Faced with a Wi(lusprt?u(l 5('unzilly of
financial and human resources, the
countries of central and eastern
Europe have begun to formulate their
priorities and strategies, Little or no
differentiation belween various
services and eustomer segments was
made in past telecommunications
investments. A broad consensus now
exists on the need for selective and

economically sound investment

strategies, The first wave of *virtuous’
investments will pave the way for
further infrastructure r|t-'\;¢l|n|,n11(-3nl
from retained lJI'()I.“H. At the same
time, the [n'i\‘u[r sector is ;‘miﬁ(:d 1o
play an increasingly important role in

the transformation of the sector.

Priorities
Sell-financing capacity is a key factor
which will influence the choice

between proj

borrowing. Given that
telecommunications revenue per
inhabitant in central and eastern
European countries amounted to only
LS $25 in 1989, the cash flow

gene -ated from (‘xi.»iling n[wml\inn;«, 15
insufficient to meel :;|(|t,‘.r[|_ml(! sell-
financing levels (70 per cent
according lo western experience).
Consequently, there is likely to be a
substantial investment gap whieh can
only be filled by borrowing or by

direcl foreign investmenl.

In ])I‘d('ii(!t“. central and eastern
European countries are opting for a
mixture of funding from international
development institutions and direct
investment by (foreign) private
operators, The degree of

liberalization, the extent of
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HE] ('mnlw.l‘iug for pui‘)“t

USSR H R PL AL

privatization, the type of participation
open lo p:‘ivutu investors and the
i‘t'{.‘,Lt]allm‘_\' :‘rgi:m- Higniﬁcuulb' alfeet

the range of uptions available.

It appears likely that, if funding and
experlise is to come from international
development agencies (the Bank and
others), which ('?ﬂ']]'ll{)) ('r_um']‘](u‘('iuli_\'
oriented lending eriteria, and from
p:‘ivulr* sources, central and eastern
European governments may need to
trade off eertain long-term objectives
in order to satisfy immediate

requirements,

'l‘ht" k(?_\‘ “'}l(li".-l‘)”- ih Iik(*lr\ to I)I::"

hetween :'mli:-‘f')"mg the universal

telephone ice obligation and
satisfying particular user groups’ most
urgent needs. Telecommunications
operators (whether public or private)
are inclined to favour revenue-
intensive customers in the first phases
of network deployment and
modernization. High-usage
subscribers will probably be the first
ones to benefit from the adoption of
digital technology. This should
alleviale congeslion on existing
networks, enhance the level of
service, free capacity for less
intensgive users and thus prn]m]g the

economic life of old (analog) plant.



Less intensive users would gradually
join the new network subsequently.
Furthermore, initial investments will
most likely be directed at adding new
services (such as international
gateways and digital trunk overlay
networks) and functions to the
network, rather than merely upgrading
old analog POTS (plain old telephone

service) lines 1o digital facilities,

Regulatory requirements

It will be the regulator’s responsibility
to ensure that sound commereial
practices are not al odds with public
welfare objectives. However, since
telecommuniecations infrastructure
development is to take place within a
relatively short period of time and
public borrowing alone is impractical,
the regulatory regime is likely to be
liberal, perhaps much more so than in
mosl western counlries. A minimum
amount of rt-fgl.:lali(m consistent with
meeling economic and social
objectives will entail:

= a phased strategy aimed al
satisfying universal service
obligations through mechanisms that
would ensure that a portion of the
proceeds [rom profitable segments be
earmarked lor developments in less

altractive user segments,
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w structural tarill mljn.-ﬂlmrnls Lo
safeguard profitability,

= [air and efficient market entry
|'l|ltf."i., “.“(!

= an obligation 1o provide competitors
with cost=based interconnect prices

for aceess to the public network.

Institutional reform

Infrastructure and market growth will
require major struetural reforms,
These are already under way in most
countries, involving:

* the introduction of arms length
relationships between governments
and PTTs,

= separation of posts and
|n‘l('cm:umI|lit'alli0nh.

= separation of regulatory and
operating functions,

# reduction of tariff cross-subsidies
and the introduction of cost-hased
pricing,

* restructuring (‘corporatization”) of
PTTs,

* introduction of competition in
selected service segments, and

= privatization of government-owned

PTTs.

'T‘h{" ﬁ(.“l‘“. Hl. I!]{‘ l'd‘rm'l'llb-: l‘lﬂ.F l""("]l
broad and the timetable ambitious.
Critical issues remaining include
demonopolization, ownership and

control and sectoral separation.

The telecommunications sector is in urgent
naad of upgrading

Demonopolization Liberalization is
expected to vield faster growth,
enhanced service quality standards
and financial discipline. However,
compelition in the global
telecommunications market has been
limited to the provision of customer
premises equipment and cerlain
value-added serviees. With a few
notable exceptions (Japan, UK and
US), POTS provisioning is still under
PTT umuu[ml_\' in mosl weslern
countries. Selective compeltition
measures might take any of the
following forms:

= allowing a second or third fixed-
link operator for selective POTS,

= introducing resale and encouraging
private networks, and

= eneouraging yardstick competition

from enhanced services.

wnership and control Tn addition to
the introduction of competition, the
I\]'O"'Iﬂli('lll (lr a4 maore l,‘flllI'('ill't'“l‘lllkiﬂ}
form of management is crucial. These
changes can take many forms, ranging
from relatively small structural and
operational changes through to
privatization and the large-scale
introduction of private capital and
modern business practices. The

introduetion of new capital does not,
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in itsell, increaze efficiency. What are
important are the skills that potential
private shareholders are likely to
bring to operations. Options include
consultancy services, management
contracts with or without ownership

clauses and (m!l‘iglll nwnrl‘ﬁhip.

Trends can already be detected in
favour of collaborative arrangements
rather than absolute self-reliance.
However, as privalization is nol
necessarily accompanied by
(|L-r|1m|mpn|imlliml. stibseribers will
in due time need protection from
private monopoly operators who
might seek excessive returns on

their investments.

Sectoral separation The dismantling of
PTT monopolies is no guarantee that
the benefits to be galimﬂl from the
implementation of a market economy
will be realized. The creation of
smaller, more focused entities. in
place of the previous vertically-
integrated PTTs, however, will ensure
gr(a.uu‘.:' ('nm]wlili(m_ An imnlt“(lhll(-r
advanlage of this process is that the
smaller enlities are easier to privalize
and to control, but this benefit must
be balanced by the cost and time
involved, For instance, a few central

and eastern European countries are



considering splitting the PTT into
several local operating companies
with a national operator providing
long-distance and international
services. Given that operating margins
are, by and large, much more
attractive in long-distance and
international services, care will be
needed to ensure that local operating
companies are economically viable
when working under conditions of
competition and regulation.
Otherwise, inappropriate ‘split up’
strategies might defeat the (already
hard to achieve) social goal of
universal telephone provision, since
the bulk of local telephone usage is

associated with the residential sector.

Bold and innovative action is required
to face up to the challenges of
infrastructure and institutional
developments in central and eastern
European telecommunications
markets. Much progress is under way.
Trade-offs are being identified and
priorities formulated: the pragmatism
and absorptive capacities of the
economies should not be
underestimated. However, increased
cooperation between the public and

private sector will be necessary.
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Bank involvement

Recognizing that ubiquitous
telecommunications services and the
free flow of information are essential
for economic growth, the Bank will
actively support and promote the
effective development of
telecommunications infrastructure
and services across the central and
eastern European region. Loans have
already been made for an enhanced
digital network in Moscow, cellular
telephones in Poland and
telecommunications systems in
Hungary and Romania. Discussions
are also underway for
telecommunications projects in

Belarus, the CSFR, Estonia, Latvia

and Lithuania, as well as for technical

assistance in Albania.

The Bank will encourage competition

through the greater participation
of the private sector in the various
telecommunications services,
including those currently run by

public monopolies.

Priorities in these areas will have to
be formulated. Given the urgency of
needs and the long time-scale from

inspection to implementation,

investment projects cannot be delayed

to await structural reforms of the
economy and the telecommunications
industry itself. Reforms will need to
be anticipated and investment

projects tailored accordingly.

Finance for telecommunications
infrastructure development and
managerial/institutional issues cannot
be dissociated and the Bank will aim
to finance both. In addition, it will
provide advice on industry structure
and ownership as well as on
regulatory matters. Four
telecommunications projects were
approved by the Bank in 1991, as well
as technical assistance in several

countries of operations.
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Energy

Current situation and recent
developments

As a result of the previous CMEA
arrangements, central and eastern
European countries were
overwhelmingly dependent on oil and
natural gas imports from a single

supplier, the former USSR.

This reliance, based on artificially low
prices, gave a false impression of
cheap and abundant energy supplies,
stimulated the extensive and
inefficient use of energy resources
and encouraged the development of
energy-intensive facilities, such as
oversized refineries, heavy industry
and petrochemicals factories. The
lack of energy conservation
incentives, inappropriate price
structures bearing no relation to
supply or production costs or to
international market prices,
adherence to big projects using
outdated technologies and the
predominance of low calorific coal
were inherent features of the centrally

planned economic system.

These economies consume more than
double the amount of energy to
produce one dollar of value added

than western European economies.
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In the long-term, there is considerable
potential to reduce energy intensity.
In addition, some savings could be
made in the short-term through
pricing reforms and improvements in

maintenance and plant operations.

As a consequence of central planning,
the energy sector as a whole is highly
integrated, both horizontally and
vertically. The absence of private
ownership and the lack of clear
managerial responsibilities have
resulted in inefficiency and a low

level of foreign investment.

Given the absence of any proper
regulatory framework and limited
access to clean technologies, energy
sector activities in central and eastern
European countries and the former
Soviet Union have had a serious
impact on the environment. Problems
include extremely high emissions of
carbon and sulphur dioxide,
discharges of saline mine water into
rivers, the devastation of great tracts
of land through large scale opencast
mining and a steady increase in the

number and size of waste heaps.

The breakdown in CMEA trading
patterns and the move towards
international prices of imported
energy, which was not accompanied

by corresponding increases of

domestic currency prices, have
resulted in energy supply security
being a major objective of central and
caslern European governments and for
those former republics of the Soviet
Union poorly endowed with energy
resources. Reducing these
dependencies to prudent levels can be
achieved through pricing reform and
policies aimed at the diversification of
supply options and at energy savings.
In parallel, existing energy
infrastructure will require
rehabilitation and modernization to
make it more reliable and efficient,
and to access new sources of supply.
Amongst the energy-producing
republics of the former Soviet Union,
the chief issues are reversing
declining production of oil, gas and
coal and easing bottlenecks sharply

restricting the transport of fuels.

Subsectoral overviews

Natural gas Demand for natural gas is
expected to increase, especially in
power generation, due partly to
environmental concerns. In the light
of stagnating gas output from the
former Soviet Union, this forecast
increase underlines the need to
reduce vulnerability to supply
disruptions through:

* the development of indigenous
natural gas exploration and
production activities and the

production of coal bed methane

which has major potential, for
instance, in Poland, and

= the diversification of imports.
However, gas supply to central and
eastern European countries from
suppliers such as Norway, the
Netherlands, Algeria or Iran will
require substantial additional

investments.

In order to adapt existing energy
infrastructure to new potential sources
of gas, as well as to integrate existing
eastern and western European energy
networks, the Bank’s countries of
operalions have been considering
various options, including a gas
pipeline via Turkey to central Europe.
Efforts are under way to transform the
powerful Czechoslovakian Transgas
trunkline system, connecting the
former Soviet Union’s gas fields with
western European consumers via the
CSFR, into a joint stock company with
possible later privatization. The
intention is to facilitate technical
rehabilitation, to increase the
pipeline’s capacity and to diversify
supply sources by establishing links

with pipelines in western Europe.

Electricity Except for the former
Soviet republics, central and eastern
European countries as a whole are
deficient in electricify. Until recently,

shortfalls were covered by imports
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from the former USSR, either on the
basis of power purchase or power
plant sharing agreements.

In some central and eastern
European countries, nuclear power
fulfils a significant portion of

electricity needs.

To meet future electricity demand,
central and eastern European
countries and the former Soviet
republics will have to reduce
transmission and distribution losses
(which are high by international
standards), rehabilitate and expand
electricity grids, upgrade existing
generating capacities and, in certain
cases, construct additional capacity.
Operating efficiency will also need to
be improved. Given the uncertainty of
export capacity from the energy-
producing former Soviet republics, the
desire of countries to diversify energy
supply sources and growing
environmental awareness, increased
interconnection between western and
eastern networks may offer a long
term, cost-effective solution.
Strengthened transmission, however,
will depend upon improvements to the
power quality and reliability of

existing systems.

Given the available nuclear capacity
and, in many cases, the lack of
immediately available alternatives,

nuclear energy will continue to play a



Oil field in Baku, Azerbaijan

role in the region. Two areas of
particular concern are the safety of
existing installations and {uel cycle
operations. There is an urgent need
for external technical assistance to
respond to problems posed by some of
the older technologies still in use, and
to support the efforts of regulatory
authorities to lay down the most
advanced internationally accepted
nuclear safely requirements, covering
the operation of existing stations,
decommissioning and long-lerm safe
disposal of nuclear waste.
International organizations and
national agencies are engaged in
intensive dialogue and cooperation in
this field. This is a new and major

feature of the reform process.

Oil The domestic instability of the
energy-producing former Soviet
republics, together with reduced oil
production and much higher oil prices
resulting from the dismantling of the
previous CMEA arrangements are
challenging the fragile economies of
ceniral and eastern European
countries, and former Soviet republics
with an energy deficit. The
curtailment of oil deliveries from the
energy-producing former Soviet
republics (expected in 1991 to be
about 36 per cent of actual oil
supplies in 1990) has resulted in an

enforced search for alternative energy

sources and routes. Some countries
have already succeeded in
diversifying their oil import portfolio.
Others are constrained by technical
(e.g. limited infrastructure) and

financial factors.

Various options to adapt existing
infrastructure to new supply sources
are being examined. The CSFR, for
example, is planning connections with
the western European oil and gas
pipeline system, linking the Czech
refineries to the Transalpine pipeline
via Germany and the Slovakian ones
to Austria, by 1993. An Austria/CSFR
project proposes to link an Austrian
refinery with a refinery near
Bratislava by means of a 60km long
pipeline. This pipeline would

also connect the CSFR to the Adria-
Vienna pipeline, to the Trieste

oil terminal and to the Mediterranean

oil market.

Refineries in cenlral and eastern
European countries and the former
Soviet Union were built to process
Soviet oil and are extremely limited in
their production potential. Most are
now old and outdated. They are
uneconomic and inefficient by
western standards:

= available refining capacity exceeds

demand,

* the infrastructure to transport
products from and to external markets
is very limited,

= the configuration of facilities is not
flexible enough to allow the
processing of an extensive variety of
crude oils, and

* adjustment of production
capabilities in line with the demand
for a wider range of higher quality
products, meeting more stringent
environmental standards, will

be difficult.

Coal Coal is a very significant
indigenous resource in several central
and eastern European countries and
in Russia and Ukraine. Tt will
continue to be a predominant basic
fuel in the region for some time.
However, transport bottlenecks are
severely impeding coal supplies for
power generation in some of the
former Soviet republics. Moreover, in
the longer term, the trend towards
increased energy efficiency, combined
with price liberalization and the
enforcement of new pollution
standards, focused especially on
emissions, will make the coal
subsector uneconomic in many areas.
Restructuring will have considerable

social implications.
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Bank involvement

Given the complexity of the issues in
the region’s energy sector and the
great need for investment, the Bank
has undertaken to establish a
framework within which specific
investments and policy reforms can be

promoted and implemented.

The Bank will focus its investment
operations (at least for the next few
years) on improving the efficiency of
existing supply facilities, completing
existing high priority projects and
promoting conservation. Such
operations will be highly economic,
often will have strongly beneficial
environmental impacts, and can be
implemented relatively quickly.
Typical operations will cover priorities
such as bringing existing oil and gas
reservoirs into production, repairing
natural gas pipelines, rehabilitating
power transmission systems,
upgrading district heating systems
and completing power stations under
construction. Particular emphasis will
be given to projects which assist
countries to increase energy exports,
and which provide additional energy

supplies for Europe.

Operations involving new projects will
probably be limited to the provision of

energy infrastructur@ on an emergency



basis (for t'muuph-'_ I'n”uw‘lllg serious
(ii:—i]'l]])”nll to traditional sources of
supply). projects to sirengthen the
t‘tfp,r‘innu| interconnection of energy
infrastructure, and private sector
projects which promote liberalization
of supply and the injection of foreign

capital and management expertise.

The Bank played an active role in the
|Ir:guliulim‘1h lr:i.l(“np; to the
establishment of the European Energy
Charter, signed in the Hague on 17
December 1991. lts involvement has
continued with the secondment of
staff to the pravisional Charter
Conlerence secretariat. The ()hj{'-.('t]\v'te:-‘-
of the Charter coincide entirely with

those of the Bank.
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Municipal development

The Municipal Development Initiative
The cities of central and eastern
lh‘,[l]'l'l’)(? u]“] ll“" f(]l.'““'.l' Sl)\-‘i(‘l l.‘]“(ni
have an important role in the
11'{-u19—1i[im| of their countries to
democratic, pluralistic market
economies, Decentralization and the
empowerment of local governments
and populations constitute a major
aspect of reforms currently under way.
Dt.':_‘(:nin_:]i?.ul ion ol nllll'lil"lpi]l
services, including water supply,
housing, urban transport, heating and
environmental protection, is placing
complex regulatory and management
responsibilities on local governments.
Decentralization is also associated
with a significant transfer of land
assets and publie enterpriges [rom
slale to loeal government level.

Local governments will therefore have
an increasingly erucial role in
economic and social development in

coming years.

In recognition of this role and of the
important financial and infrastructure
issues confronting cities in the
countries of operations, the Bank has
launched the Municipal Development
Initiative (MDI), The MDI has been
designed to support directly, through

pmjr:cl fiuuuuing and technical

Banlk staff Involved In the Municipal
Devalopment Initiative discussing urban transport
with Warsaw authorities

assistance, the close links between
urban infrastructure, municipal
services and local government. It
recognizes that effective development
and management of urban
infrastructure require an appropriate
local government capacity and

financial management framework.

The operational instruments within
t||(‘. MI‘)I int:ll‘l(lr:

= financing of urban infrastructure
projects,

= pre-investment work to advance the
preparation of specific urban

infrastructure projects,

* technical assistance to incre:
eff;

to support the development of local

ency of n'luni('ipu] serviees and
governmenl management ui]]muil_\'.
and

= support in the definition of the
national institutional and financial

frameworks of local government.

S[‘)ut!iﬁ(! MDI Ic:‘(:hni('ul E.lHHiH[i]n(‘lj am(i
project related work activities are
under way in several cities, including
Bratislava, Budapest, Gdarisk,
Moscow, St Petersburg and Warsaw.
MDI activities are also being defined
elsewhere. Particular emphasis is

being placed on local participation
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and commitment and on the

r‘!.‘-‘-luli“ﬁh!'!‘l(‘.lll of a .%u')“(l n]n—!mliunui
relationship. A number of activities
aimed al strengthening the resources
and financial instruments available to
local government are under way,
concerning the water, urban transport,
heating, housing and solid waste
managemenl seclors. Work is also
under way on the development of
appropriate institutional and financial

[rameworks for municipal services.
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Environment, including the impact of

the Bank's activities

Current situation and recent
developments

Environmental deterioration in central
and eastern Europe is of wide-ranging
concern, Exisling scientific dala on
the =tate of the environment are too
limited 10 ]}I'{I\'ill(' a reliable and
l'(?l'l'l[ll‘("lll'l'lr*i\(" ||i|'l|l|'{'. but there are
several indications of a worrying and
deteriorating situation in many parts
of the Bank’s countries of operations,
Human health, the man-made

ey il'l]lllllf'll! :U'"] IHI‘[”'HI "!r\Hlt‘lllH are
threatened IJ_\ the consequences of
previous and present day economic
aclivities. Large areas within and
outzide the region are adversely
affected. Examples of environmental
disaster include the radioactively
!‘l)llt{lllli”:ll('fl l'l"‘,{il)ll .‘ll'”l.]llll
Chernobyl. and the Black Triangle
on the borders of |'(||:mf|, ||Il' (lH[""
and Germany. which is grossly
polluted by the extraction and

combustion of lignite,

State ownership and central planning
emphasizing rapid. heavy
ilhln.-ill'i.‘lHV:uli(m, exlensive resource
extraction and large seale economie
units, was the result of ith-'uh)gi('aﬂ
rather than efficiency or welfare
objectives. Neglect ol the real costs of

energy generation, resource utilization

and damage to natural systems

created an industnal strueture in

central and eastern Europe which is
not sustainable, either !'|‘m|| an
economic or an ecological

perspective. Low productivity.

unemployment, poverly and poor
health are now seen as inevitably
linked with pollution, occupational
:IH(I ('”lll”lllllfl_\' !H'{l“ll fEHi\H.

(}c'l'm‘(-ﬁl::liuu and the extinetion

ol species.

Although there are some similarities,
environmental risks in central and
enstern Europe are more serious than
”I”H(' \\Ilil'll \\-(‘."\I('I'II |'(Il||]l|'il"h l'ﬂl'i'(l
during their industrial expansion. The
seale and extent ul'lmll'nliu| hazards
associated with industrial technology
have grown greatly during the
twentieth century but contracting
central and eastern European
economies have little domestic
eapacity to cope with these problems.
l’:ll\'iI'lHIHI('IItHi Hwareness Il.{_l"v

been underdeveloped in an era of
economic shortages and of

undemoeralic polities,

Resource utilization per capita in
central and eastern European
countries is generally helow that of
weslern societies. The pn|||l|u|inn-i of
central and eastern Europe enjoy less

living space, use less domestic energy

and less industrial and u;.\l'l’('tllllfl'u'
product per capila, produce smaller
quantities of municipal waste, drive
and travel less and own fewer cars
than their counterparts in mosl
industrialized countries. There is,
however, little recognilion in these
countries of the limits to natural
resource use: energy and raw
materials are used inelliciently in
outmoded technologies. wasle
produets of all types are handled
and (|i5|m.~(':l “r(‘H]'[‘l("hhll\', n poor
complianee with environmental
I'(';_'|II|:|II-m|~i, and .~‘-.'||'1'|_\ rules are

not Hlll"_\l‘l.l.

Pollution issues

The population of central and eastern
Europe is facing greatl environmental
|‘i¥i|(."i j‘l'{)“l gl‘ll(‘l'u”l\‘ 'ligl'l l(“\'l‘l.‘l' I')'.
”“l({(l(:'ll HII(I il!(i“(]l' l]()“lllil)]l,
unhygienic food and poor water
quality. The following problems are
common Lo the whole region:
acidification of the environment,
eutrophication of waters, soil loss from
wind and waler erosion, reduction in
soil fertility due to physical. chemical
:1!1‘] I)i“l()gi('.‘l! ("Il]ll,‘_:l‘!'i, il('('llllllll]lll‘()”
of hazardous wastes, loss of habitats

and the depletion of genetic reserves.

Vast amounts of industrial and
agricultural ehemicals and untreated

Ii({llitl wasle have |m|]ulm| surface

ilnfl 1III(|(‘I“F{'I'U'IIII(1 \\{'ltl‘ L)

5() E'lll'()[u";nl HunlL I.(II' |‘(ﬂ('[llmll‘[l('liml unll IJI‘\'("llI!IHII‘"l

Transhoundary rivers, such as the
Danube, Elbe and Vistula. transport
i]:lx:‘ll'(!(lllﬁ “I{lfl'}'i“ll.‘\ fl“lll one (‘“Ellllll\
to another. Waste !)I'(J(!Ii('lﬁ are
(ic'|m:-ilt'l| in the Baltie. the Black f"'wl';l
and the Adriatic Sea, depleting
important common resources such as
fisheries. Underground drinking water
supplies are contaminated in almost
every t'il_\, lown and \'i”ugll. Other
areas of concern are the Black, Azov
and (:‘d.ﬂliﬂll Seas. the \hig;; River

and the Kola Peninsula,

There are, in addition, severe and
somelimes catastrophic environmenial
problems associated with specific
loeations - the “hot :-i||<il.\". Each
('('I'I“'EII H.H(! l'{l.‘il('l'll I".ul”“('“ll ('l)lll]ll'l\
has such areas which are. |.\[li(‘|,'|||‘\.',
densely populated and highly
industrialized, with coal-fired power
slations, steel making, aluminium and
other non-ferrous metallurgy. mining
andl m‘('-|n'm'|~.~ehf||g aclivities, These
are all potentially highly polluting.
H("\ l‘l'l'll ”r |I|('H(' ('l'”ll“”l]:f‘ ."il_llh'il'““l”l"i
are now .wl||)_i¢-'('t 1o structural
adjustment which could prejudice

their very existence.

Health issues

Effects on human health and welfare
also need to he considered, Statistics
and anecdotal evidence in especially

conlaminated areas indicate



dramatically elevated incidences of
several diseases. A number of health
problems can be linked to physical
environmental conditions in central
and eastern Europe:

= chronic and acute health problems
resulting from exposure to lead, other
heavy metals and chemicals such as
nitrates and arsenic in water,

* threats to normal human
development, especially to unborn
children and high infant mortality
rates,

* respiratory diseases in children and
adults, and

* acute health problems caused by

environmental disasters.

Unfortunately, the poor quality and
inconsistency of data on human
exposure to environmental agents
make the relationships between
pollutant levels and ill health difficult
to prove. Human health issues should
be given first priority in current
environmental activities in central
and eastern Europe. Air pollution
seems to be the greatest hazard. The
intentional and accidental dumping of
wastes and consequent incidence of
hazardous and toxic pollution have
caused widespread soil and
groundwater contamination.
Contaminated drinking water supplies
and agricultural products are thus

serious contributors to poor health.
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The use of poor quality brown coal is
a major health concern. It results in
high particulate emissions in the
neighbourhood of power plants and
also contributes two thirds of the total
sulphur dioxide emissions originating
from central and eastern European
countries. These countries currently
export 59-74 per cent of their sulphur
dioxide emissions. However, 36-59
per cent of the sulphur dioxide
deposited on their territory originates
outside their borders. During the
1960s, an even larger amount of
imported pollution accumulated in the
region, much of it arising from
western Europe. This created a long-
term legacy of soil and vegetation
contamination: sulphur concentrations
are reported as being equivalent to

five times natural background levels.

Poor air quality in built up areas, with
its associated health problems, is
substantially influenced by the
vehicles of central and eastern Europe
being among the world’s dirtiest in
terms of emissions. They produce
much higher quantities of nitrogen
oxides, carbon monoxide and
hydrocarbons per kilometre travelled
than cars and trucks in the west.
There are few catalytic converters
installed and most cars used

leaded gasoline.

Environmental management

Most western European countries
have adopted relatively stringent
environmental legislation and
advanced regulatory systems and have
ambitious, long-term national
environmental policy programmes
almed at sustainable development.
Central and eastern European
countries compare unfavourably in
terms of regulatory enforcement,
resource management and

environmental quality.

Environmentalism played a key role
in several central and eastern
European countries at the beginning
of the transition process. Despite this,
popular support for environmentalism
is currently much more limited than
in western societies. Since the
political transition, environmental
issues have assumed secondary
importance for the major political
groupings, whether in power

or opposition.

A few countries, such as Poland, have
used external financial and technical
assistance to develop a consistent
scientific and professionally based
environmental strategy. However,
priorities and resource allocation are
commonly inconsistent, and it is
questionable whether existing

environmental programmes are
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targeting the most important
problems. Reliable data on the state
of the environment are rarely
available and monitoring systems,
where they exist, often cover relatively
small areas and provide inadequate
information about many important

pollutants.

Environmental costs are not
internalized in decision making and
accounting procedures, and the
‘polluter pays principle’ is not
working. Use of economic instruments
is embryonic and existing fines are
inadequate to encourage compliance.
Central funding is usually insufficient
to produce effective action. Some
countries are considering the
introduction of new environmental
charges and taxes and the
establishment of national funds to

finance environmental programmes.

Judicial regulation and criminal
prosecutions are most unusual and
compensation systems for those who
suffer injury as a result of
environmental damage are non-
existent. There are laws and
standards, often incorporating the
most stringent conditions, but poorly
developed administrative structures
and low levels of professionalism curb

the effectiveness of enforcement.



Pallution in Gdarisk. The river Vistula |s one of
the most polluted in the world and drains

Into the Baltic sea near Gdansk, Pollution is
aggravated by waste and effluent from
chemical plants, mineral I)rl‘l(:{:}s.‘;iﬂk‘. and
municipal waste
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Review of the region of opérations

Badly defined responsibilities and
t"nmpt‘.l'l:inn lwlw:ﬂ'n government
bodies further constrain I}'u:-
uselulness ol resources devoted Lo

environmental control.

There is a substantial need for
technical and financial assistance in
environmental institution building, in
training for professionals and in
poliey planning and priority setting,
Environmental epidemiology, the
prevention of irreversible damage to
natural resources and the evaluation
of the greatest risks to biological
resources, are areas which demand

priority altention.

The environmental challenge

The environmental challenge facing
the central and eastern European
region is twofold: the environment has
to be improved whilst macro-
economic stability is maintained and
micro-economic compeliliveness is
inereased. International linkages in
terms of trade and foreign investment
have alse to be strengthened. The
young democracies of central and
eastern Europe, however, do not have
the finaneial resources, expertise or
structural mechanisms necessary to
ﬂ(‘thi(:\fu an m-|r|} ir:lmg]‘uli(,sn of

economic and environmental policies.

Unless market failures are correcled,
new environmental problems will
Arise. ]nh-.rnulimlel] institutions |mVr:
an important role in preventing
'ecological colonialism'. Western
environmental asgistance has a
special significance. not only in
assisting in the eradication of existing
environmental damage caused by pas
economic policies, but also in helping
|.l‘w. L'(Junll'imﬁ ()f uc:nlml um,] easlern
Ellt'upt‘. to avoid or control new
ecological hazards. These may result
both from domestic business
initiatives and from foreign investors
seeking high profits by incurring

low environment-related costs in

l]u‘. new markels.

Bank involvement

The Bank is directed by its
Agreement to promote, in the full
range of its aclivities, environmentally
sound and sustainable development.
This is the first time that an
international financial institution has
been given, in its founding charter,

a ¢lear and proactive mandate on
environmental protection and

restoration.

The Bank is pursuing the following

prioriti
= assistance lo its countries of
operations in environmental policy

formulation.
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= promotion of the use of a variety of
economic instruments to attain higher
levels urtfll\'il‘unl:lr:nl(!] qll{-llil}.

= encouragement of the development
of an environmental goods and
services industry in ils countries of
operations,

® initiation of, and support for.
special studies and programmes to
address regional and national
environmental problems and 1o
promole environmenltal (-.(]I.u'uﬁnn,

= implementation of a comprehensive
system for environmental screening
and review of ils investment projects,
= advice to project sponsors on the

conduet of environmental analys

L} in('hmi(m ol cmvimmm;:ulu]
conditions in agreements with project
sponsors,

= implemenlation and monitoring of
specific environmental control and
enhancement measures, and

* identification of municipal
development initiatives, such as water
supply, municipal effluent treatment,
solid waste management and land
restoration, which will directly
improve environmental conditions for
the populations of central and eastern

European countries.

Environmental problems in the region
are [requently transnational and

cross-media in nature. They include



Factorles and power stations near Katowice,
Paland, Some of the many sources of
pollution in Upper Silesia, one of Europe’s
environmental ‘hot spots’




X
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such issues as central European air
pollution, management of the Danube
river basin and pollution control in
the Baltie Sea drainage hasin,
Individual countries will find it very
difficult to design cosi-eflfective
environmental measures o deal with
such large-scale problems. A common
approach is required by all the
affected countries, including in some
instances countries of western
Europe. Regional and subregional
studies, transboundary and sectoral
environmental impact assessments
and multinational analytical work will
be necessary to provide the framework
for broad-ranging pollution abatement
programmes. The Bank intends to
play an active role in such
programmes and to use them as an
instrument of European

environmental integration,

Regional projects

Baltie Sea Environment Programme
The Bank is an active participant in
the Helsinki Commission’s Task Force
preparing a Joint Comprehensive
Programme to reverse the degradation
of the Baltic Sea from municipal,
industrial and agricultural pollution.
The Bank has funded pre-feasibility
studies in Kaliningrad and regional
assessments of air-borne pollution and
agricultural runoff. Project

preparation activities are under way

with a view to financing
environmental managementl pl'“jﬁ('tﬁ
in pulp and paper industries, toxic
wasle management and municipal

wasle water lrealment.

Danube River Basin Environmental
Programme The Bank is prominent
among the group of international
organizations assisting the riparian
states of the Danube River 1o initiate
a comprehensive and coordinaled
three-year action programme that will
deal with areas and problems of acute
environmental concern, while also
putting in place the building blocks
for long=term management of the
Danube environment. The Bank’s
programme during this initial period
will focus on preparing investment
projects to deal with high priority
industrial waste management issues,
and developing action plans for
several tributaries of the Danube
where eritical environmental

problems exist.

Danube Delta Environment
Programme The 591,000 ha Danube
Delta has been declared a Biosphere
Reserve by the Romanian government
and recently just over halfl of that area
was declared a World Heritage site.

The Bank has been working with the
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Danube Delta Biosphere Authority
and the World Conservation Union
(IUCN) to develop a programme 1o
strengthen the authority, particularly
its capacily to plan environmental
programmes and manage the Delta
environment. The Bank will also
investigate investment needs in the
economically important and
environmentally sensitive areas of

fisheries and tourism,

Environmental assessment

The Bank has initiated a projec
entitled *Environmental Assessment
Legislation and Policy in central and
easlern Europe’” o review the current
stalus of environmental assessment in
each ol the Bank’s countries of
aperations. This project will provide
essential information 1o assist the
Bank staff in reviewing projects in the
Bank’s pipeline, and will also help
establish a baseline against which
technical assistance in environmental
assessment and audiling can

be provided.

Environmental impact of the Bank's
activities

Each Bank project is screened at an
early stage by environmental stalf 10
determine the level of environmental
information required. Project sponsors

provide environmental information



requested, usually in the form of an
environmental assessment or
environmental audit. This is reviewed
by the Bank and any environmental
requirements are incorporated into
loan or other agreements as
covenants, The Bank requires
assurances, for the duration of the
period it is supervising the
implementation of the loan, that the

environmental measures specified in

the agreements are being met.

To date, 14 projects have received
Board approval, Four of these are
telecommunications initiatives and
one is funding for a computer svstems
company. These projects will have
broadly neutral direct environmental
effects but could prove positive in a
wider context, given that improved
communications and information
technology generally increase
efficiency. Two approved projects fall
into the category of assistance 1o
financial intermediaries. The Bank
has developed specific procedures to
ensure that financial intermediaries
perform environmental due diligence
investigations on each potential
transaction in which they are involved
and that they require the ultimate
borrowers to provide appropriate

environmental information.

The seven other approved projects
comprise three food related loans
(manufacturing, storage and

processing), lwo manufacturing

ventures (henv_\' electrical t-'(]u':pnwul
and paper packaging), a district
heating project and a loan 1o a service
industry firm for oil drilling
equipment. In each case, either
existing facilities or equipment are
being upgraded and modernized or
new, modern facilities and equipment
are being funded. The equipment
proposed was reviewed in each case to
ensure that adequate environmental

controls were incorporated in the

specifications.

The Bank required project sponsors to
conduet environmental audits in the
case of food manufacturing, storage
and processing projects, and the two
manufacturing ventures. Project
sponsors were also asked to provide
the Bank with the results of
environmental analyses for the food
storage and processing projects and
the paper packaging plant as these all
involved some expansion of activities
which could have environmental
impacts outgide the project area.
Using the results of the audits and
environmental analyses, the Bank
specified environmental conditions
which were incorporated, as necessary
in loan agreements. The oil drilling

equipment loan involved no land

Danube Basin Environmental Programme:
Bank staff reviewing environmental problems
in the Tata Basin, and sludge in a tailings dam
above the town of Tatabanya, Hungary

acquisition or transfer, il was
concerned with equipment provision
and Lraining Lo a service industry. The
equipment employs a method of
drilling which is far superior to the
previous methods used regionally for
oil exploration and meets modern
weslern safely standards, The district
heating project incorporated energy
conservation measures, improved
controls on heating networks, and
replaced inefficient and polluting
boilers with much cleaner gas-fired

combustion,
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Key facts

Area
{square kitometres) 28,750

Poputation
in millions (1989) 3

Sectoral shares in

total employment (1989)
Agriculture 49%
Industry 23%

Infant mortality
per 1,000 live births (1988) 39

Life expectancy
in years (1989) 73

Television sets
per 1,000 inhabitants 83

Workforce with
secondary/higher education 26%

Estimated GDP per capita
(1990}, in US$ 1,000*

*See ‘measurement problems’ on page 33
Sources: Government of Albania,
PlanEcon

Albania

Country review

Political

The regime of Enver Hoxha lasted
some 40 years, from 1944 until his
death in 1985. It was characterized by
purges, terror and by ruptures with
one after another of Albania’s allies.
Albania’s isolation and lack of
economic relations with most of the
world since the end of the Second
World War resulted in great privation
and economic stagnation from which

recovery will be extremely difficult.

Hoxha was replaced by his chosen
successor, Ramiz Alia, who continued
to be President during 1991. As in the
early stages of reform in other
countries of central and eastern
Europe, Albania’s government has
come under increasing pressure from
democratic forces urging rapid and
sweeping political and economic

liberalization.

Pro-democracy demonstrations
throughout 1990 culminating in
violence, resulted in President Alia
allowing the formation of opposition
parties to contest multiparty elections.
The Communist Party, renamed the
Albanian Socialist Party, won these
elections in March 1991 with almost
two-thirds of the vote. The Democratic
Party (DP), the principal opposition
led by Salih Berisha, achieved

significant success in urban areas, but
was badly beaten by the Communists
in rural areas, where most of the
population lives, and where news
about reform had hardly penetrated.
The DP refused an invitation to join
the government formed by the

Socialist economist Fatos Nano.

The Nano government collapsed in
June 1991 after a four-week general
strike led by the democratic
opposition seeking more rapid
political and economic reforms. It was
replaced by an interim coalition
‘government of national stability’,
headed by Socialist Ylli Bufi and
including seven opposition ministers.
This government resigned on 10
December 1991, as a direct result of
opposition pressure. On 14 December,
President Alia appointed a new
caretaker government of technocrats
headed by former Food Minister
Vilson Ahmeti, pending new

elections.

A major foreign affairs issue for
Albania is the situation of the
Albanian ethnic population of Kosovo,
ruled by neighbouring Serbia. On 22
October 1991, Albania recognized
Kosovo as an independent state in
response to the overwhelming
sentiment in favour of independence
expressed in an unofficial referendum

in the province.
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Albania is now internationally
understood to have embarked on the
process of transition to multiparty
democracy, pluralism and market-
oriented economic reform. [t is a
member of the C3CE and has special

guest status at the Council of Europe.

Economic

Albania’s economic conditions had
been deteriorating significantly since
1989, and in 1991, the country was in
a state of severe crisis. In the first half
of 1991, output fell year-on-year by
30 per cent. There was a severe
shortage of food, medicine and
heating fuels. Foreign debt
accumulated to $400 million,
representing almost five times the
earnings from exports of goods and

services.

The economic decline since 1989 was
exacerbated by special factors, such
as a severe drought in 1990, strikes
and power failures. Disruptions
associated with the spontaneous
dismantling of the cooperative sector
also contributed, as did the partial
collapse of the distribution system
and reduced access to basic inputs
from CMEA countries. The main
underlying cause of the deterioration,

however, is an accumulated






Number of parliamentary seats
Results of elections In March 1991

Albanlan Soclalist Labour 178
+ Democratic Party 78

rni:‘aullm-a.lli(m of resources - Il'u' ]‘(\'!-i'Llll
of four decades of extreme central
planning, radical egalitarianism and,
since 1978, an uncompromising

policy of self-reliance.

The Government has pursued
economic reform since April 1991,
when privale ownership was legalized
ft,)l‘ H“ l_\‘p(‘.ﬁ of |)t'u]w|‘l_\‘, excepl |z|u(|,
Ll“(l a l'l't‘ll]l [H‘l)g!'ullllllc r(]l' new
private economic institutions was
introduced. To stimulate agricultural

Pl'llL]H['li(]ll. some farm oulpul was

liberalized and the size and number of

private plots were expanded. Reform
MEeaslres, int'h:(“ug a Hll{ll'p currency
devaluation and liberalization of some
]‘)l'i('t‘ﬁ, were ratified l)_\ |m1‘l'u.|l11t‘nl in
Oclober. Privatization under the
auspices of a newly created National
Privatization Agency is in the initial

slage of preparation.

Environmantal

Albania suffers both from natural
resource depletion and from
significant levels of industrial
pollution as a result of past policies.
Environmental legislation, where it
exists, is nol generally enforced and
monitoring and analytical capabililies
are feeble. Consequently, Albania
cannol, al presenl, incorporale a
realistic evaluation of ‘external’

environmental costs in its investmenl

NMP at constant prices (% change)
Unemployment as % of labour force
Consolldated budget balance (% of GDP)*
Units domestic currency per USS (end-year)
External current account (USS milllon)
Gross external debt

(% of exports of goods and services)””

Selected Economie Indicators for Albania

1988

-0.5

-1.2

8.0
-23.5

1989

11.7

1990

-13.1
8.0
-16.6
10.0
-956.1

237.2

*Commitment basis *"End-year, convertlble currencles only — denotes not avallable
Sources: Data provided by national authorities and European Bank estimates

(l(‘t‘iﬁillllﬁ nor ¢an il lr'un.n'-lull' lllf‘
findings from monitoring and other

investigations into effective action.

There is no ministry with
environmental responsibilities,
although a Committee for the
Environment reports to the Council of
Ministers, The Ministry of Health has
l‘(':—,il_)(,)ll‘i”)‘llilr\‘ for environmental
umuilm'iug. Particular areas of
concern are the levels of in-plant and
external industrial pollution, which
alfect relatively large numbers of the
population, and the loss of tree cover
near to urban centres due to the use of

wood as o domestic fuel.
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Albania presents potential for the
development of tourism

Albania Bank involvement

Strategy

On 16 December 1991, the Board of Directors agreed
an initial strategy for Albania. It focused on five priority
areas; banking sector, privatization, energy,

environmen! and telecommunications,

The banking sector, an obvious cornerstone in the
transition of the economy, was identified as a priority
area, requiring substantial and immediate technical
assistance. Under the previous regime, banks did not
have authorily to make independent credit decisions,
loan portfolios were not classified by risk categories and
provisions against loan losses were not made. The
European Bank will focus its initial assistance on
training and institution building through technical
assistance, especially with regard 10:

® rapid establishment of accounting standards and
procedures by commercial banks,

= creation of an efficient national payment clearing
centre,

= development of management logistics, business
planning and information systems within the Albanian
Commercial Bank, and

= enhancement of retail banking, treasury management,
foreign exchange dealing, risk management, appraisal
and eredit analysis skills,

The privatization process needs comprehensive support.
The Bank intends to provide technical assistance to
strengthen the National Privatization Agency so as to
assist the small asset and medium size enterprise
privatization programmes. The Bank will help select
qualified advisors and guide their work, coordinating its

efforts with those of other multilateral institutions,
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The Bank will assist in the drafting of laws and in the
training of lawyers especially in the banking sector and

the privatization process.

Energy and the environment are both key areas for
altention. Bank activities will include assessment of

a lignite mining and processing project aimed at
reducing deforestation. It will also commission a study
on forest cover and a study on the modernization of the
petroleum sector in an environmentally sound and

sustainable way.

The Bank is also commissioning a study to recommend

an appropriate strategy for the development of tourism.

The existing telecommunications network, with
probably one of the lowest telephone densities in the
world, is elearly inadequate for private sector
development. The government has asked the Bank to
prepare a comprehensive telecommunications
development plan and to provide advice on the
encouragement and selection of foster private sector

investments,

Through an initial programme of technical assistance,
the Bank intends to assist in the creation of the
infrastructure for future investment projects in areas
such as commercial banking, private sector

development and the oil and tourism industries.
Technical assistance
Technical Assistance was extended 1o Albania in the

form of training for two senior bankers (ECU 11,600

was committed.)






Key facts

Area
{square kilometres) 110,910

Population
in millions (1991) 9

Sectoral shares in

total employment (1989)
Agriculture 18.6%
Industry 45.9%

Cars
per 1,000 inhabitants (1987) 127

Telephones
per 1,000 inhabitants (1991) 290

Infant mortality
per 1,000 live births (1991) 16.5

Life expectancy
in years (1991) 71

Eligible male labour
force participation (1980s) 81%

Eligible female iabour
force participation (1980s) 74%

Workforce with
secondary/higher education 29%

Estimated GDP per capita
(1990), in US$ 5,500"

See ‘measurement problems’ on page 33

Sources: OECD Secretariat

UN Economic Commission for Europe
European Bank estimates

National authorities

PlanEcon

Bulgaria

Country review

Political

The dismantling of the old single
political party system, rapid
democratization and the transition to a
market economy coincided with an
Increasing power struggle in 1991
between the two major political
parties in Bulgaria - the Bulgarian
Socialist Party (BSP) and the Union of
Democratic Forces (UDF), of which
President Zhelev was a founding
member. The former was committed to
‘democratic socialism’. The latter
advocated a more market oriented
system. There were more than 80
other political parties and movements

in 1991, all firmly anti-communist.

The adoption of a new constitution
and the elections dominated internal
politics throughout 1991. In July,
Bulgaria adopted a new constitution
which laid the foundations for a
genuinely democratic society and
market economy. Parliamentary
multiparty elections then took place
on 13 October 1991, against a
background of rising social tensions,
aggravated by the declining state of
the economy and by unemployment.-
The Movement for Rights and
Freedom, representing the Turkish
ethnic minority, not previously
considered as a party, emerged as the

third force with 7.55 per cent. The

first non-communist government
in Bulgaria since the end of the
second World War was formed

by the UDF, under Prime Minister
Filip Dimitrov. The UDF won
34.36 per cent of the votes against
the BSP’s 33.14 per cent.

Local governments, elected by
popular vote for a three-year term,
started the process of
decentralization. Complete freedom of
the press was introduced. Despite
economic constraints, the media
became an increasing influence on

the internal political scene.

In foreign policy, Bulgaria supported
political initiatives to expand regional
economic cooperation and aiming to
advance Bulgaria’s commitment to
European democratic values. Bulgaria
plans to become a member of the
Council of Europe in 1992 and to
integrate itself into Europe’s political

and economic structures.

Economic

During 1991, in the face of severe
structural problems and a recession
which has reduced real GDP by more
than a quarter, the Bulgarian
authorities have mounted an
impressive effort to redress the
external macroeconomic imbalance

and reduce inflationary pressures.
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The government’s tight financial
policies accompanied a
comprehensive liberalization of prices
and imports. At the same time, private
ownership was legalized and the need
for privatization of state enterprises

was recognized.

The government removed price
controls from most products, phased
out subsidies and increased remaining
controlled prices significantly. Retail
prices rose by more than 200 per cent
in February 1991 and another 150 per
cent in March. However, monthly
inflation had fallen back to 3-5 per
cent by November. The real value of
the wage bill dropped by over 60 per
cent during 1991. The full effect of
the recession was not fully reflected in
registered unemployment in spite

of the fact that it increased

tenfold, affecting 11 per cent

of the labour force.

A unified floating exchange rate
system was introduced in February
1991. The exchange rate is now
determined in the interbank market
and the central bank fixes the
interbank rate daily on the basis of
the previous day’s actual transactions.
During 1991, the domestic currency

was devalued by over 300 per cent.



Number of parllamentary seats
Results of elections in October 1991

Union of Democratic Forces 110
: Bulgarian Soclallst Party 108
i Movements for Rights and Freedoms 24

Inn the first half ur ]0‘)1, (Iu-
converlible currency export value
(exeluding transactions under the
clearing arrangement with the
former USSR) declined by 26 per
cent (measured in US dollars),
while the import value dropped by
61 per cent, Trade with the former
USSR also fell drastically. By
September 1991, Bulgaria®s external
convertible currency reserves
amounted to US$ 200 million.
equivalent to less than ane month’s
imporls, Bulgaria's total external
debt, at around US$ 12 hillion,
tripled since 1985, Almost half of

the debt is :ill()l'l-h't'm.

In March 1990, the Foreign Trade
Bank, which carries 95 per cent of
the commercial debt on its books,
responded to a liquidity crunch by
announcing a unilateral debt-
servicing moratorium, It also
l'r'l]ut*.»ilr‘.l] ]hl‘ u[n'raill;,; u]' (fl-rl)l

restructuring negotiations. In April

1991, agreement was reached with
the Paris Club to reschedule the
official debt due until mid-1992
over ten years with a six years grace
atill

continuing on the 85 per cenl of the

period. Negotiations are

external debl owed to commereial

hanks.

GDP at constant prices (% change)
Unemployment as % of labour force
Consolidated budget balance (% of GDP)"
Consumer prices (% change)

Units domestic currency per uss$ (end-year)
External current account (US$ million)
Gross extarnal debt

(% of exports of goods and services)"”

Selected economic indicators for Bulgaria

1988

2.4
5.8
3.0
0.8

-840.0

186.6

1989

0.3

0

1.4

6.0

0.8
-1307.0

227.4

Sources: Data provided by national authorities and European Bank estimates

Environmental

The energy and resource-intensive
nature of Bulgaria’s economy.

combined with outdated control and

inclustrial processes, resulted in very

high levels of air and river pollution,
particularly from industry, Heavy
melals and other toxic substances
('HII||!|‘IIi1IJllI' Il'u' so1l uml waler and
have left a Irgm'_\-‘ of |)Ult-'l'l|in||_\r‘

hazardous wastes.

Over one million of Bulgaria’s nine

million inhabitants live in *hot spots’,

where over-exposure to lead and
airborne particulate problems are
common, Furthermore, high
concentrations ol arsenic oceur in
a number of places as a by-produci
of ferrous and non-ferrous metal

industries,

The need for new legislation has been

recognized and generie environmental

laws were dralled in 1991. In
addition. however, more specific
I("gi.-l..lliml on waler, wasle and air
pollution is required, together with
institutional strengthening,

particularly at the local level.
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1990

-11.8
2.0
13.7
26.0
7.0
-1152.0

298.8

‘General government. Includes on the expenditure side, due but unpald Interest obligations.
**End-year, convertible currencies only - denotes not available

astimate
1991

26,0
10.0
-14.0
476.0
22.0
-2027.0

201.3



The Bank's priorities for its operations in
Bulgarla include potential infrastructure projects,
aspecially in transport, telecommunications and
energy, and Investment in agriculture. It will also
consider investments to improve management
practices In energy end-user sectors, especially
in industry

N




Buigaria Bank involvement

Strategy

On 25 November 1991, the Board of Directors agreed
on an initial strategy for Bulgaria. It focuses on four
main activities:

* privatization and restructuring of state-owned
enterprises and banks, and support for selected private
enterprise§ in priority sectors,

* modernization of the financial sector, including the
promotion of specialized institutions such as leasing
firms and export credit agencies,

= infrastructure projects, especially transport,
telecommunications and energy, and

* investment in agriculture.

Privatization and restructuring

In cooperation with other international financial
institutions, the Bank will continue to provide support
for the development of overall privatization policies and
for the creation of a detailed database focused on the
potential for privatization of state enterprises. The Bank
may also provide technical assistance to cover the
training, materials and equipment requirements of the
Privatization Agency. The Bank is ready to provide help
in monitoring the performance of state-owned
enterprises and to assist with the implementation of
commercial practices and the improvement of
management techniques within individual state
enterprises. Pending passage of the privatization bill,
the Bank will also examine its potential role in specific
privatizations. This could include the provision of
advice on feasibility, design, underwriting and
marketing, and equity participation in privatized

enterprises.
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Modernization of the financial sector

The Bank’s objective is to enhance the commercial
orientation of banking services and to support the
growth of a competitive environment. The Bank may
contribute to an expansion of profitable productive
entities by extending credit lines to selected
intermediary banks and financial institutions for on-
lending to viable enterprises. In addition, the Bank may
opt for equity participation to strengthen the capital
base of certain intermediaries, thereby gaining direct

influence on the restructuring process.

Infrastructure projects

The Bank may participate in projects aimed at
improving road quality and coverage. These could
include the completion of 140 km of the Trans-
European Motorway and the continued construction of
highways from Sofia to the Black Sea ports of

Varna and Bourgas.

Although the Bulgarian Railways Company is
expected to remain wholly state-owned, an anticipated
reduction of subsidies will force the company to
compete with road transport. The Bank could provide
technical assistance to support this process as well

as contributing financially to plans to update and
expand the main rail links from Yugoslavia to Turkey

and from Sofia to Varna and Bourgas.

The Bank could play a useful role in preparations for
the establishment of market-based telecommunications
operations. Bank financing and technical assistance
could support the design of a new organization and the

development of its management and staff.

Other areas which might merit the financial or technical

participation of the Bank include investments in the



Bulgaria Bank Involvement

hydrocarbon, power and district heating sub-sectors,
improvement of management practices in energy
end-user sectors, especially in industry, and
development of gas pipelines and connection of

the electricity grid to the regional network.

Investment in agriculture

The Bank sees potential for increasing agriculture
output rapidly by expanding private land ownership
under the provisions of the Land Law of July 1991,

It will consider providing credit lines for private farms,
loans for specific investment such as storage facilities
and transportation equipment and technical assistance

in the decentralization/privatization process.
Technical assistance

The Bank assisted the Ministry of Industry, Trade and
Services (MITS) in the launch of the Bulgarian
Privatization Programme. The Bank drew up a funding
proposal covering the country’s needs for technical
assistance in restructuring and privatization. This
proposal formed part of the submission which secured
a PHARE allocation for the programme, in which

the World Bank is also involved.

Resident office

It is anticipated that a resident office in Sofia will be

operational by April 1992.
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Key facts

Area
{square kilometres) 127,870

Population
in millions (1989) 16

Sectoral shares in

total employment (1989)
Agriculture 12%
Industry 46%

Cars
per 1,000 inhabitants (1987) 122

Telephones
per 1,000 inhabitants (1987) 246

Infant mortality
per 1,000 five births (1988) 12

Life expectancy
in years (1989) 71

Eligibie male tabour
force participation (1980s) 82%

Eligible female labour
force participation (1980s) 77%

Workforce with
secondary/higher education 29%

Estimated GDP per capita
(1990), in US$ 8,000"

*See ‘measurement problems' on page 33
Sources: Government of CSFR, PlanEcon

CSFR

Country review

Political

1989’ “Velvet Revolution’ peacefully
ended the post-war era of Communist
domination of Czechoslovakia, an era
brutally interrupted by the Prague
Spring of 1968. Since 1989, the
country made important political
reforms, establishing a state based on
law and working toward a new
relationship between the Czech and
Slovak Republics. Opposition leader
Viclav Havel was elected President of
Czechoslovakia by the Federal
Assembly on 29 December 1989.
The same month, Marian Calfa was

appointed Prime Minister.

In 1991, a Charter of Fundamental
Rights and Freedoms was adopted by
the federal government. It guaranteed
freedom of speech, religion and the

media and equality under the law.

Both Civic Forum and Public Against
Violence, which led the ‘Velvet
Revolution,” split into various new
parties beginning in early 1991. By
the end of the year, the Federal
Assembly had members from 15
parties, spawned from the six which
won seats in 1990. Parliamentary
debate on new federal and republic
constitutions proved contentious
throughout 1991 with no accord on
a clear delineation of federal

and republic powers.

Cooperation with the rest of Europe
was central to CSFR foreign policy in
1991. The CSFR became a member of
the Council of Europe, signed the
European Convention on Human
Rights and Fundamental Freedoms
and an Association Agreement with
the European Community. The CSFR
joined Hungary and Poland in the
Declaration of Visegrad, which
committed the three countries to
closer cooperation in democratic and
market economic reform. The CSFR
is also a member of the Hexagonale,
a regional group which also includes
Austria, Italy, Poland, Hungary

and Yugoslavia.

Economic

The CSFR emerged from the initial
phase of economic transition with
considerable macroeconomic success.
Thanks to restrictive fiscal and
monetary policies, the CSFR achieved
significant liberalization of prices and
internal convertibility of the currency
while controlling inflation and
maintaining a solid balance of
payments position. The price level
jumped immediately after the
liberalization of prices in January
1991, but the monthly inflation rate

decelerated sharply and prices
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stabilized by mid-year.

Price liberalization in January 1991,
together with follow-up measures,
reduced the share of goods with
regulated prices from 85 per cent to
about 5 per cent. The external current
account in convertible currency

had a small surplus in 1991. Wage
settlements were restrained,

with average nominal wages rising by
slightly over 20 per cent during
1991, i.e. a real wage reduction of

over 30 per cent.

However, output declined severely
and unemployment rose sharply in
1991 through a combination of the
collapse of exports to former CMEA
countries, decline in domestic
demand and supply side factors. Real
GDP is estimated to have declined by
about 16 per cent in 1991, and
unemployment, which had virtually
been unknown, rose to 6.6 per cent by
the end of the year. Exports also
declined by over 15 per cent,

with those to the former USSR

being halved.

Unification of the exchange rate and
liberalization of imports began to
exert competitive pressure on an
economy which is still characterized
by production monopolies. However,
restructuring of state enterprises is

proving to be difficult and is



Number of parliamentary seats
Results of elections In June 1990

1 Civie Forum / Public Against Violence 170
7 Communiats 47

3 Christian Democrats ao

4 Maravian and Sileslan 18

5 Slovak National Party 18

s Coalition of ather minarities iz

protracted. Although privatization ol

samall business unils 15 progressing

smoothly, privatization of most large

enterprises will start in 1992 despile

the adoption of a last-track, mass-
privatization approach. In the

financial system, the quality of

banking services remains low, and the
problem of asset quality and capital
adequacy of commercial banks spun

ofl from the state mono-hank remains

a problem, although measures have

een taken to address these 1ssues.

Environmental

Environmental degradation in all

‘In convertible currencies

GDP at constant prices (% chanpe}
Unemployment as % of labour force
Consolidated budgel balance (% af GOP)
Consumer prices (% changa)

Units domestic currenay per USE (end-year)
External current account {% of GDP) *

Gross external debt **

{% of exports of goods and services)

Selected economic Indicators for C5FR

1088
2.6
-3.6
0.2
14.0

01

1141

End-year, convertible currencies anly

1889
1.3
-3.5
1.4
14.0

0.8

1147

Sources; Data provided by national authorities and European Bank estimates

More than 50 per cent ol agricultural
|:|m| 15 H‘I'illll.‘il_’ alfected h_\‘ l'l‘())"wi(l]'l‘.

“’i'll ill [S8.€ &l Gt l'il. 5 I'Hini(l" lons Ilil Hﬁlil

a year eslimated as heing washed
away., Deforestation, l]('il“lh\.('!llilll'l.

('ulll:unill:]linll and .v.illing of water

lows and reservoirs now alfect aboul

80 percenl ol the: llgz;r'i('llhln'nl

land area.

r\]lll(mgll forests cover more than a

lll‘\l‘(l (Il.lhl‘

the existing forest cover has been

damaged by emissions and deposits.

FR. over 606 per cenl ol

forms - land, air and water - has been
severe in the CSFR and large areas of

the country are polluted.

Atmospheric pollution is especially

severe in industrial areas with high

population densities including
Prague, the northern Bohemia region,
Bratislava, the Ostrava-Karving
industrial complex and the Vih River
valley. Sulphur emissions are the
second highest in Europe and are
mainly produced by power and
heating plants using low-quality
hrown coal, lignite or heavy fuel oil.
(_:(]i.]l |]l"l’()?"\it-‘* lif‘ t'|(!:4¢’. 1o “1('. ﬁlll'l‘“"('
and thiz has resulted in very extensive
open-pit mining operations creating ¢
Tunar landscape’ in parts of the

country,
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1990

3.5
1.0
2.0

10,0
28.0
2.4

107.2

- danates nat avallabla

estimate
1091

16,0
7.0
/2
58.0
28.0
1/2



CSFR Bank involvement

Strategy

On 29 July 1991, the Board of Directors approved the
Bank’s initial strategy in the Czech and Slovak Federal
Republic (CSFR).

Priority sectors and activities wherein the Bank
is screening projects of potential interest include the

following:

Privatization, restructuring and promotion of the

private sector

The Bank will become directly involved in the
privatization of small, medium and large-scale
companies, the promotion and establishment of new
private enterprises and the support of joint ventures
between domestic firms and foreign partners. For the
time being, the Bank’s approach to privatization and to
the promotion of private sector growth will not be
targeted on any specific area. The Bank will examine
all requests for support on their merit, consonant with
sound commercial practices. However, priority is
being assigned to those activities which will create
employment and provide opportunities for enhanced
exports and foreign exchange earning. Preference is
also being given to the participation of foreign private
investors with the ability to provide badly needed
managerial and technological know-how and access

to foreign markets.

Development of the financial sector

One of the key areas for Bank support to the CSFR is
the banking and financial sector. To satisfy both the
market demand for medium and long-term capital, and
to help remedy deficiencies in the system, credit lines

might be extended to selected intermediary banks and
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financial institutions for on-lending to viable
enterprises. Once proper assessment of the institutional
capabilities of selected intermediaries has been made,
Bank equity participation may be needed to strengthen
their capital bases. In preparing the way for
privatization, there is scope for Bank support in
upgrading the appraisal capabilities of intermediaries
through training and technical advisory activities, as
well as in helping to establish new term lending

institutions.

The Bank may also play a catalytic role in promoting
the establishment of specialized financial institutions.
In particular, the Bank could assist the creation of
export financing and guarantee arrangements which are

needed to support CSFR exports.

Infrastructure

In view of the complexity and the scale of the needs in
the various infrastructure sectors, coordination and
co-financing with other international organizations will

be key features of the Bank’s approach.

Telecommunications Success in revitalizing and
privatizing all sectors of the economy will depend to a
significant extent on the modemization and capacity
extension of the CSFR telecommunications sector. Bank
support will be channelled to help facilitate the
implementation of the government’s development
programmes. These projects involve the construction of
a digital overlay network which includes transit and
local exchanges as well as east-west and north-south

optical fibre routes.

Transport The government is planning a fundamental
reorientation of the policies and approach to the

transport sector. These changes provide good



Project name Czecheslovakla Investmant
Corporation Inc
Type Equity

ECL million
Equity investmant approved
by the European Bank 7.46
Total project investment 111.86

opportunities for Bank support. Plans 1o introduce

competition and (o privalize lansporl services also offer

opportunities for the Bank to fullil its mandate. while
finaneial input from the Bank could expedite the
process of upgrading and modernizing the railway
network and the rolling stock. Within the air transporl
sector, the Bank recognizes the high priovity conferred
on the expansion and modernization of the airports in

Prague and Bratislava, 1o meel international standards,

Energy Since the preponderance of polluling agents in
the CSFR can be traced 1o its curvent, mainly coal-
based energy sources and processes, the Bank could
pliy a major role i helping to alleviale environmental
damage in the CSFR by targeting invesiments and
lending to the energy seclor. These might take the form
ol projects lor desulphurization, waler trealment and
regional gas and heating networks. The Bank will
explore the possibility of co-linancing energy sectur
projects with the World Bank which has initiated a

progrimine of sludies in this lield.

Environment Tmprovements lo the country’s
environmenl serve as one ol the unifving elements of
the Bank’s programmes in the CSFR. The Bank’s
environmental programme for the CSFR will have,
initially, three main themes:

= the provision of experl advisory services,

* the provision of linancing for basic mumicipal water
realmenl plants, and

= energy conservation in the form o combined heat and
power produetion and distriel healing schemes in the

I:ll'g(’ 1II'| un cenlres.
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Merchant and Development Banking
stall discussing financial sector
development with representativas of

Komercni Banka, the largest commaercial
bank In the CSFR

I addition 1o energy conservation and elliciency
henelits which are vitally important for a country with
so few energy resourees, the above approach would
achieve a signilicant reduction in sulphur and

ather emissions, The Bank will supplement such
activities with advice on a more realistic energy pricing

system o enhance the energy conservalion eflort.

Municipal development The upgrading and extension of
curvently run-down public utilities will e essential for
the efficient functioning of urhan centres and it is elear
that external support will be required in every area. The
design and implementation of waler supply, sewerage,
solid waste disposal, telecommunications and power
transmizzion projects will be required Lo correct present
major deliciencies, Urban transportation requires

particular atlention,

Other sectors The Bank will eansider the desivability of
assisting privale sector development of lourism in

buth the Czech and Slovak Republies sinee the hotel
and tourism seetor could become an imporant source
ol employment and hard curreney earnings within a
velatively short period, The European Bank will
explore, in conjunction with ather arganizations
involved in the CSFR education sector, how it can best

contribule to meeting the needs identified in this sector,
Bank operations

Czechoslovakia Investment Corporation Inc

On 24 Hc'])lt'r‘nhi‘l' 1991, the Board of Direclors
approved the ereation of the Czechoslovakia Investment
Corporation Ine, The European Bank will be one of i1s
major sharcholders, with an equity investment of US$

1O million (ECU 7.46 million), and an aclive Board



Project name Cokoladovny
Sector Food manufacture
Type Equity

ECU millian
Equity Investment approvad
by the Europaan Bank 24.10
Total project investment 174,03

-
A,
Staff visiting the Cokoladavny factory

In Prague

member, The investment corporation is heing ereated by
Ruolert Fleming, a major British invesimenl manager
and Investieni Banka, one of the largest CSFR

hanks. Through its involvement in the fund, the Bank
will be fulfilling its mandate (o assist small and
medinm-size enterprises and to attract capital 1o central

and eastern Eurape,

Cokoladovny

In December 1991, the Board also approved an equity
investment equivalent to US$ 30 million (ECU 24,10
million), equivalent to a 15 per cent stake, in the: foud
company Cokolidovny, The project involves the
restructuring and privatization of the CSFRs major
producer of choeolates and hisenits and is heing
undertaken in conjunction with two large western

Eurapean food groups, Nestlé and BSN,

The CSFR will alzo be one of the countries of sperations
ol the NMB/EBRD Central Europe Agency Line (see

aperations under Poland for further details),
Technical assistance

The Bank underiook one technical assiztance project
in the CSFR in 1991, Under the Czechoslovak
Telecommunications project, the Bank intends to
provide technical assistance 1o Czech and Slovak SPTs
for the ereation and management of an Institutional
Development Programme (ECL 570,000 was
commitled). The CSFR will also be one of the countries
to henefit from the Regional Training Programme fTor

Financial Markets Development onee it is set up,

T8 Enrvopean Bank for Reconstruction and Development

Resident office

The Bank is in the process ol identilying suitable
premises in Prague and anticipales opening a resident
ollice during the [irst hall of 1902,






Key facts

Area
{square kilometres) 93,030

Population
in millions {1991) 10.4

Sectoral shares in

total employment (1990)
Agriculture 14%
Industry 31%

Cars
per 1,000 inhabitants {1990) 194

Telephones
per 1,000 inhabitants (1987) 152

Infant mortality
per 1,000 live births (1988) 16

Life expectancy
in years (1989) 70

Eligible male labour
force participation (1980s) 75%

Eligible female labour
force participation (1980s) 62%

Workforce with
secondary/higher education 34%

Estimated GDP per capita
(1990), in US$ 6,000"

*See ‘measurement problems’ on page 33
Sources: OECD Secretariat

UN Economic Commission for Europe
European Bank estimates

National authorities

PlanEcon

Hungary

Country review

Political

Some 50 parties participated in
democratic parliamentary elections in
March - April 1990, which resulted in
a governing coalition led by the
centre-right Hungarian Democratic
Forum (HDF), under Prime Minister
Jozsef Antall. The second largest
party, the Alliance of Free Democrats
(AFD) formed the opposition. The
Hungarian Socialist Workers Party
(comprising the more conservative
wing of the former communist party),
did not receive the minimum votes

necessary to win seats.

The previous government, under

the premiership of Miklés Németh,
now a Vice President at the

European Bank, prepared the ground
for these events. The Hungarian
Constitution was substantially revised
in October 1989, creating

the legal conditions necessary for free,
multiparty elections and separating
the legislative, executive and

judicial functions. Key legislation
was passed, including laws covering
referenda and guaranteeing

freedom of the press.

In 1991, Hungary progressed steadily
along the path of democratic and
economic reform. Devolution of power
from the centre continued. A law on

public finances, redefining the

division of revenues between central
and local government was put before
parliament. The Constitutional Court
strengthened its institutional position
during 1991, its role being to define
presidential powers relative to those
of parliament and to review laws
under consideration and passed by
the parliament. Numerous trade
unions and other associations
flourished. However, both coalition
and opposition parties faced
difficulties in sustaining active

popular support.

In foreign policy, Hungary
strengthened its regional
relationships, through the Visegrad
declaration on mutual cooperation
with the CSFR, Hungary and Poland
and through the regional political and
economic group, the Hexagonale.
Hungary signed an Association
Agreement with the EC in December
1991. Closer ties are also being
pursued with EFTA. Together with
other central and eastern European
countries, especially the CSFR and
Poland, Hungary is trying to establish
links with NATO and with the

Western European Union.
Economic
The Hungarian economy made

considerable progress in 1991. The

current account side of the balance of
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payments was in surplus for the
second year running. New, small
enterprises were formed at an
impressive pace. Prices, interest rates
and imports were almost completely
liberalized. The level of direct foreign
investment rose sharply, providing
the basis for a much-needed
accumulation of foreign exchange
reserves. However, production
continued to decline and inflation

accelerated.

Real GDP declined by four per cent
in 1990 and a further eight per cent in
1991, mainly as a result of the CMEA
collapse, the phased reduction of
subsidies and increased competition
from the West. Registered
unemployment rose from 1.7 per cent
of the labour force at the end of 1990
to more than eight per cent in
December 1991, in spite of the fall in
real wages for the second consecutive
year. While the overall state of the
economy remained depressed, small-
scale enterprises performed well.
Output from industrial entities with
less than 50 employees rose by 50 per
cent in the first half of 1991.

Inflation rose from 17 per cent in
1989 to 35 per cent in 1991. The
surprisingly severe output contraction,

relative to credit growth, may have



Number of parllamentary saats
Resulls of elections in March /April 1990

Demogratic Forum 165

Free Demograls a2
iwaependent Smallholders 43

Soclalists aa

i Young Demacrals 21

Christian Damocrats 21

¢ Othors 11

contriboted 1o this development. bul

avariely of cosl-push factors also

plaved avoled in particular a cut in
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position was more comfortaly
ul any Line sinee 1980, Convertihle
CHrreney debyl stood a1 USs 197
Billion iy mid=1991 (63 per eent

ol GIP),

The government moved ahead with
= strveluen] relorm programine,
althongh the paee of privatization
was somewhal slower i original ly
intemded, The programme aims 1o cul
the slales share of assets in the
|'-)|||p|'LiIi\-- seclor 1o less than 50 Jher
cenl Jl_\ the end of 1995, amd 1o

rerluee legal and administralive

G1 Evvapean Bank (or Revonstelion aml Desye

GDP at constant prices (% changa)
Unemployment as % of labour lorce
Consolidated budget balance (% of GDF)

Consumar prices (% change)

Units domestic currency per USS {end-yaar)
External current account (% ef GOP)

Gross axlernal debt

1% ol exports ol goads and services)

Selected economic indicators for Hungary
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Environmental

Natural resourees aml the nan-made
environmenl are under severe threal
in Himgary, Air quality is less than
satisfactory i P per cent of Hiingae.
where &b per cent of the population

Ii\.I'? ’”Il" worsl areas are iIII|I|.‘-\|f'iHJ

41:_','_'|u|||='\‘i|lim|-, Hnl:l|)|_\ Barsod.,
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catel cimissions.
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Project name Petofi Nyomda Rt,
Sector Packaging

Type Loan

‘Govarnment guaranteed

Funding ECU miillan

European Bank lending 4.91
Antlcipated syndicated lending [+
European Bank committed” 4.91
Other lenders 8]
Total lending 4.91
Other aquity Investment 1.18
To be sourced 5.65

Total project Investment 11.74

Soanning, printing and finishing operations at
Petdfi Nyomda Pt, 8 packaging matarial
manufacturing company in Hungary

The Bank made its first private sector loan

to this company




Hungary Bank involvement

Strategy

The Bank’s strategy for Hungary, as approved by the
Board on 24 June 1991, will focus initially on those
areas where the ground {or Bank involvement has heen
=uflliciently preparved. and will address the Enropean
and regional dimensions, infrastructure and
environmenlal concerns. The main elements ol the
Bank's initial steategy will be gearved toward the
following:

= privatization. promaotion of the private sector and
restruneluring of stale-owned enlerprises. aimed al
strengthening the compelitive seclor of the economy,

= atrengthening and creation ol linancial services and
instilutions, particularly those with activities oriented
toward small and medinm-sized enterprises,

* strenglthening ol infrastructure, with particular
concern for the needs of the privale seclor and hy
making uze of private entreprenenrship in inlrastruetore
development,

» environmental rehabilitation, and

= municipal services and development programmes.

Attention will be concentrated on investment
programmes of regional significance and on projects
that would benefit enterprises both from Hungary and
the Bank's other countries of aperations, The Bank will
consistently emphasize the catalytie nature of ils
operalions, [1s stralegic approach and cheice of
projects, for example, are expected 1o help create a
markel for external capital {lows o profitable

businesses in Hungary.

Privatization
A top priority of the Bank is 1o help strengthen the
competitive seclor of the economy. Specilically, the

Bank will emphasize investments which will make
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Hungarian companies more compelitive in world
markets. Various types ol transactions. including
restrueluring/ privalizalion of glale enlerprises,
modernizalionfeapacily expansion of privale companies

and green-lield joint ventures, will be consideread.

The Bank’s privatization and restructuring work will
cover the Tull spectrum ol stale assels. ineluding public
utilities and banks. The Bank will address these tnsks
by crealing or parlicipaling in institutions lo leverage
the Bank’s assislanee (2uch as equity unds) and
through divect adviee o, and debt and equily
investment in. enlerprises themselves, The Bank will
coordinate its activities with those of other institulions

involved in the area.

The Bank’s investment selection strategy will suppar
sound. market=driven initiatives and will a=sist the
private sector in its eflorts to identily and utilize market
opportunities, In addition to financial viabilily, a
number of other important selection erileria. notably.
the generalion of export earnings, acquisition of
husines= know-how, employmenl creation and the

development of entrepreneurial skills. are considered.

Financial sector

An important slrategic objective is o develop the
limanecial services industey and capital markets 10 mateh
the demands ol a market-driven economy. Particular
emphasis being placed on the needs of small and
medium-sized enterprises. The Bank will examine
vehicles such as credit lines o local intermediaries
commitled to providing long-term linaneing to local
clients. Bank support lor the creation of new linancial

institutions is also envisaged,



Project name Hungarlan Telecommunications
Sector Telecommunications
Type Loan

' Government guaranteet

PRARAANNRRR TR B

Funding ECU rmillion

European Banl lending 90.58
Antieipated syndicated lending (4]
European Bank committed* 90.88
Local funds 96,22
Total project investment 187.10
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The Bank is financing Hungarlan
Telecommunications’ ongomg modemization
antl expansion programme. Ol syslams,
sl being used, will be phased oul
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Hungary Bank invelvement

Infrastructure

Telecommunication and transportation infrastrnet res
are i nrgent need of upgrading and expansion. The
Bank will seek wosupport and expedite the
i||||||a--||n'||lulinn of curvent investmenl progranumnes in
cooperation with olher multilateral institutions, sueh as
the World Bank and the Enropean Investment Bank.
Privitle sector participation threugh Build. Operale andd
Transler (BOTY sehemes, or other similar mechanisms.

W ||| ill-‘i('l Ili" t'll('ﬂl?l'\'lgl‘(i.

Energy and environment

Cureenl energy policies envisage structural ehange and
tiversification ol enerey resonrees. Bank support in
various forms will he considered to help the gcovernment
sevure eneray supply, o promote energy conservation
andl energv-generating elliciency and 1o help ereate
entities suilable Tor privatization. The planned
integration of the power anid gas grids with those of
western Furope and the private sector involvement
being contemplated in power generation. in particulare

conld olfer interesting oppartunities for the Bank.

Envitsnmental considerations are an essential
component of all Bank operations. T the short tevm, the
Bank will aim o stem the deterioration of the
environment by adidressing environmental concerns on
a cnse-hiv-case basis, The longer term aljective is (o
restore and improve envivonmental conditions (through
privale seclor related environmental investiments and
olher meanst o provide sustainable cconomie

develupment,
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Municipal services

Local government= are plaving an inereasingly
inportant vole in the transition oo marked ceanmmy, As
assels are lranslerred Trom central govermment 1o loeal
administeations and a growing proportion of resourees
are managed al the loeal level, the role ol Toeal
government in providing amd implementing o fnmework
far privatization is expanding, Municipal development.
thevelore. i assigned a ligh priovity in the Bank’s

=lrtegy,

[ other sectors. sueh as toneisme health and housing
finanee. the Bank will seck investment opportunities.
consislent with ils u]wl'lllinlllﬂ miandates and overall

ohjectives, ona case-hy-case hasis,
Bank operations

Petdfi Nyomda Rt

T September the Bank approved ils liest privade seetar
loan of DM 1O million (ECU 491 million) to Persli
Nvomeda RL o packaging malerial manufacioring
company. o help finanee the mudernization of
praduction processes the expansion ol production
capacily and improvements lo product quality and
cuglomer services, The implementation of this
investment programme is expecled fo assi=t Hungarian
products, using Petili= upgeaded standards of
packaging. lo hecome more compelilive in weslern

Furopean markels.

Hungarian Telecommunication Company

The Bank also approved a loan of DM 185 million
(FCU 90.88 million) 1o support the Hungarian
Telecommunication Company’s ongoing modernization
anel expansion programme. The loan will linanee the

entive [oreign exchange compenenl of the Budapest



Project rame Microsystem Ri.

Sector Computer systams
Type Equity

Eauity investiment approvid
by the Eurcpean Bank
Total project Invastment

ECU million

2.24
6.71

Mr Ron Freerman, First Viee Prasident, Marchant
Banking (left), signing the equity subscription
agreament with tha managing diractar of

Microayalem R, Mr Péter Vaddsz

anel Village development praject which is an integenl
parl of HTCS tiree vear core development programme,
The ahjectives of the project. which is estimated 1o

costa lolal of ECU 187 million, are 1o improve the

aceessibility and the quality of lelecommunications
servives, as well as the efficiency of the
telecammunications system in Budapest and in selected
vural areas, The project design, whicl supports the
ilevelopment of a busic network necessary for
compelilive value added services, is also seen s
Laeilitarbng the future privatization of

lelecommunicalions services.

Hungary is also expected to benefit from the
NMB/EBRD Central Eurape Azeney Credil Line.
approved in Seplember, (See operations under Poland

for Turther details,)

Microsystem Rt
In December the Bank approved an equity investmenl

of Us$ 3 million (ECU 2.24 million) in Microsyelem RI.

i private Hungarian company engaged in assembly.
distribution and retailing ol office aulomation
equipment, The main ohjectives of this investment are
to catalyvze additional Tunding in the company from
international equily investors and to support an
indigenous company providing fundamental business
services Lo the public and privale sectors of 1the

econmny,
Technical assistance

The Bank’s 1echnical assistance operations in 1991
were geared mainly foward the linaneial and hanking
seclor, Technical assistance of ECU 76,400 was
provided with the aim of establishing an interbank Giro
clearing system which is ('\i|)[‘('|(-‘l| Lo slart ils operations

in April 1992,

Hif |':1ll'n|n';|ll Bank for Reconslitetion and |h'\\'|u|m\|‘|\|

[ the transport sector, technieal assistance of EGU

A52.100 was approved lor linancial advisory services

1o the Bureau of Concession Highways in connection
with pre=qualification and tendering for a private
conlractor Lo impl(-lm‘:]l i Coneession lligh\\ril_\‘ |n‘ul|'r-c‘l,
The Bank a

with the Gity of Budapest in arder to help identily and

so enlered into o partnership agreement

formulate o priovily investment programme for urban
andd environmental development. The volume of
technical assistance 1o he provided under this

agreement is estimated al ECU 610,000,

I the telecommunications sector. technical
assistanee of ECU 27.700 was commilled (o
undertake n prefeasibility =ty for the

Hungarian Telecammunications Company,

Resident office

Verangements are in hand Lo open o resident office in

Budapest during the lirst week of Mareh 1002,






Key facts

Area
(square kilometres) 312,685

Population
in millions (1989) 38

Sectoral shares in

total employment (1989}
Agriculture 27%
Industry 37%

Cars
per 1,000 inhabitants (1987) 74

Telephones

per 1,000 inhabitants (1987) 122

Infant mortality
per 1,000 live births (1988) 16

Life expectancy
in years (1989) 71

Eligible male labour
force participation (1980s) 83%

Eligibie female labour
force participation (1980s) 68%

Workforce with

secondary/higher education 29%

Estimated GDP per capita
(1990}, in US$ 4,000*

“See ‘measurement problems’ on page 33

Sources: OECD Secretariat

UN Economic Commission for Europe

European Bank estimates
PlanEcon

Poland

Country review

Political

Poland’s political reform began with
the birth of the Solidarity independent
trade union in 1980, under the
leadership of Lech Watesa, then an
electrician at the Gdarisk shipyard.
Ten years later, he was democratically

elected President of Poland.

In 1989, Solidarity intellectual
Tadeusz Mazowiecki formed Poland’s
and the region’s first non-communist
government since 1948. The
economic shock therapy applied by
that government, under the leadership
of Finance Minister Leszek
Balcerowicz, drew international
support but domestic eriticism that
not enough was being done to
miligate the social costs. This

debate continues.

Solidarity’s Jan Bielecki, a thirty-nine
year old economist, became Prime
Minister in January 1991, leading a
transitional government largely made
up of young technocrats, pending free,
multiparty democratic parliamentary
elections. These were delayed for
almost a year, whilst politicians
struggled with issues such as the
scope of presidential power and the

form of electoral law. During this time,

because, unlike the Sejm, the
President had been popularly elected,
1991 saw an enhancement of
presidential powers. Adopting a new
constitution which will define
presidential and parliamentary powers
is among the first tasks before the

new parliament.

During 1991, the Solidarity movement
split into three principal parties: the
Centre Alliance party, the Democratic
Union and the Liberal Democratic
party. Elements of the communist
party, which voted itself out of
existence in 1990, regrouped as the

Democratic Left.

Poland’s first free parliamentary
elections since World War IT were
held on 27 October 1991, There was
low voter turnout, and no single party
received more than 13 per cent of the
vote. The centre-left Democratic
Union came first and the Democratic
Left second. In the aftermath of these
inconclusive elections, five centrist
parties, including the Centre Alliance
and the Liberal Democrats, agreed to
participate in a government led by the
Centre Alliance’s Jan Olszewski, who
was appointed Prime Minister on 6
December 1991. The Olszewski
government indicated it would

modify economic reforms in response
to growing unemployment and

economic distress.
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In foreign policy, Poland sought in
1991 to strengthen relations within
Europe. The Polish government
signed an Association Agreement with
the EC in December 1991. Tt joined
the Council of Europe. With the CSFR
and Hungary, Poland signed the
Declaration of Visegrad expressing a
common commitment to overcome the
divisions of Europe and to cooperate
in establishing democracy and market
economies. Poland is a member of the
Hexagonale, comprising Austria, the
CSFR, Hungary, Italy and Yugoslavia.
Warsaw is the seat of a new CSCE unit

for the promotion of democracy.

Economic

1n 1991, Poland experienced severe
adjustment problems with a
deepening recession, falling real
incomes and mounting unemployment
as the effects of the economic
transformation programme, begun two
years earlier, continued to work their

way through the economy.

The weak performance of state-owned
enterprises, most of which had not
adapted to the newly-created
competitive environment, remained a
fundamental problem. In spite of a 14
per cent devaluation in May and a
strong increase in exports to EEC
countries, the trade balance turned

into deficit because of a higher level



Number of parllamentary seats

Results of alections in Octobar 1981
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The Bank is providing technical assistance to the
Polish Social Insurence Fund (ZUS) which (s in
need of urgent madarnization. New comauterized
liling systems will take over from the olg and
staffl training will all contribute to a moere effigient
nandling of claims and rent payments




Poland Bank involvement

Strategy

On 23 September 1991, the Board of Directors adopled
astrategy for the Bank’s work in Poland. The strategy
focused on the provision of technical and linancial
stpport for theee main activities:

= privatization and the restructuring of state-uwned
enterprises and hanks (as well as financial support for
selected privale enterprises in priovily sectors),

= madernization of the hanking and finaneial sectar in
general and the promotion of specialized lnancial
institutions and retail banking services. with particular
emphasis on the needs of the small and medivm-seale
seclor, anid

= environmental rehabilitation and environmentally-
oriented energy related programmes as well as support

Lo madernize, stabilize and privatize the energy sector.,

Privatization

The Bank’s short-term strategy in the area of
privatization and restructuring will emphasize activities
in the Tollowing areas:

= support for the establishment o local privatelv-owned
intermediaries,

* the establishment of private on-lending facilities with
reputable foreign commercial bhanks o distribute senior,
hard curveney debt ta qualilving companies,

# the provision of direct funding and technical
assislance for enterprises with good operating ratios and
capable management, and

= the provision of contractual technical assislance to
develop privatization and restrueturing plans for

selected large seale enterprises.
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In terms of direct promotion of the privale sector, in
addition to general. an going adviee and support to the
government on privale sector development, the Bank’s
initial foeus will be through:

= the direct provision of debl, and, on o case-hy-case
hasiz. quasi-equity o local enterprises with eredible
usiness plans, strong management and signilicant hard
CHITENeY earnings,

* the co-linancing ol foreizn direct investment (loans
and equity) transactions, particularly in the finaneial,
industrial, telecommunications and agriculiural

seclors, and

= the provision of adviee through mechanisms such s
the Polish Business Advisory Services (PBAS) 10
medinm-sized companies in formulating business plans,
ohtaining assistance 1o secure (inancing and accessing

management consulting services,

Financial sector

In the linancial sector, the Banks steategy will be
institution-oriented’, that is, the Bank will work closely
with foreign hanks and emerging local private banks 1o
encourage foreign joint ventures (with Bank
parlicipation) to upgrade the quality of banking
services, Support to public sector financial institutions
will also be considered provided that they are
commerciallv-oriented and that their ohjective is to

supporl a growing privale seclor.

The Bank may also hecome a participant in one or more
domestic investment banks and investment fundsz of
proven merit and potential, in partnership with foreign
andl local institutions. 1t will also assist in finaneing

nan-hank financial institutions,



Project name Bank of Poznah (WEBK)
Sector Distriet heating enterprises
Typa Loan

“Governmant guarantead

Funciing

Eurapaan Bank lending
Anticipated syndicated lending
European Bank committed’
Other lenders

Total lending

Cthar aguity investment

To be sourced

Total project investment

ECU milllan

37,29

37.29

29.83
67.12

67.12

Distriet heating control room and

pumping station




Palant Bank involvement

Environment

The Bank= approach in =upport of Polands
environmental programmes will foeus on the following
i dreas:

U supporl for poliey upgrading and the development

of wdecentralized envivonment management syslenm.
Eoimplementation ol the proposed debi=loe-cnyvironmen
swap fund (in this context the Bank will host an
nternational conferenee on this initiative inearly

| 002,

U linaneial support for regional enyvironment projecls
linked to Poland. e.e. Baltie sea. sulphur Trisngle” amd
Upper Silesia.

U finaneial supports theengh lending operations. G the
environmental priorities of the National Eovivonnental
Policy.

U linaneial support for the development of
environmental sood= and services industries in the
counlry,

totechmical assistance forenvivonmental protection

integrated i specilic projects, g wasle waler wisle

management. air pollution conteol and Tand veclamation.

Energy

In the energy secter the Bank’s operations will be
predominantly envivommentallv-oriented. 1t will support
the Tollowing:

t the establishiment of a markel=orentsd economy
through restruneturing of the energy seclor,

U reliable and stable energy supplies through ener
Prale diversilication,

U oregional integration.

toimprovement ol energy consumplion elliciency,

U promation of foreign investment, mid

U the establishment ol fntermationally aceepted

environmental standards and veduced pollution.
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Infrastructure

Severe problems and constraints existin inlrasirucinre,
Sinee telecommunications are crueial for the
Finetioning of @ market economy. the Bank will pay
particular attention to the (inaneial requirements of his
secton, L the transport sector, the Bank will focus on
those altempls o promote private sector padicipalion,
i particular theangh the use al finaneing technigques

stich as Build, Operate and Transfer (BOT) sehemes,

Apprapriate projects, os they emerge. will also he
considered on a case-byv=case basis in other important
sectors such as agriculture and agro-industey, housing,

mnieipal and ueban development, health oarisn and

f

education, Training will be integral 1o the Bank®s

stralegie .U,FI')I‘H:I(‘II. |)u|‘li('|_| .:1|'|.\' inconnection with
finaneial zectar relorms and the management of
preivatized companies which do not vet possess the

necessary shills o operate in o markel eovirenment,
Bank operations

Bank of Poznah

On 25 ‘lllnt-' 1991, the Bank ¢l|||)|‘t)\r't] i [iest loan of
L= S0 million (KCU 37.29 million) ta the Bank of
Poznan (W BK) for on=lending to several healing
enterprises and other enterprises with privatization
patential involved i the produetion and sale of heat
and steam, The ohjectives ol the project supported by
the Toan, with parallel co-finaneing by the World Bank.,
are Lo support e implementation of a eomprehensive
heating sector resteaeturing prograiimes extend the 1l
al existing asset= trough vehabilitation and the
introdaction of moderm lechnologies: eneourage eneray

conservalion: and reduce environmental pollution,



A Polish waste water treatment plant.

The Bank is advising on investment programme
praparations for wasate water callection and
treatment, and clean water supply In a number of
Polish cities




Project name Lodom
Sector Cold storage

Type Loan

Funding ECU million
European Bank lending 1.64
Anticipated syndicated lending [¢]
European Bank committed 1.64
Other lenders 4.62
Total lending 6.26
Other equity investment 4.47
To be sourced 0
Total project investment 10.73

Project name Polska Telefonia Komérkowa
Sector Cellular telephones

Type Loan

Funding ECU million
European Bank lending 29.83
Anticipated syndicated lending 14.92
European Bank committed 44.75
Other lenders 0
Total lending 44.75
Other equity investment 22.37
To be sourced 67.12
Total project cost 134.24
Project name NMB/EBRD

Central European Agency Line

Type Line of credit

Funding ECU million
European Bank committed 29.83
NMB committed 44.75
Total line of credit 74.58

Poland Bank involvement

Lodom

On 26 November 1991, the Bank approved a loan of
US$ 2.2 million (ECU 1.64 million) to Lodom, a Polish
joint venture created to build and operate a cold storage
facility in Szczecin. Lodom is a joint venture between
the Polish American Enterprise Fund, Mostostal Panel
Company, a Polish-US joint venture, and
Przedsiebiorstwo Rolno-Przemystowe w Szczecinie,

a Polish government-owned company on the

verge of privatization.

Polska Telefonia Komérkowa (PTK)

On 26 November 1991, the Bank approved a loan of
US$ 60 million (ECU 44.75 million) to Polska Telefonia
Komérkowa (PTK), a Polish joint venture created to
build and operate a countrywide cellular telephone
network. The loan will help finance the construction

of an NMT 450 cellular network and the purchase

of network equipment. Other lenders will be invited to
participate in the loan. The partners in the joint venture
company, which is expected to be fully operational by
mid-1992, are: the Polish PTT, France Telecom Mobiles

International, and Ameritech International.

NMB/EBRD Central European Agency Line

It is anticipated that Poland will be a major beneficiary
under the NMB/EBRD joint agency line of credit,
approved on 24 September 1991, to finance small and
medium-sized enterprises in central and eastern
Europe. The Bank is prepared to commit up to US$ 40
million (ECU 29.83 million) and NMB Bank Postbank
Groep NV is prepared to absorb US$ 60 million (ECU
44.75 million) of the total agency line of US$ 100
million (ECU 74.58 million). The facility is intended to
give small and medium-sized enterprises access to the
services of this Dutch bank in central and eastern

European countries where it has operating branches

95 European Bank for Reconstruction and Development

or subsidiaries. It is also intended to attract additional
international credit resources and to assist in the

creation of employment.

IBG Food Processing

On 18 December 1991, the Bank also approved a loan
of DM 10.7 million (ECU 5.26 million) for Janofrost,
Krespol and Kujawy-Frost, three Polish joint ventures
created to build, equip and operate food processing and
cold storage facilities. Each joint venture involves the
Industriebeteiligungs GmbH (IBG) of Austria.

Technical assistance

The following principal technical assistance operations
were approved in 1991:

= Consultancy assistance to the Ministry of Finance

to help formulate the detailed structure of a deposit
insurance system. European Bank financing totals ECU
153,800.

= Investment programme preparations for waste water
collection and treatment, including sludges, and clean
water supply for the city of Gdarsk, for a total of ECU
115,000.

= Polish social security seminar identification study
(ECU 48,600).

* In conjunction with the IFC, the Bank set up the
Polish Business Advisory Service (PBAS). The PBAS
provides financial and business advice and services to
the medium-sized business sector in Poland. The Bank
has committed ECU 2,200,000 to this project.

* Feasibility study for Polish Mutual Fund for
privatization (ECU 55,800 committed).

®= Advice on restructuring of textile company in £.6dz
(ECU 2,400 committed).



Poland Bank Involvemant
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lanofrost, Krespal and Kujawy Frost (IBG Faod

Preceasing project)

The Bank also |n'l-\i1h'<| a==islunee (o the \]ini-cll"\
ol Privalizalion \I]l'rn\l;;h [y proy ston al five

l-:i'_\ ;It‘\ir-ul'_\ |)ur~i\inlk.\ [0 Taeililale the Miui-.ll'_\-.-c
mandate Lo carry Torward the ransformation

ol the counley’s economy Lo privale enterprise.
Funding will be provided under the 15C PHARE

Progranime.

Resident office

The Bank’s vesitlent ollice in Polamd will De aperalional
frenm 15 January 19920 a1 the LIM Centre-Marrioll,
Room 15140 AL Jerozolimskie 653/79. 00-097 Warsaw.
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Key facts

Area
(square kilometres) 237,500

Population
in millions (1989) 23

Sectoral shares in

total employment (1989)
Agriculture 28%
Industry 45%

Cars
per 1,000 inhabitants (1987) 11

Telephones
per 1,000 inhabitants (1987) 111

Infant mortality
per 1,000 live births (1988) 25

Life expectancy
in years (1989) 69

Eligible male labour
force participation {1980s) 83%

Eligible female labour
force participation (1980s) 68%

Estimated GDP per capita
(1990), in US$ 3,000*

*See ‘measurement problems’ on page 33

Sources: OECD Secretariat

UN Economic Commission for Europe
European Bank estimates
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Romania

Country review

Political

Romania endured one of the harshest
totalitarian regimes for many years.
Because central control was so
extreme, the effort required to achieve
radical change is greater than in other
central and eastern European
countries. Nonetheless, in 1991, the
international community judged that
Romania’s progress toward democracy
and a market-based economy was
sufficient to warrant substantial
economic assistance. The Romanian
parliament passed a comprehensive
and ambitious privatization law, a
liberalized foreign investment law and
a land reform law. A violent miners’
protest against the impact of economic
reforms provoked the resignation

of Prime Minister Petre Roman’s
National Salvation Front (NSF)
government in September 1991.
Prime Minister Teodor Stolojan, an
independent who took office in
October, continued to pursue
economic liberalization. The new
cabinet included other independents
and representatives of the main
political parties. New elections are

planned for spring 1992.

The new Constitution of Romania, on
which international constitutional law

experts advised, was agreed late in

1991. 1t provides for a range of
democratic rights, including freedom
of conscience and religion, expression
and the press. Group and minority
rights are formally guaranteed but the
Hungarian ethnic minority in
Transylvania continues to have strong
reservations about the extent to which
these rights will be safeguarded

in practice.

More than 200 Romanian political
parties and organizations were active
in 1991. The NSF and a number of
opposition parties signed the
multiparty Charter for Reform and
Democracy in June 1991. Strong
differences between the NSF reform
and conservative factions point

to the possibility of an NSF split in

the future.

Trade unions are now autonomous but
fragmented. A growing number of
Romanian societies and associations
are also emerging and beginning to
influence public opinion. Freedom of
the press is generally respected, but
the media are constrained by
economic difficulties. There are
efforts by the opposition to set up a
privately-owned TV channel as an

alternative to the state service.

The government’s foreign policy
objective in 1991 was to reintegrate

Romania into European political life.
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Romania signed the Cultural
Convention of the Council of Europe,
which may lead to future membership
of the Council. Romania also played a

very constructive role as a member of

the UN Security Council in 1990-91.
Economic

In 1991, Romania continued to
suffer from declining output, rising
unemployment, and falling real
income. Real GDP is estimated to
have declined by around 10 per cent
following a drop of about 15 per cent
over the previous two years. The rise
in registered unemployment, to 3.5
per cent, does not reflect demand
conditions as companies were
pressured by trade unions to maintain
employment. The OECD has
estimated 6 per cent to be a more
plausible figure of underlying

unemployment.

Prices are estimated to have risen on
average by 160 per cent in 1991.
Attempts to recover part of the real
wage loss led to substantial wage
increases, which fuelled inflation.
External accounts showed no
improvement despite repeated
devaluations of the currency. Exports
declined by 10 per cent and current

account deficit was estimated to

be US$ 2.4 billion.



Number of parllamentary soats

ns in May 1990

Resulls of ol

1 National Salvation Frant 233

2 National Liberals zs

+ Democratic Hungarian Union 2
4 Mational Peasants 12

n Greens 1z

v Others 81

The government haos steadhistly

maintained its relorm course, despile

Hie Ll dis veal fneome and

pronouvced shortuges of cerlain ilems

cotmmoddilies,

E'j“ “HH] i|||l| ('”l("‘ hi
Prives were liberalized progressively
bewinning Oviaher 1990, and prive
control= now only remain for goods
representing about 200 per cenl of
oty o the markel. comprising
mining products and basic consumer
soudd=. The authorities introduced full
internal convertibility of the curreney,

with elfect from 11 November 1091,

Rapid progres= has heen made in
creating the legislative framework
for a deventralized market=hased
(nancial sysletn |"(|Hn|\\in|\_ﬂ, 1he
intraduction of the two=tier hanking
system in February 1990, Laws

EOVETING the centeal bank and

commercial banks were enacted in
April 1991 aned bankrupiey Taws have
Been dealted and were pending

consideration by parliament.

\ comprehensive privatization luw
was passed in Augnst 1991,
Ownership will be divided fnto private
andl pll!i“l' lands fna vatio of %10 7.

where private ownership will he given

to eilizens and nanager 1|l|‘m1;.';|l

findls. aned the publie shave will be

estimate

1988 1989 1990 1981
GDF at constant prices hinge) 0.5 5.8 7.4 10.0
Unemployment as % of labour force - - 2.0 6.0
Ganaral government balanca (% of GDP) 5 8.4 0.6 -
Consumer pri % r;I1;\||i<|':]‘ 2.2 1.1 8.1 160.0
Units dof currency per US$ (and-year) 14.0 14.0 35.0 189.0
External current accaunt (USSH million) 3625.0 2864.0 1650.0 -2400.0
Gros ainal debt
(% of exports of goods antl servicas)’ 263 255 49.4 -

Selected economic indicators for Romania
W

at the frae peasant marke

of goods and services sald by state enterprises and coaperatives and prices

ted Bverage of prices

hrough end-1990; cpl for 18991 ' End-yaar, convertibla currencies only
netes nol available

Saurces! Data provided By national authorities and European Bank estimatas

controlled by the state Ownership Land has been decraded throngh

Fund, A number of companies will e mining. poor waste dizposal
privatizedd separately, preceding the (espeeinlly ol hagardous wasie)
gencral privatization process, andd agriculture, There has been
witdespread soil evosion. and

cealogical and farming resources have

I agriculivre, which emplovs
cent of the total populadion, been loxl as a resull ol ploughing, The
privatization started early in 199] condition of forests is congidered
under the Land Reform Law. Alioul 16 e geonseds bt is deteriorating around
five million people have heen heavily industvialized arca<,
registered for veturm of land thes
ariginallv oswned. 11 is expeeted thal The lack of an cuvivonmental
T0 pervent of agriculiural land will management svslen logether wilh
be privatized hy the end of 1992, adequate institutions and regulatory
instrtmenls. is one of Romanias
However, vestructuring of stale mo=l pressing problems.
enterprises is proving to he diflienlt.

Shortages ol enerey and raw materials

and continued lack of aceess 1o

[oreign linnneing hindered atempis o

restructure, Despile a liberal regime

[or foreien direct investment

aned o 2leadily vising number ol joind

ventures, loreign capital inflows

were Limiled.

Environmental

The limited quality and quantits
ol data available tndivate that
envitonmental degradation in
Romania resuli= botl from heavy
industey operating with limited
[m”llli(lll comtrol and from

high intensily agriculture, careied
oul without the benefits of

cuviconmental N gement.
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Romania Bank involvement

Strategy

The Bank’s initial strategy on Romania was endorsed
by the Board of Directors on 28 October 1991. It will

focus on the following:

Main priorities

= privatization and restructuring of state-owned
enterprises and promotion of small business
development,

= financial sector reform and bank restructuring,

= infrastructure development, including transport,
telecommunications and the rehabilitation of energy
production and distribution, and

= agriculture support services and the financing of

agricultural inputs and implements.

Other possible operations
= environmental protection and rehabilitation, and

= municipal development.

Privatization and enterprise restructuring

The Romanian government is making significant
progress in developing a new legislative and
institutional framework for a market driven economy
based on private ownership of productive capacity. The
Bank expects to participate in the privatization process
both through ongoing technical assistance to the
National Agency for Privatization (NAP) and, in due
course, through assistance to and participation in

specific privatization transactions.

Financial sector reform and bank restructuring
Considerable technical assistance is required urgently
to develop the systems and skills necessary for an
efficient financial system. In particular, supervisory and

regulatory bodies need to be strengthened to ensure that
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the financial sector develops in a prudent and
transparent manner. In the near term, therefore, the
Bank’s activities will focus on technical assistance in
the financial sector in an effort to promote or hasten
the advent of conditions which will support a
broader programme of loans to and investments in

financial institutions.

Infrastructure

Transport The Bank, in its efforts to integrate central
and eastern European countries with the international
economy, can assist with the realization of Romania’s
transport arteries. In the process, the Bank would also
be able to assist with the policy framework to move

the transport sector toward a market-oriented structure
with increased private participation in the delivery

of transport services.

The Bank’s overall transport sector strategy will be to
support:

* the development of inter-European transport arteries,
= the gradual elimination of domestic transport
bottlenecks, and

= the streamlining of the legislative framework to

achieve an efficiently functioning transport system.

Energy

The present energy policy in Romania aims to restore
oil and gas production and to put greater emphasis on
energy efficiency as part of the transition to a market
economy. The new policy will seek to curb declining
domestic production while improving the overall

management of each energy subsector.



The Danube Dalta has been declared a
Blosphere Reserve by the Romanian
Government and has also boen declared a

World Heritage site and Louriam

The Bank’s priorities would provide support to:

= establish a market-oriented energy seetor which,
through its physical restructuring and a phased pricing
reform. is more specifically related 1o the country’™s
condition= and costs,

= improve the efliciency with which energy is
produced. distributed and used. partly through
enhancement of existing lacilities for turhine aned
generation production, and the improvement ol
managemenl praclices,

= promole regional integration. ineluding the
development of gas pipelines and the interconnection
of the Romanian electricity grid (o western networks,
and

= 1o enhance enviconmental standards and reduee
pallution through specific measures including the

promotion of European safety standards,

Agriculture

The Bank has identified agriculture as the sector mos|
rapidly adopting a predominately private sector
clhiaracter, driven imereasingly by markel mechanisms.
[ k= expected that substantial inereases in agriculiural
productivity ean be obtaimed i a relatively short period
ol tine now that most arable land is privately owned,

A number of constraints need Lo he addressed as a
maller of priority in order 1o bring the results ol this
large-seale privatization lo fruition. The Bank could
provice assistance to the private sector in order Lo ;

= improve marketing and distribution of agricultural
produce,

= expand transport and slorage lacilities. in particular,
cold slorage.

s assist small Tarms and private producers through

privately owned mechanization services, and
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The Bark will Investigate nvestment neecs n
the aconomically important and

enviranmentally sensitive araas of lisheries

= dmprove aceess o cammercial eredit through
the provision of an agriculiural eredit line 1o a suitable

linancial intermediary.

Environment

The degree of environmental degradation in Romania is
such thut. 1o be elfective, any intervention must tackle
the problems in an integrated mamer, This would
requine the ll('\ft.'|n|)rm'.|‘|1 |:y the government. assizled |1y
the Bank il requested. of an envivommental management
system that fully adopts international standards and
would inelude:

= development of an enviconmental strategy for the
country as parl of the averall ecanomie progranme,

* design o asystem for environmental protection and
financing of environmental projecis,

= eslablishment of environmental standards and the
framework for monitoring and enforeing these
standards,

= industrial envivonmental audits us part ol an
investment package that the Bank might underake,

= waler quality management, ane

= an air pollution control programme for the power
sector, Tor chemical and petrochemical industries and

[or the mining sector,

Bank operations

Rom Telecom

On 16 December 1991, the Bank approved a loan of
ECU 142 million equivalent. in various eurrencies. 1o
Rom Telecom (RTY with Romania as a guavantor, The
investment ohjecetives are o enable the
telecommunications sector to play its role in the overall
reform and development of the Romanian market
veonomy, Specilically, the project will provide efficient

andd effective lelecommunications serviees, starting with



Project name Rom Telecom
Sector Telecommunications

Type Loan

Funding ECU million
European Bank lending 142.00
Anticipated syndicated lending 0
European Bank committed* 142.00
Other lenders 406.80
Total lending 548.80
Other equity investment 0
To be sourced 0
Total project investment 548.80

*Government guaranteed

Project name GEC Alsthom IMGB
Sector Power generating equipment

Type Loan

Funding ECU million
European Bank lending 23.00
Anticipated syndicated lending 0
European Bank committed 23.00
Other lenders 0
Total lending 23.00
Other equity investment 125.70
To be sourced 0
Total project investment 148.70

Romania Bank invelvement

selected investments designed to relieve the overall
system congestion and to achieve a rapid improvement
in telecommunications services for business
subscribers. At the same time, the project seeks to
facilitate the transformation of the newly established
RT into an autonomous commercial organization which

could be readily privatized.

The project comprises:

* construction of a long-distance overlay digital
network, together with the expansion of international
capacity and provision of local networks capable of
connecting 600,000 new subscribers to these

new facilities, and the replacement of 400,000 worn
out lines,

* technical assistance for measures to improve the
management, efficiency and financial performance

of RT.

GEC Alsthom/IMGB joint venture

On 18 December 1991 the Bank committed loan
finance of ECU 23 million over two phases to a newly
established joint venture between GEC Alsthom Group
(GEC Alsthom) and Inireprinderea de Masini Grele
Bucruesti (IMGB), a Romanian heavy equipment
manufacturer. The joint venture will apply the
technology and management expertise of GEC Alsthom
to the rehabilitation of existing IMGB plant, which is
operating currently at less than half of its full
production capacity. The plant will produce high quality
turbines, generators and condensers for power stations.
A significant proportion of its product will go toward the
rehabilitation of the electrical generation capacity of the
Romanian electrical utility RENEL which, itself, is
operating significantly below capacity. Increased
domestic electrical production would have major hard

currency and economic benefits for Romania.
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Technical assistance

The Bank has assisted the National Agency for
Privatization in implementing its programme of ‘early
privatization’ by helping to design terms of reference
and to select consultants for the preparation of:

* detailed guidelines and procedures for the sale of
shares and assets to ensure transparent and fair
implementation of the Privatization Law (58/1991),

= alist of 30 companies to be sold as well as a list of
assets, and

* a standard methodology and criteria for the
evaluation of privatization proposals and for the sale

of assets.

In conjunction with the loan to Rom Telecom, the Bank
has also provided technical assistance concerning
sectoral development and commercialization of Rom
Telecom. Financing for two technical assistance

projects totalled ECU 595,300.
Resident office

Discussions to secure premises for a resident office are

at an exploratory stage.






Key facts

Area
(square kilometres) 22,400,000

Population
in millions (1989) 286

Sectoral shares in

total employment {1989)
Agriculture 19%

Industry 39%

Cars
per 1,000 inhabitants (1987) 50

Telephones
per 1,000 inhabitants (1987) 124

Infant mortality
per 1,000 live births (1988) 25

Life expectancy
in years (1989) 70

Eligible male labour
force participation (1980s) 81%

Eligible female labour
force participation (1980s) 73%

Workforce with
secondary/higher education 27%

Estimated GDP per capita
(1990), in US$ 5,000"

*See ‘measurement problems’ on page 33

Sources: OECD Secretariat

UN Economic Commission for Europe

European Bank estimates
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USSR

Country review

Political

1991 was the most turbulent and the
last year in the USSR’s history. When
Mikhail Gorbachev became General
Secretary of the Communist Party of
the USSR in March 1985, he
launched a reform process called
perestrotka which envisaged a radical
reshaping of the existing command
system while strengthening both the
USSR and socialism. Under the
slogan of glasnost, the policies of
Stalin and other previous leaders of
the country were subjected to fierce
criticism, political prisoners were
released and religious freedom

greatly extended.

As the events of the second half of
1991 demonstrated, the initial
reforms, such as the revision of the
1977 Constitution, which opened the
way to multiparty democracy,
unleashed new forces. Hardliners

in the Soviet leadership grew
increasingly alarmed at emerging
threats to the unity of the country. On
19 August 1991, they staged a coup
d’état which quickly failed.

The changes in the political
environment were so far-reaching that
they hastened the demise of the

communist system, including the

Communist Party. The role of the
Union was rejected in the light of the
nationalist aspirations of some
republics. All three Baltic States
formally declared independence and
the restoration of their sovereignty

was internationally recognized.

The dismantling of the USSR began
formally on 2 September 1991, when
Gorbachev and the leaders of 10
Union republics declared their
intention to create a confederation in
which each republic would define

independently its participation.

There followed several attempts to
preserve the Union in some form by
means of an economic agreement and

a political union treaty.

However, in the last months of 1991,
the disintegration of the centre was
hastened by the severely deteriorating
economic and social situation.
Ukraine voted overwhelmingly for full
independence. It then joined with
Russia and Belarus in signing an
agreement in Minsk on 8 December
1991 to establish a Commonwealth of
Independent States (CIS).

By the end of the year, 11 of the 12
remaining republics (Georgia being
the exception) had signed the Minsk
Agreement. On 26 December 1991, a
day after President Gorbachev
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resigned, the last session of the
Council of the Union of the Supreme

Soviet adopted a formal declaration on

the dissolution of the USSR.

The Agreement establishing the CIS
included the commitment of member
states to the goals and objectives of
the Charter of the United Nations,
Helsinki Final Act and to other CSCE
documents, to equal rights and
freedom to their citizens, respect for
territorial integrity and freedom of
cross-boundary movement. Members
also undertook to retain a united
command of common military
strategic space and joint conirol of
nuclear weapons. Coordination of
foreign policy, the development of a
common economic space, cooperation
in environmental protection and the
fight against organized crime were
identified as falling under the joint

competence of the CIS.

The creation of the CIS allayed the
immediate threat of violence. By the
end of 1991, several republics had
gained widespread international
recognition of their independence.
There is still reason to fear, however,
that if democratic forces fail to act
rapidly and effectively, the public
mood might turn from frustration to
despair. In that event, the euphoria of

the August victory might turn into



chaos or dictatorship. Future
prospects depend upon the political

will of those concerned.

Economic

In 1991, all the macroeconomic
performance indicators of the Soviet
economy deteriorated to an
unprecedented extent. The steep
recession was coupled with the
breakdown of the financial and
monetary system. The consolidated
Union-Republican budget deficit
exceeded 20 per cent of GNP, and the
growth of wages and the money supply
got out of control, with the combined
result that galloping inflation was
already close to hyperinflation by the
end of 1991. A further indication of
this trend was the erosion of the
rouble’s purchasing power. lts auction
rate fell from R1 22 1o 25 per US$ in
January 1991, to R1 100 - 110 in
November and to Rl 140 - 150 in
December 1991.

Foreign trade plummeted, especially
with the former CMEA partners,
following the switchover to a hard
currency payment system effective
from 1 January 1991. (In the first
three quarters of 1991, Soviet exports
to ex-CMEA countries declined by
56.8 per cent and imports declined by
60 per cent). Debt service

requirements and government and
commercial loan principal and
interest, amounted to US$ 4.5 billion
at year end 1991. Despite the debt
deferrals agreed on with both official
and private creditors, the successor
states of the USSR faced a deepening
balance of payments crisis, with
official foreign exchange reserves
depleted 1o a level of US$ 105 million
by mid-December.

In late October 1991, a programme
of drastic economic reforms was
undertaken by the Russian
Federation. This Polish-type shock
therapy programme envisaging harsh
macroeconomic stabilization measures
and a swift transition to a market-
based economy meant a drastic
change in the reform process of the
Soviet economy. Price liberalization -
the cornerstone of the stabilization
and reform package - was planned to
be launched on 2 January 1992, and
would force a growing number of the

other former republies to follow suit.

The unilateral Russian reform steps
were partially motivated by the
impracticability of rapid and
coordinated reforms within the
framework of the Treaty on Economic
Community. The CIS was created in
order to prevent the possible
catastrophic consequences of

complete disintegration.

GNP at constant prices (% change)
Unemployment as % of labour force*
Consolidated budget balance (% of GDP)
Consumer prices (% change)

Units domestic currency per US$ (end-year)**
External current account (US$ billion)

Gross external debt

{% of exports of goods and services)

ok

for the USSR

estimate

1988 1989 1990 1991
5.50 3.00 -2.00 12.00
0 0 0 0
10.30 10.00 6.10 20.00
0.50 2.00 5.30 91.00
0.61 0.63 0.77 1.75
1.67 -3.30 -2.90 5.00
118.1 144.8 144.1 177.1

* Officially registered unemployment **Official commercial exchange rate

*** End-year, convertible currencies only

Sources: The Institute of International Finance and Goskomstat

Environmental

The former Soviet Union suffers from
widespread pollution and
environmental degradation, depletion
of natural resources, poor or non-
existent environmental management
practices in indusiry and from the
effects of environmental accidents.
Since the Chernobyl accident, the
effects of which are still being
studied, the safety aspects of Soviet-
designed nuclear power plants have
come under increased scrutiny. Here,
however, as in other environmental
areas, there is a pervasive lack of
environmental information and

accurate data.

It is estimated that 62 million tonnes
of primary air pollutants are produced
by industry and 36 million tonnes by

mobile sources each year.

Water pollution is widespread and
results from excessive use of
chemicals in agriculture (pesticides
and fertilizers), from industrial waste
water and from the lack of municipal

waste water treatment plants.

Although no data exist on hazardous
waste, it is estimated that more than

20 million tonnes of hazardous waste
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are produced each year (more than
that of the entire European

Community).

Health risks from environmental
sources are estimated to be 10-100
per cent above World Health
Organization acceptable levels.
Chronic cancer risks for the average
person in some 68 cities exceed
typical OECD norms by a factor of
roughly 100.



To support financial infrastructure (n these
emerging economies, the Bank has provided
assistance in the formation of a network of
schools for training In finance, banking and
antarprise management, The first schools will be
aperational In 5t Petersburg and Moscow
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USSR Bank involvement

Action plan

Due 1o the inereased instability and unpredictahility of
the: Tormer USSR political, economic and sacial
siluation, the Board decided not to endorse a long term
strategy in 1991 The Board approved a shorl term
Action Plan for the Tormer Soviet Union al its meeting
on 4 Seplember 1991, In addition 1o the Bank’s seneral
objectives, the main considerations and goals of the
Action Plan were 1oz

= comply with the specilic provisions of the Agreenent
Establishing the Bank.

= aelidress vilal areas in the transition (o o market-hased
economy which respond 1o the most urgent reform needs
andd are. al the same time, largely independent of the
general political and economic instability,

= [ocus initial operations on lechnical assistance,
combined with some loan and equity participation 1o
help establish private sector institutions and develop
infrasteuctures conducive to a markel economy,

= ensure close cooperation with the IME. World Bank.,
G and the OECD in the dilferent areas of assistance Lo
be provided o the former USSR,

= implement a balanced approach in providing
assislance lo various levels of governments and
difTerent geographical areas,

= concentrale Bunk aperations in the former USSH on
areas where the Bank can mosl effeclively utilize is
own resourees, as well as grant linance available
through Technical Assistance Cooperation Funds and
thraugh co-linancing arrangements. and

= maintain fexibility and openness of the Bank’s
programme in order 1o be able to adapt 1o the swiflly

changing circumslances,
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On the basis of the above eriteria and considerations.
the short term Action Plan identified the following

Priorily areas:

Privatization and enterprise promotion

The Bank will provide assistance for privatization and
cnterprise promotion through advisory assistance and
training. Advisory assistance is (o be directed toward
the government of the republics and the municipalities.
11 i also 1o he |)l'uvi||c:l.| Lo several slate enterprises
which are introducing modern management techniques
and are in the process of corporatization. Privatization
training has two major aspects, A series of privatizalion
course is heing designed o provide training for
privatization managers, both in the republics and
abiroad, The establishment of o permanent privatization

lraining institute is envisaged,

Financial sector

Bank assistance to the linancial sector will focus on the
commercial banking, the securities markets and the
instranee industey, each of which is seriously inhibiting

the development of the ledgling linancial seclor,

Agricultural distribution

The Banks Action Plan includes three pilot projects for
the ereation of whalesale markets with upgraded
storage. [ood-processing and transport facilities in the
rural regions surrounding Moszcow and St Pelershurg.
These pilot projects are intended 1o provide the
necessary experience o permit the subsequent

establishment of a wider network of wholesale markets.

Energy
The Bank’s aperations in this sector will be consistent
with the European Energy Charter and will faens on

projects and programmes which produce immediate



Project name Enhanced Digital Network
Sector Teleecommunigations
Type Loan

Funding

European Bank lending,
Anticipated syndicated lending
European Bank committed
Other lenders

Tatal lending

Qther eouity investment

To be sourced

Total project Invastment

ECU millizn

3,58
1.27
4.85
0
4.85
5.44
0
10.29

A number of business centres end hatels have
bean connectad using the Enhanced Digital
Metwork intemational gateway switeh allowing
first class international telecommunications,
essential for business. The Bank is helping to
finance the installation and operation

of this system




Project name Parker Drilling
Sector Drilling company in Siberia

Type Loan

Funding ECU million
European Bank lending 5.04
Anticipated syndicated lending 4.24
European Bank committed 9.28
Other lenders ¢}
Total lending 9.28
Other equity investment 5.15
To be sourced 0
Total project investment 14.43

USSR Bank involvement

hard currency earnings or address vital safety issues.
The Bank’s priorities are to finance and to stimulate
private investments in projects in the oil and gas sector.
The Bank’s technical assistance programme is aimed
principally at implementing improvements in the
management of production and distribution, and
compliance with environmental and nuclear power

generation safety standards.
Bank operations

The Bank’s efforts focused on the provision of loans
rather than upon equity participation and guarantees.
Nevertheless, equity is destined to become an

increasingly significant instrument in 1992.

Parker drilling company

A US$ 12.5 million (ECU 9.28 million) loan was
agreed to finance the construction and operation of
three drilling rigs in western Siberia by a company to
be formed as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parker
Drilling Company, a US coniract drilling company. The
subsidiary of Parker Drilling Company, is to operate the
rigs under coniract for White Nights Joint Enterprises,
which is currently producing around 25,000 barrels of
oil per day and thereby generating substantial hard
currency revenues. The three additional drilling rigs
and other modem oilfield services are expected to

boost production to 150,000 barrels a day.

Enhanced Digital Network

A loan of US$ 6.5 million (ECU 4.85 million) was
approved to Enhanced Digital Network (EDN), a
Russian telecommunications company, to finance the
installation and operation of an enhanced international
digital telecommunications system in the Moscow area.

Commercial banks will be invited to participate in the
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loan. Under the name of SOVINTEL, EDN will operate
a telecommunications system providing high quality,
direct-dial international voice, data and facsimile
transmission services to Moscow hotels and business
centres. Entirely separate from the present Soviet
international system, it will be the among the first of

its kind in the republics.
Technical assistance

Technical assistance programmes are in preparation
and underway in the following fields: privatization,
financial sector, agricultural distribution system and
municipal services and general policy advice in areas

requested by the Russian government.

Privatization

Moscow Municipality privatization programme

The Bank signed an agreement on 24 May 1991, to act
as the lead adviser on privatization for the Moscow City
Municipality to execute the Initial Technical Assistance
Programme (ITAP), a pilot privatization programme
designed to formulate advice on privatization methods
and to identify sectors and enterprises for early
privatization. Advice on legislative policy has been
given and a list of enterprises for pilot privatization has
been finalized (ECU 1,230,000 committed).

St Petersburg Municipality privatization programme
On 22 October 1991, the Bank signed an agreement
with the St Petersburg Municipality to be the lead
adviser on privatization. The programme of assistance
will comprise:

= general advice on privatization,

* development of a pilot privatization programme,

= establishment of a privatization database, and

= establishment of a foreign investors’ centre.



The Bank is advising Moscow Clty Municlnality
on privatization using experience gained from
helping carry out pllat transactions

Following the signing ol an agreemenl with the Russian
suvernment on 24 May 1991, the Bunk delivered core
assizlance in supporl of the Republic’s privatizalion
programme. irst tasks included: a review of Russian
privatization legislation. a practical delinition of the
privatizalion programme (e.g. methods. enterprise
selection) and the identilication ol enterprises for direct

foreign investment (ECU 914,000 commilled).

Development of lechnical privatization manneals and
Joreign investors” guidelines The manuals will Tacilitale
the process of transformation of enterprises lo joint-
slock companies and the process of small-scale

privatization,

Assislance will be given toward the establishment of
an international school for business management and
privatization, including the training of gtafl, eurrieulum
desicn and logiztical support (ECL 1,000,000

commilted).

A Furopean Bank/UNDP symposiom on small
husiness development will cover the design of policies
to promote small and medium-sized enterprises,
institution building and development support systems.
and mechanisms 1o secure national and international

cooperation Lo enhance the performance of enterprizes,

Financial sector development

Assistance will be given toward the establishment of
an international school of linance and hanking Lo train
professionals in all major aspects of commercial
hanking, central banking, insurance and the securilies
market. Assistance will al=o be given 1o seven olher
Lanking schools in the republics (ECU 2,300,000

commitled).
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Technical adviee will be given to suppart the
development of the government securities markel (ECL
TA00 committed). Financial markets training will be
pravided to senior olficers from the Minisivy of Finanee
aind [rom the Central Bank of Russia. Assistance will he
given Lo supporl raining, regulations and rules for
aperations and automation and computerization for the
Stock Exchange. The lechnical assistance programme
will help 1o develop the legislative environment and

iraining for the insurance industry,

Agricultural distribution

A pre-leasibility study was undertaken o examine the
major constraints on ageicultural disteibution, markeling
and pricing. A number of detailed feasibility studies
will focus on specific key aveas, A feasibility study

for a pilol wholesale markel, stovage development and
training, lor the Moscow Municipality, the Moscow

Region and SEPelershung is in preparation,

Municipal services

Agreement was reached with Moscow Cily governmenl
te comduet a feasibility study for improvements in the
solid waste disposal system. Discussions ave being held
with the St Petersburg eily authorities to linalize details
lor o technical assislance programme 1o upgrade 1he
citvs waler supply and waste disposal systems and 1o

improve the energy elliciency of urhan heating systems,
Resident office

The Bank is planning to establish a vesident olfice in

Moseow by April 1992,






Key facts

Area

(square kilometres) 255,804

Population
in millions (1989) 24

Infant mortality
per 1,000 live births (1988) 9

Life expectancy
in years (1989) 71.5

Estimated GDP per capita

(1990), in US$ 5,000

*See ‘measurement problems’ on page 33
Sources: National authorities, PlanEcon

Yugoslavia

Country review

Political

Yugoslavia has seen steadily
worsening civil conflict since the
independence declarations of the
republics of Croatia and Slovenia in
June 1991, despite the efforts of the
European Community, and then of the

United Nations, to mediate.

Elections in Croatia, Serbia and
Slovenia produced strong nationalistic
movements. Bosnia-Herzegovina, a
republic of mixed ethnic composition
which lies between Serbia and
Croatia, was relatively untouched by
the conflict in 1991 and declared its
neutrality and sovereignty.
Montenegro was closely aligned to
Serbia throughout. Macedonia, not
directly involved in the contlict,
declared its independence. The status
of the Albanian ethnic population of
Kosovo, a province of Serbia,

remained sensitive, due to their

GDP at constant price (% change)
Unemployment as % of labour force
Consumer prices (% change)

Units domestic currency per US$ (end-year)
Gross external debt

(% of exports of goods and services)
Selected ic indicators for Yugi

denotes not available

overwhelming vote, in an
unofficial referendum in late 1991,

for independence.

After the independence declarations
of Slovenia and Croatia violence
escalated, especially in relation to the

Serbian enclaves in Croatia.

On 8 November, the European Bank’s
Board of Directors strongly endorsed
President Attali’s decision only to put
forward for Board consideration, for
the time being and when appropriate,
activities with those parties in
Yugoslavia contributing to the
resolution of the conflict by peaceful

means and procedures.

Within the scope of that decision, the
Bank provided in 1991 technical
cooperation to help with privatization
plans in Macedonia, and held

discussions with Slovenia on future

assistance.
estimate
1988 1989 1990 1991
- 0.6 -8.5 -15.0
- 7.8 8.5 9.6
- 1256.0 588.0 118.0
05 12.0 11.0 21.0
- 289 25.0 -

Sources: Data provided by national authorities and European Bank estimates

112 European Bank for Reconstruction and Development

Bank Involvement

Technical assistance

Following a request of the President
of Macedonia, the privatization team
of the European Bank developed

a technical assistance project for the
Ministry of Privatization. The Bank
supported the Economic Advisor to
the Government in laying out an
initial approach to privatization based
on a detailed analysis of the position
of the Macedonian economy.

The work lead to a report identifying
key steps to be taken in implementing
the transition. It describes

the restructuring and privatization
scheme for state-owned enterprises

in Macedonia and includes the
identification of specific enterprise

candidates for initial privatization.






New member countries

The Board of Directors of the
European Bank recommended
membership for the Baltic States on
29 October 1991, and the Bank’s
Board of Governors approved their
membership on 29 November, with
the expectation that they will become

members early in 1992.

The following summaries describe the
political, economic and environmental

situation of each of the three States.

Estonia

Political review

The restoration of Estonia’s
independence was internationally
recognized in August and September
1991. With the advent of glasnost,
political groups had formed into two
main movements: the Popular Front
(predominately former Estonian
Communist Party members and
sympathizers) and the Congress of
Estonia (mainly former dissidents).
It is not yet clear how the many
embryonic political groupings will
develop, now that the unifying aim of
independence has been achieved.
The Communist Party was banned
after the August 1991 aborted

coup in Moscow.

Trade unions and numerous
assoclations and interest groups were
active in 1991. The media were free,
though constrained by the state of the
economy. There was freedom of
movement, speech and religion.
Russians were able to be educated in

their own language.

The drafting of a new Constitution
was a key political issue in 1991.

A working group was established of
60 members from a wide range of
political groups. International lawyers
assisted in its work and the Council of

Europe supplied technical expertise
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from the Venice Commission for
Democracy through Law. A
referendum on the adoption of the new

Constitution is planned for 1992.

Citizenship was a difficult issue for
Estonia in 1991. Of a total population
of some 1.5 million, about 60 per cent
are ethnic Estonian, while 30 per cent
are Russian. Opinions vary as to
whether, and on what terms, Estonian
nationality should be offered to this

substantial minority group.

The Bank hosted a one-day
conference in October 1991 on Baltic
minorities and citizenship issues,
where Justice and Foreign Ministers
from the Baltic States held
discussions with international human
rights experts. A representative of the
Russian population in Estonia
attended as part of the Estonian
delegation. The following month, the
Parliament discussed the possibility
of restoring the Republic’s liberal
1938 citizenship law. Radical
nationalists’ attempts to introduce
additional restrictions thus appear

to have failed.

Estonia sees itself as a window to the
West and has increasingly close
relations with the Nordic countries.

It is also active in international



organizations such as the UN, the
Council of Europe and the CSCE.

Economic Review

The Estonian economy is dependent
on energy imports from the former
Soviet Union, and its textile industry
relied on raw materials from Central
Asian republics. It therefore faces a
substantial drop in living standards,
due to the collapse in trade with the
former Soviet Union. This disruption
in trade was partly responsible for the
decline in total output in 1991,
estimated at more than 10 per cent.
Prices increased rapidly from 1989.
In the third quarter of 1991, consumer
prices were 270 per cent higher than

the previous year.

Estonia’s efforts during 1991 to reform
its economy included the lifting of
price controls on most products;
remaining controls will be eliminated
in 1992. A new tax system was
implemented in January 1991, and
unemployment registration and
benefits schemes were introduced

in April 1991.

Parliament took initial steps toward
property and land reform and the
restitution of ownership rights,
however these proved to be difficult
issues. A law on ownership righis,

passed in June 1991, enabled

privatization programmes to proceed.
Major areas of legislation to support
a market-oriented economy, including
competition and bankruptcy law, are
in preparation. Privatization of small
business has begun. Privatization of
large, state-owned enterprises and
parts of the transport sector has been
complicated by negotiations with
former Soviet republics about
ownership of the former All-Union

enlerprises.

New private entrepreneurship,
initially in the form of cooperatives,
grew rapidly. Foreign involvement in
firms brought significant benefits:
1,200 firms had some foreign
involvement in 1991 and , by year-
end, joint ventures with foreign
partners accounted for a significant

share of Estonian exports to the West.

Environmental review

Estonia has serious pollution and
resource degradation problems, with
water pollution in rivers, lakes and
the Baltic Sea being the most acute.
The main sources of pollution are
municipal waste water, industrial
waste water and agricultural runoff.
There is a serious lack of adequate
waste water treatment facilities. In
1989 in Estonia, 47.5 per cent of total
waste water discharge in need of
treatment was inadequately treated

or not treated at all.

Estonia is the largest emitter of air
pollution in the Baltics. Industrial and
hazardous waste (92 per cent of which
arises from the oil shale industry) is
the major waste problem, and, indeed,
the oil shale region of north-eastern
Estonia is the ‘hot-spot’ of the entire
Baltic region. Between 50 and 60 per
cent of the pine forests in Estonia are
estimated as damaged in some way,
but there is as yet little evidence of

serious damage or of trees dying.

In addressing some of these problems,
the Bank has provided support to the
development of the Baltic Sea Joint

Comprehensive Programme.
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Latvia

Political Review

The restoration of Latvia’s
independence was recognized by the
international community in August
and September 1991. President
Anatolijs Gorbunovs had been elected
in March 1990. The government in
1991, led by Prime Minister Ivars
Godmanis, was one of transition, until
plans for new elections and possibly a
new power structure centred on either
the President or the Prime Minister,

could be finalized.

Many political groups were formed
in 1991 as the former Soviet Union
gradually released its hold. After
independence, the political parties,
as in the other Baltic States, began
redefining their aims. It may be some
time before it is clear which will
emerge as the strongest. The
Communist Party was banned
following the unsuccessful August

coup in Moscow.

Freedom of the media, speech,
religion and movement are in place.
Pluralism is assured through
numerous bodies ranging from trade

unions and professional associations

to ecological groups. Russians may
be educated in their own language.
There are currently over 40 Russian

Members of Parliament.

Citizenship was a key issue in 1991.
The situation was similar to, but more
stark than that of Estonia. Latvia has a
population of over 2.5 million of
whom 52 per cent are ethnic Latvian,
38 per cent Russian, 4.5 per cent
Belorussian and 4 per cent Polish or
Ukrainian. Latvians fear becoming a
minority group in their own country.
There has been a serious debate as to

who is entitled to Latvian nationality.

On 16 October 1991, the Latvian
Supreme Council adopted a resolution
on citizenship which provoked
criticism from some international

human rights organizations.

The one-day conference on Baltic
minorities and citizenship issues,
hosted by the European Bank in
October 1991, enabled Latvian
Justice and Foreign Ministers,
together with their counterparts from
the other Baltic states, to discuss
specific difficulties with international
human rights experts. In November
1991, Latvia also received technical
advice on constitutional issues from
the Council of Europe and the
Venice Commission for Democracy

through Law.

Since the restoration of independence
in September 1991, Latvia has
followed a foreign policy based on
positive cooperation with its
neighbours. It participates in various
international fora, such as the Council

of Europe, and is a member of the UN.

Economic review

The Latvian economy remained highly
integrated with that of the former
Soviet Union and retained a high
dependence upon energy and raw
material deliveries. It is estimated
that the introduction of world market
prices into inter-republican trade in
ceniral and eastern Europe would
result in a 25 per cent deterioration
of the terms of trade in Latvia and

a substantial decline in real income.
However, in 1991, industrial
production and employment levels
remained almost unchanged from
1990 figures. The decline in
production in large, state-owned
enterprises was largely offset by
growth in the consumer and building
sectors under Latvian control. With
price increases only marginally
outstripping wage rises, real incomes

were largely maintained.

Transformation of the economy
proceeded steadily. Guarantees of
individual property rights were re-
introduced in August 1990 and
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private enterprise legislation,
including laws on partnerships, state
enterprises and limited liability
companies, was enacted. A new tax
system became effective on 1 January
1991, ensuring full Latvian control

over tax revenues.

Most prices, including those of food,
transport and communications, were
liberalized from 1 December 1991.
However, as major suppliers
continued to be in a monopoly
position, substantial state supervision

of prices remained.

Privatization efforts focused initially
on the agricultural sector.
Cooperatives were asked to re-register
as private enterprises. However,
overall progress in privatization was
fairly limited in 1991.

Environmental review

As in Lithuania and Estonia, water
pollution in rivers, lakes and the
Baltic Sea is the most acute
environmental problem. In 1989, 70
per cent of total waste water discharge
in need of treatment was inadequately
treated or not treated at all. Riga and
Ventspils are the main sources of

pollution into the Baltic Sea.

Latvia has no air polluters comparable
to Estonia. Seventy three per cent of

total emissions of particulates,



sulphur dioxide and nitrogen oxide
are generated from traffic and 27 per
cent from stationary sources, mainly
in Riga, Liepaja, Ventspils

and Daugavpils.

There are virtually no processing
plants for residuals and solid waste
from industry. Industrial waste is often
disposed of inadequately, in the same

way as municipal solid waste.

Forty three per cent of Latvia is
forested with half the forested area

estimated to be damaged in some way.

‘Hot spots’ include the Olaine area
(where the chemical industry is
concentrated), the ammonia plant at
Ventspils and contaminated former
Soviet army bases. Sewage treatment
facilities are urgently needed for Riga

and Liepaja.

In addressing some of these problems,
the Bank has provided support to the
development of the Baltic Sea Joint

Comprehensive Programme.

Lithuania

Political review

The restoration of Lithuania’s
independence was recognized by the
international community in August
and September 1991. In expectation
of this, Lithuania had adopted a
provisional constitution as early as
March 1990. Proposals for the
definitive new Constitution were
examined in 1991 and are expected to
be consistent with international

democratic standards.

With some 3,690,000 inhabitants,
Lithuania has the largest population
of the Baltic States, and the smallest
percentage of minorities: 8-9 per cent
Russian and about 7 per cent of

Polish origin.

Lithuania passed a law in November
1989 giving everyone then living in
the country the right to apply for
Lithuanian nationality. Amendments
allowing Lithuanians who had been
living abroad since 1940 to acquire
citizenship, were discussed in the
Parliament in 1991 but the issue of
dual citizenship remained undecided.
The 1991 draft nationality law
required new citizens to have lived for
at least five years in Lithuania, to
speak Lithuanian and to have a legal
means of earning a living. The 1990

Law on Minorities guaranteed equal

protection and the State provides
separate schools, with tuition in
their own languages, for the main

minority groups.

The post-independence parties
include the Lithuanian Democratic
Workers Party, the Christian
Democrats, the Social Democrats and
the National Party. None has, as vet, a
fully fledged political structure.
President Landsbergis and his Prime

Minister are both independents.

Freedom of speech, the media,
religion and movement is guaranteed.
Free trade unions and many other

interest groups are actively supported.

Lithuania’s foreign policy is founded
on positive cooperation, for both
commercial and security reasons, with
neighbouring former Soviet republics
and with Estonia and Latvia. The
Baltic States participate in tripartite
councils to share views on common
problems. Lithuania has applied for
membership of the Council of Europe
and is an active participant in the

CSCE and other international fora.

Economic review

In 1991, industrial production was
about 15 per cent below the 1990
level and agricultural production
contiracted slightly due to persistent

shortages in feed grain. Industrial
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companies won considerable success
in preserving irade and customer
contacts, thereby substantially
maintaining production and
employment levels and avoiding a
large rise in unemployment. However,
instability in the former Soviet Union,
interruptions to supplies and price
adjustment in selected commodity
imports forced Lithuania to seek

emergency assistance.

The 1991 budget was expected to be
in balance, as Lithuania retained all
income taxes collected in the country
and ceased payments to the former
Union central budget. More than 60
per cent of government expenditure
took the form of subsidies, principally

to the agricultural sector.

Although the first proposals for price
reform were rejected by parliament,
the government liberalized most
prices during 1991. A partial wage
indexation system was established to
protect household real income, but
this has tended to undermine efforts to

stabilize prices.

Basic economic reform laws,
including the restitution and
privatization of property, were enacted
during 1991. In March 1991, housing
became the first sector to be
privatized and municipalities quickly

assumed responsibility for the



process. As of May 1991,
employees had the possibility to
subscribe to 10 per cent of equity
in state enterprises turned into
joint-stock companies. Legislation
provides for privatization via
auctions of shares using vouchers,
as well as through sales for hard
currency. The actual process

of privatization has accelerated

since September.

Environmental review
Environmental degradation has
arisen from the operation of
manufacturing industry without
adequate environmental control,
discharge of untreated waste water
and contamination of groundwater
due to over-intensive use of

fertilizers.

New member countries

As in the other Baltic states, water
pollution in rivers, lakes and the
Baltic Sea is the most acute
environmental problem. In 1989,
75 per cent of total waste water
discharge in need of treatment was
inadequately treated or not

Lreated at all.

In 1989, total emissions into the air
were estimated at 1 million tons
(including particulates, sulphur
dioxide and nitrogen oxide). There
are virtually no processing plants
for residuals and solid waste from
industry. Industrial waste is often
disposed of inadequately, in the

same way as municipal solid waste.

It is estimated that 60 per cent of

forests are damaged in some way.

Waste water treatment facilities are
urgently needed for Palanga,
Klaipeda and Kaunas. Air
pollution ‘hot spots’ are associated
with individual plants, notably
Mazeikiai (oil refinery), Akmene
(cement industry), Jonava (fertilizer
industry) and Elektrenai (power
plant). The pulp and paper
industry is responsible for a ‘hot

spot’ at Klaipeda.

In addressing some of these
problems, the Bank has provided
support to the development of the
Baltic Sea Joint Comprehensive

Programme.
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Financial policies

Financial policies

At an early stage in its operations, the Bank developed
a set of Financial Policies designed to enable it to
manage the risks inherent in its mandate, while at the
same time become profitable in the near-term. The
Agreement and the Bank’s detailed Financial Policies,
as approved by the Board of Directors, together with
subsequent guidelines, define its funding and
investment policies and risk limits so that the Bank is
able to maintain a high standing in the international
financial community. As a natural function of the risks
associated with activities in the countries of operations,
the Bank’s financial policies are conservative. They
contributed to the Bank’s obtaining a triple A rating and
to the successful response to its first bond issue in

September 1991.

Capitalization

The Bank is strongly capitalized with subscribed capital
of approximately ECU 10 billion, of which ECU 3
billion is paid-in capital and ECU 7 billion is callable
capital. The large share of paid-in capital and high
proportion of callable capital from highly-rated member
countries reinforce its strong capital base. OECD
countries, the European Investment Bank and the
European Economic Community hold almost 85 per
cent of the capital. The total amount of loans, equity
investments and guarantees that can be made is limited
to total subscribed capital plus reserves and surpluses,
resulting in a conservative gearing ratio of one to one.
Equity investments are not allowed to exceed paid-in
subscribed capital, general reserve and surpluses.
Callable capital may be called but only in the unlikely
event that it is necessary to meet the Bank’s liabilities,
including in particular those to bondholders and

beneficiaries of guarantees. ‘Headroom’, or unused
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financing capacity, will be monitored to ensure a sound
financial structure which will reflect both strength in
income and prudent risk management. All members are
required to pay their paid-in capital in five equal
annual instalments which may be divided between cash
and promissory notes. The Board of Directors has now
approved a programme for the regular annual
encashment of such promissory notes on a three year
cycle. At year-end 1991, the first instalment of ECU
591 million had been received with ECU 516.6 million
in cash and only ECU 74.4 million remaining in

unencashed promissory notes.

Borrowing programme

In 1991, the Bank’s borrowing strategy focused on
establishing the Bank’s name in the international
capital markets and on achieving a low overall cost of
funds, while diversifying funding sources. The Bank set
a borrowing plan of ECU 800 million for 1991 and
1992. Iis first public issue of EGU 500 million was
priced at the level of the most actively traded
benchmark of the same maturity and was placed across
a range of investors worldwide. After swapping the
proceeds into floating rate US dollars, ECU and
Deutschmarks, the Bank was able to reinvest the
proceeds at a substantial positive margin. Within the
overall borrowing plan, the Bank was further authorized
to borrow up to ECU 200 million through the first
quarter of 1992 in several funding operations. It will
continue to take advantage of funding opportunities in
an effort to diversify further its borrowing source while
generating a low all-in-cost of funds and thereby derive
a carrying gain from the proceeds of issues pending

disbursements.



Investment of liquid assets

The Bank’s liquid asset portfolio comprises funds from
paid-in capital and borrowings. It will also eventually
include repayments from Bank loans and accumulated
earnings. Liquid assets are targeted to be maintained at
a minimum of 45 per cent of the Bank’s projected net
cash requirements over the next three years. Investment
policy objectives are to earn a reasonable return on the
Bank’s capital and borrowed funds, while limiting
interest rate risk. Specific investment authority and
guidelines, approved by the Board of Directors, set
parameters for managing liquid assets and strictly
limiting credit and financial risk. The average duration

of the portfolio is limited to four years.

Lending and equity investments

To minimize risks on the Bank’s lending portfolio, to the
extent possible, the Bank’s assets will match liabilities
in terms of currencies, maturities and interest rates:
loans will be funded in the same currency. Equity
investments, usually in the form of common or preferred
shares, however, will be denominated largely in non-
convertible currencies. The amount of equity
investments will not exceed paid-in subscribed capital,
general reserves and surpluses. Asset pricing is flexible
with loans available at fixed and floating rates in major
convertible currencies. The interest rate charged will be
a margin over market rates, usually LIBOR. Loan
margins will be differentiated primarily according to
credit risk, taking also into account market terms
offered by other lenders for similar loans. Fees and
commissions will also be charged. All loans and equity
investments will be subject to a thorough appraisal and
credit evaluation process and will be continually
monitored. In addition, specific guidelines were issued
to limit risk to the Bank’s lending and equity investment

portfolio by limiting the Bank’s exposure to any
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one country, industry sector, borrower or project.
In 1991, the Bank’s Board approved 10 loans,
totalling ECU 363.9 million, one line of credit of
ECU 29.8 million and three equity investments
totalling ECU 33.8 million.

Provisions and reserves

The Agreement requires provisions and reserves to be
made against possible losses. Overall targets for the
total of special and general reserves, together with
general loan and equity loss provisions have been set
initially at 10 per cent of disbursed loans plus 25 per
cent of disbursed equity investments. The special
reserve has been established with amounts derived from
fees and commissions. The Agreement also requires the
Bank to transfer all retained earnings to the general
reserve. The general reserve must represent 10 per cent
of authorized capital before the Bank may allocate such
funds for other purposes. By year-end 1991, ECU
62,000 had been allocated to the special reserve. There

were no allocations for loan and equity loss provisions.

Loan disbursements and repayments

Most loans will be medium to long-term with a normal
maximum maturity limit of 15 years for government-
guaranteed loans and 10 years for competitive
enterprise sector loans. Principal repayments should
commence as soon as a positive cash flow from the
project is available: grace periods will be permitted in
certain instances. Repayments will be structured
according to the requirements of the project and in
accordance with the Bank’s risk management policies.
Financial policy guidelines also define the treatment of

potentially delinquent loans.



Financial policies

Cooperation funds

Technical Cooperation Funds Programme

The Bank has a special mandate to support its countries
of operations in their economic transition with technical
assistance, training and advisory services. The
provision of such assistance is an important function
complementing the Bank’s transfer of loan and equity

capital for public and private sector investments.

At this early stage in their economic transitions, the
countries of central and eastern Europe urgently need
the Bank’s help, but are unable to pay for it in hard
currency. To reconcile this situation, the Bank decided
to mobilize grant funding from outside sources, as its
own capitalization does not provide for non-
reimbursable financing. In 1991, through its
Cooperation Funds Programme (CFP), the Bank raised
ECU 68 million in grant funds from bilateral and
multilateral donors. Additional contributions to the
CFP, both to replenish existing funds and establish new
ones, are currently being negotiated. Of these funds,
some 20 per cent are untied, approximately 60 per cent
are partially tied (mainly to EC member countries and
to the Bank’s countries of operations) and the remaining

20 per cent are tied to donor countries.

In 1991, total commitments from the CFP amounted to
ECU 9.5 million, and were allocated as follows:

® 27 per cent for environment related operations,

= 26 per cent for the financial sector,

* 18 per cent for advice in the field of privatization,

* 12 per cent for telecommunications studies,

= 9 per cent for transportation studies,

= 5 per cent for studies related to food distribution, and

= 3 per cent for legal advice.
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Co-financing

In the course of its operations, the Bank will work
closely with multilateral institutions and other

interested sources of financing, both public and private.

It was in this spirit of cooperation, that the Bank’s first
approved lending operation, a US$ 50 million (ECU
37.29 million) equivalent loan to Poland for a heat
supply restructuring and conservation project, was co-
financed with the World Bank, which will provide US$
20 million (ECU 14.92 million).
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Financial statements

Balance sheet

At 31 December 1991

Notes
Assets
Placements with and advances to banks 3
Other money market placements and advances 4
Investment securities 5
Interest receivable
Other assets 6
Promissory notes issued by member countries 7
Tangible assets 8
Total assets
Liabilities
Borrowed funds 9
Interest payable
Other liabilities 10
Medium and long term borrowings 12
Total liabilities
Capital
Subscribed 11
Callable
Paid-in capital
Instalments not yet received
Instalments due and received
Conversion reserve 13
General reserve 14
Special reserve 15

Members’ equity

Total liabilities and members’ equity

Details of off balance sheet items are disclosed in note 20
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31 December 1991
ECU 000

570,014
216,726
244,706
15,597
4,852
74,433
2,476

1,128,804

8,567
10,059
26,321

499,188

544,135

9,853,750
(6,897,625)

2,956,125
(2,364,900)

591,225

(525)
(6,093)
62

584,669

1,128,804



Profit and loss account

For the period 15 April 1991 to 31 December 1991

Interest income

Interest expense

Net interest income
Fee and commission income
Fee and commission expense

Other operating income

Net income from financial operations
General administrative expenses

Exceptional exchange gains

Operating loss

Transfer to special reserve

Retained loss transferred to general reserve
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Period to
31 December 1991
Notes ECU 000

39,260
(10,417)

28,843
88

(63)
478

29,346
16 (43,084)
17 6,686

(7,052)
15 (62)

14 : (7,114)



* Capital subscriptions comprise: ECU 000
Paid-in capital received (page 128) 591,225
Promissory notes issued by

member countries (note 7) (74,433)
Conversion reserve (note 13) (525)
516,267

Financial statements

Statement of cash flows

For the period 15 April 1991 to 31 December 1991

Banking activities

Operating loss

Adjustments to operating loss to determine
net cash provided by banking activities:
Internal taxation

Interest receivable and other assets
Interest payable and other liabilities
Depreciation and amortization

Amortized discount on bond issue
Net cash provided by banking activities

Banking operations

Placements with and advances to banks

Other money market placements and advances

Borrowed funds

Net cash used in banking operations

Net cash used in banking activities and operations

Investing activities
Net purchases of investment securities

Purchase of tangible assets
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash used before financing

Financing activities
Capital subscriptions*

Issue of long term bonds

Cash provided by financing activities

126 European Bank for Reconstruction and Development

Notes

14

12

12

Period to 31 December 1991

ECU 000

(7,052)

1,021
(20,449)
36,380
9,104
38

(570,014)
(216,726)
8,567

(244,706)
(11,580)

ECU 000

19,042

(778,173)

(759,131)

(256,286)

(1,015,417)

516,267
499,150

1,015,417



Loans and equity investments

At 31 December 1991

Summary of loans approved Approved and
Approved by the documentation

Board of Directors signed

Project/Borrower . Country ECU 000 ECU 000
Hungarian Telecom Hungary 90,885 -
Petsfi Nyomda Rt Hungary 4,913 4,913
IBG Food Processing Poland 5,257 -
Lodom Poland 1,641 -
Polska Telefonia Komérkowa Poland 44,745 -
WBK Poznan Poland 37,288 37,288
GEC Alsthom-IMGB Romania 23,000 -
Rom Telecom Romania 142,000 -
Enhanced Digital Network USSR 4,847 -
Parker Drilling Co USSR 9,282 -
NMB/EBRD Central Europe Agency Line (line of credit only) Central Europe 29,830 29,830
Total loans approved* - 7393,688 772;&

Summary of equity investments approved
Approved by the

Board of Directors

Project/Investment Country ECU 000

Czechoslovakia Investment Corporation CSFR 7,458

* No disbursements had been made on the loans Cokolédovny CSFR 24,096
approved as at 31 December 1991

Microsystem Rt Hungary 2,237

** The documentation for the investments approved o .

had not yet been signed at 31 December 1991 Total investments approved* * 33,791
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Financial statements

Statement of capital subscriptions

At 31 December 1991

Paid-in capital Paid-in capital
instalments instalments
Total Callable not yet received due and received
Members of the Shares ECU 000 ECU 000 ECU 000 ECU 000
European Communities
Belgium 22,800 228,000 159,600 54,720 13,680
Denmark 12,000 120,000 84,000 28,800 7,200
France 85,175 851,750 596,225 204,420 51,105
Germany 85,175 851,750 596,225 204,420 51,105
Greece 6,500 65,000 45,500 15,600 3,900
Ireland 3,000 30,000 21,000 7,200 1,800
Ttaly 85,175 851,750 596,225 204,420 51,105
Luxembourg 2,000 20,000 14,000 4,800 1,200
Netherlands 24,800 248,000 173,600 59,520 14,880
Portugal 4,200 42,000 29,400 10,080 2,520
Spain 34,000 340,000 238,000 81,600 20,400
United Kingdom 85,175 851,750 596,225 204,420 51,105
European Economic Community 30,000 300,000 210,000 72,000 18,000
European Investment Bank 30,000 300,000 210,000 72,000 18,000
Other European Countries
Austria 22,800 228,000 159,600 54,720 13,680
Cyprus 1,000 10,000 7,000 2,400 600
Finland 12,500 125,000 87,500 30,000 7,500
Iceland 1,000 10,000 7,000 2,400 600
Israel 6,500 65,000 45,500 15,600 3,900
Liechtenstein 200 2,000 1,400 480 120
Malta 100 1,000 700 240 60
Norway 12,500 125,000 87,500 30,000 7,500
Sweden 22,800 228,000 159,600 54,720 13,680
Switzerland 22,800 228,000 159,600 54,720 13,680
Turkey 11,500 115,000 80,500 27,600 6,900
Recipient Countrles
Albania 1,000 10,000 7,000 2,400 600
Bulgaria 7,900 79,000 55,300 18,960 4,740
CSFR 12,800 128,000 89,600 30,720 7,680
Hungary 7,900 79,000 55,300 18,960 4,740
Poland 12,800 128,000 89,600 30,720 7,680
Romania 4,800 48,000 33,600 11,520 2,880
USSR (note 11) 60,000 600,000 420,000 144,000 36,000
Yugoslavia 12,800 128,000 89,600 30,720 7,680
Non-European Countries
Australia 10,000 100,000 70,000 24,000 6,000
Canada 34,000 340,000 238,000 81,600 20,400
Egypt 1,000 10,000 7,000 2,400 600
Japan 85,175 851,750 596,225 204,420 51,105
Korea, Republic of 6,500 65,000 45,500 15,600 3,900
Mexico 3,000 30,000 21,000 7,200 1,800
Morocco 1,000 10,000 7,000 2,400 600
New Zealand 1,000 10,000 7,000 2,400 600
United States of America 100,000 1,000,000 700,000 240,000 60,000
Subscriptlons by members 985,375 9,853,750 6,897,625 2,364,900 591,225
Non-allocated shares 14,625 146,250
Authorized share caplital 1,000,000 10,000,000
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Notes to the financial statements

1 Establishment of the Bank

i Agreement Establishing the Bank

The European Bank for Reconstruction and Development (‘the Bank’), whose principal office is located in London, is
an international organization formed under the Agreement Establishing the Bank dated 29 May, 1990 (the ‘Agreement’).
Forty countries, together with the European Economic Community and the European Investment Bank, are the

Bank’s shareholders.

ii Headquarters Agreement

The status, privileges and immunities in the United Kingdom of the Bank and persons connected therewith, are
defined in the Headquarters Agreement between the Government of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern
Ireland and the Bank (the ‘Headquarters Agreement’). The Headquarters Agreement was signed in London upon the
commencement of the Bank’s operations on 15 April 1991.

2 Significant accounting policies

i Accounting convention

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified by the inclusion of the
revaluation of certain financial instruments and investment securities, in accordance with the Bank’s Accounting
Policies, which comply with International Accounting Standards and the overall principles of the European Communities
Council Directive on the Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and Other Financial Institutions.

ii Presentation

In accordance with Article 4 of the Agreement, the Bank uses the European Currency Unit (ECU) as the unit of
measure for the capital subscriptions of members and for the presentation of its financial statements. Where applicable,
the following 31 December 1991 ECU exchange raies were used in the preparation of the financial statements:

United States dollars 1.34093
Deutsche marks 2.03553
Japanese yen 167.549
Pounds sterling 0.71612
French francs 6.95338

iii Foreign currencies

Assets and liabilities in currencies other than ECU are translated into ECU at market rates ruling at the year end, except
where they are hedged when the hedged rate is used. It is the Bank’s policy not to hold positions in currencies other
than ECU, except for minor cash balances arising in the ordinary course of business. Transactions in currencies other
than ECU are translated into ECU at month end exchange rates. Exchange gains or losses arising from the translation of
assets and liabilities and transactions during the year are taken to the profit and loss account.

iv Conversion reserve

Under the Agreement, capital subscriptions by members shall be settled either in ECU, in United States dollars or
Japanese yen in the form of either cash or promissory notes. Capital subscriptions in United States dollars or Japanese
yen are settled at fixed rates of exchange as defined in Article 6.3 of the Agreement. The defined fixed rates of
exchange to the ECU are 1.16701 United States dollars and 169.95 Japanese yen.

Exchange differences arising between the fixed rate and the rate on either the date of receipt of cash or encashment of
promissory notes are taken to conversion reserve.

Capital subscriptions received in the form of promissory notes denominated in currencies other than ECU and which are
outstanding at year end are revalued as detailed in note (iii) above, with any exchange gains or losses being taken to the
conversion reserve. The Board of Directors has authorized a policy for the hedging of future instalments of capital not yet
received. Any premiums or discounts arising from such capital hedging transactions are taken to the conversion reserve.
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Financial statements Notes

2 Significant accounting policies continued

v Financial instruments
Profits and losses arising from interest rate swaps and forward exchange agreements entered into for hedging purposes
are matched against the item being hedged.

vi Fees and commissions

Loan origination fees are taken to income to the extent that they offset direct origination costs, in the period in which
the costs are incurred. The residual balance of fees is amortized over the period of the loan. Other fees and commissions
are taken to income over the period during which the commitment exists or services are provided.

vii Investment securities
Bonds, notes, bank certificates of deposit and other dated marketable securities held for investment are stated at
adjusted cost by amortizing over the period to maturity the premium or discount arising upon acquisition.

viii Issuance fees and redemption premiums or discounts
Issuance fees and redemption premiums or discounts are amortized over the period to maturity of the related borrowings.

ix Tangible assets
Tangible assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation of tangible assets is provided on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives generally as follows:

Leases of less than 50 years unexpired: Unexpired periods or 15 years if shorter

Plant and equipment: 3to 5 years

x Staff retirement plan

The Bank has a defined contribution scheme and a defined benefit scheme to provide retirement plans for its staff.
Actual contributions made to the defined contribution scheme are charged to the profit and loss acount. Contributions
made to the defined benefit scheme and the charge to the profit and loss account are based upon advice from
qualified external actuaries.

xi Taxation

In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement, the Bank, its assets, property and income are exempt from all direct and
indirect taxes together with all duties and taxes levied upon goods and services acquired or imported, except for those
taxes or duties which represent charges for public utility services.

xii Government grants

Government grants relating to fixed asset expenditure are recognised in the profit and loss account on a straight line
basis over the same period as that applied for depreciation purposes.

Grants received or receivable in respect of contributions towards profit and loss account expenditure items are matched
against the qualifying expenditure in the period in which is incurred.

The balance of grants received or receivable which have not been taken to the profit and loss account are carried in

the balance sheet as deferred income.
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* Placements in Sterling pounds are held to
cover future expenditure in that currency

** Investment securities are stated net of
unamortized discount. They have a nominal

value of ECU 248,055,000 and a market
value of ECU 250,292,000

3 Placements with and advances to banks

Analysed by currency:
European currency units
United States dollars
Deutsche marks

Sterling pounds™

French francs

Japanese yen

At 31 December 1991

Analysed by maturity:
Up to and including 1 month

Over 1 month and up to and including 3 months
Over 3 months and up to and including 1 year
Over 1 year and up to and including 5 years

4 Other money market placements and advances

Analysed by currency:
European currency units
United States dollars
Deutsche marks

As at 31 December 1991

Analysed by maturity:
Up to and including 1 month

5 Investment securities **

Analysed by currency:
European currency units
Japanese yen

United States dollars

At 31 December 1991

Analysed by maturity:
Up to and including 1 month

Over 1 month and up to and including 3 months
Over 3 months and up to and including 1 year
Over 1 year and up to and including 5 years
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Hedging Net currency

Amount instruments placement
ECU 000 ECU 000 ECU 000
283,459 271,689 555,148
227,473 (227,473) —
44,216 (44,216) -
14,810 - 14,810
15 - 15

41 - 41
570,014 - 570,014
31 December 1991

ECU 000

368,869

25,000

153,569

22,576

570,014

Hedging Net currency

Amount instruments placement
ECU 000 ECU 000 ECU 000
133,687 83,039 216,726
76,879 (76,879) -
6,160 (6,160) -
216,726 - 218,726
31 December 1991

ECU 000

216,726

Hedging Net currency

Amount instruments placement
ECU 000 ECU 000 ECU 000
119,251 125,455 244,706
38,138 (38,138) _
87,317 (87,317) -
244,706 - 244,706

31 December 1991
ECU 600

42,076
9,990
104,627
88,013

244,706



* The cost of fitting out the Bank’s temporary
headquarters at 122 Leadenhall Street has
been fully amortized at 31 December 1991.
The net book value at 31 December 1991 of
leasehold property represents the unamortized
cost of fitting out offices overseas

Financial statements Notes

5 Investment securities continued

Analysed by issuer:
Governments
Public bodies
Other borrowers

6 Other assets

Other assets comprise:
Prepayments

Fees receivable
Sundry debtors

7 Promissory notes issued by member countries

Currency of issue

European currency units
United States dollars
Japanese yen

31 December 1991

ECU 000

16,144
40,482
188,080

244,706

31 December 1991

At 31 December 1991

ECU 000

2,132

25

2,695

4,852

Exchange gain (loss) Exchange gain (loss) Amount Amount

Total received realised unrealised drawn down outstanding
ECU 000 ECU 000 ECU 000 ECU 000 ECU 000
74,894 - - 41,452 33,442
59,420 266 (6,109) 12,586 40,991
25,552 2,182 - 27,734 -
159,866 2,448 (6,109) 81,772 74,433

Under the Agreement, payment of the paid-in capital is to be made in five equal annual instalments. The Agreement
permits a member to pay up to 50% of each instalment in non-negotiable, non-interest bearing promissory notes or other

obligations issued by such member and payable to the Bank at par value upon demand.

The promissory notes or other obligations are denominated in ECU, United States dollars or Japanese yen. The Board of
Directors have adopted an encashment policy which provides for a fixed schedule of draw down of these promissory
notes in three equal annual instalments.

Promissory notes which are denominated in United States dollars or Japanese yen have been translated into ECU
either at the rates of exchange ruling at the dates of draw down, or if outstanding at the year end, at market rates ruling

at 31 December 1991. Realised and unrealised exchange gains or losses which have arisen between these rates

of exchange respectively and the fixed rate of exchange as defined in the Agreement, have been taken directly to

conversion reserve (note 13).

8 Tangible assets

Cost
Additions

Cost at 31 December 1991

Accumulated depreciation
and amortization*

Net book value at 31 December 1991
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Leasehold Plant and
property equipment Total
ECU 000 ECU 000 ECU 000
8,805 2,775 11,580
8,805 2,775 11,580
(8,673) (431) (9,104)
132 2,344 2,476




9 Borrowed funds

Borrowed funds represent short term borrowings incurred by the Bank and subsequently repaid by 10 January 1992.

10 Other liabilities
31 December 1991

e g age . . ECU 000

Other liabilities comprise:
Accruals 6,985
Deferred income 16,216
Sundry creditors 3,120
26,321
11 Authorized share capital 31 December 1991 31 December 1991
Shares Total ECU 000
Authorized share capital 1,000,000 10,000,000

Of which:

Subscriptions by members 985,375 9,853,750
Non-allocated shares 14,625 146,250
1,000,000 10,000,000

The Bank’s authorized share capital is ECU 10,000 million divided into 1 million shares, having a par value of ECU
10,000 each. The authorized share capital is divided into paid-in shares and callable shares. The initial total aggregate
par value of paid-in shares is ECU 3,000 million, equal to 30% of the original authorized share capital of ECU 10,000
million and is payable in five equal annual instalments. Under the Agreement, callable shares can be called only as
and when required by the Bank to meet its liabilities.

The amount of non-allocated shares was established in the Agreement as 125 shares. Shares totalling 15,500, which
were originally allocated for subscription by the former German Democratic Republic, were added to non-allocated
shares. Subsequently, 1,000 shares were allocated to Albania. The Board of Governors has approved the admittance to
membership of Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania who will each subscribe for 1,000 shares. These new subscriptions

will be taken from the non-allocated shares.

The Board of Directors in considering membership issues following the dissolution of the USSR, decided that when a
member country is dissolved, its shareholding should be divided between the States which were part of its territory
and which the Board of Governors of the Bank determines, for the purposes of the Agreement, to be the States upon
which the membership devolves.

A statement of capital subscriptions showing the amount of capital subscribed and paid-in by each member, together
with the amount of non-allocated shares, is set out on page 128.
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* Future instalments of paid-in capital due in
Japanese yen have been hedged in order
to protect the amount of ECU capital receivable
from unfavourable exchange rate movements.
The premiums received and paid relating to
these hedging transactions have been taken
to conversion reserve

Financial statements Notes

12 Medium and long term borrowings

Principal at nominal value
Discount at date of issue

Less:
Amortized during the period
Unamortized discount

Balance at 31 December 1991

ECU 000

(850)

38

31 December 1991
ECU 000

500,000

(812)

499,188

The Bank issued ECU 500 million of bonds during October 1991 at a fixed interest rate of 8.875% for long term funding.
The bonds are repayable in full in October 1996. The bonds, which constitute unsecured obligations of the Bank, have

been recorded at their nominal value less unamortized discount as shown above.

The Bank has entered into interest rate swaps for the equivalent of the full issue of ECU 500 million, replacing the fixed

rate payment obligation with floating rate obligations.

13 Conversion reserve

The conversion reserve comprises:

Realised exchange gain arising upon receipt of the cash element of the
capital instalments received in 1991 including the net cost of hedging
the future capital instalments to be received*

Realised net exchange gain arising at dates of draw downs of promissory
notes issued by member countries (note 7)

Unrealised exchange loss arising from the revaluation of outstanding
promissory notes issued by member countries (note 7)

At 31 December 1991

14 General reserve

The general reserve comprises:
Retained loss
Internal taxation

At 31 December 1991

Period to
31 December 1991
ECU 000

3,136

2,448

(6,109)
(525)
Period to

31 December 1991
ECU 000

(7,114)
1,021

(6,093)

In accordance with Article 53 of the Agreement, all Directors, Alternate Directors, officers and employees of the Bank

are subject to an internal rate of tax imposed by the Bank on salaries and emoluments paid by the Bank. Under the
Agreement, the Bank retains the internal tax deducted for its benefit. Under Article 53 of the Agreement and Article 16 of
the Headquarters Agreement, salaries and emoluments paid by the Bank are exempt from United Kingdom income tax.

Internal taxation amounting to ECU 1,021,000, deducted from salaries and emoluments paid during the year, has been

transferred to general reserve.
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15 Special reserve Period to
31 December 1991
ECU 000

Transfer from profit and loss account 62

In accordance with the Agreement, a special reserve is maintained for meeting certain defined losses of the Bank.
The special reserve is established by setting aside specified fees and commissions received by the Bank.

16 General administrative expenses
Period to 31 December 1991

Note Actual Budget
ECU 000 ECU 000
Personnel costs [ 23,320 28,734
Overhead expenses net of government grants ii 12,224 17,014
35,544 45,748
Preliminary expenses it 7,540
General administrative expenses 43,084

1 The average number of staff and members of the Board of Directors included in personnel costs during the period was 286.

il Government grants of ECU 13,560,000 (Budget: ECU 10,965,000}, included in the period to 31 December 1991,
have been provided by the governments of the United Kingdom (ECU 13,077,000), France (ECU 307,000) and Japan
(ECU 176,000).

iti Preliminary expenses represent the audited costs incurred by the Bank prior to its commencement of operations on

15 April 1991. The Board of Governors approved a budget for these costs of ECU 10,000,000.
The budget of ECU 45,748,000 was that approved by the Board of Directors for the period to 31 December 1991.

17 Exceptional exchange gains

The Bank received part of the first paid-in capital cash instalments in currencies other than ECU. These currencies were
later converted into ECU. The difference between the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of receipt and the rates
of exchange prevailing on the dates of conversion into ECU resulted in an exchange gain of ECU 6,686,000.

Future cash payments in currencies other than ECU of instalments of paid-in capital are to be converted into ECU
immediately upon notification of receipt.
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Financial statements Notes

18 Technical assistance and cooperation funds

The Bank provides technical assistance for the preparation, financing and implementation of projects and to assist
countries of operations in making the transition towards open market oriented economies. Funding for this technical
assistance may come from the Bank’s ordinary capital resources, Special Fund resources as defined in the Agreement or
cooperation funds. Cooperation funds are grants from donors provided for technical assistance activities administered
by the Bank pursuant to agreements of cooperation concluded with such donors.

At 31 December 1991, the Bank administered eleven cooperation funds for an aggregate amount of approximately
ECU 68 million which were financed wholly by third party donors. The assets of the cooperation funds are held
separately from the assets of the Bank.

19 Staff retirement plan

The Bank operates a defined contribution scheme (money purchase retirement plan) together with a defined benefit
scheme (final salary retirement plan) for its staff. The assets of the money purchase retirement plan are held separately
from the assets of the Bank. The costs of the final salary retirement plan, included under accruals in note 10, have been
assessed in accordance with an actuarial valuation as at 25 September 1991, using the individual entry age method.

The Bank’s contributions to the money purchase retirement plan together with the costs of the final salary retirement
plan have been charged to the profit and loss account.

20 Off balance sheet items

At 31 December 1991 loan commitments amounted to ECU 72,031,000 as set out on page 127.

The Bank has entered into commitments under forward foreign exchange contracts, foreign exchange options, interest
rate swaps and currency swaps in the normal course of business for hedging purposes. These are disclosed in notes 3, 4,
5, 12 and 13 and amount to the following:

Contract or notional amount

ECU million
Forward exchange contracts 181
Cross currency interest rate swaps 433
Interest rate swaps 353
Forward exchange options 102
At 31 December 1991 1,069
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Auditors’ report

Deloitte Ross
Tohmatsu

A

Auditors’ report to The President and Board of Governors
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development

We have audited the financial statements on pages 124 to 136 in accordance with International Auditing Guidelines.

In our opinion the financial statements present fairly the financial position of the European Bank for Reconstruction
and Development at 31 December 1991 and of its loss and cash flows for the period from 15 April 1991 to 31 December
1991 and comply with International Accounting Standards and the overall principles of the European Communities
Council Directive on the Annual Accounts and Consolidated Accounts of Banks and Other Financial Institutions.

Ot oo Tt
/

185, avenue Charles-de-Gaulle
92201 Neuilly-sur-Seine

Paris

25 February 1992

Membre
nnwy

nternational
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Appendices

Governors and Alternates

As at 31 December 1991

Member

Albania
Australia
Austria
Belgium
Bulgaria
Canada
Cyprus
CSFR
Denmark
EEC

EIB

Egypt
Finland
France
Germany
Greece
Hungary
Iceland
Ireland
Israel

Italy

Japan
Republic of Korea
Liechtenstein
Luxembourg
Malta
Mexico
Morocco
Netherlands
New Zealand
Norway
Poland

Portugal

Romania

Spain

Sweden

Switzerland

Turkey

United Kingdom

United States of America
USSR

Yugoslavia

Governor

Gramoz Pashko

John Dawkins
Ferdinand Lacina
Philippe Maystadt
Ivan Yordanov Kostov
Donald Mazankowski
George Syrimis

Véclav Klaus

Uffe Ellemann-Jensen
Henning Christophersen
Ernst-Giinther Broder
Youssri Mostafa

Pertti Salolainen
Pierre Bérégovoy

Theo Waigel
Efthymios Christodoulou
Mihaly Kupa

Jon Sigurdsson

Bertie Ahern

Jacob A Frenkel
Guido Carli

Tsutomu Hata
Yong-Man Rhee
Egmond Frommelt
Jacques Santer

George Bonello Du Puis
Pedro Aspe

Mohamed Berrada
Wim Kok

Don McKinnon
Sigbjoern Johnsen
Andrzej Topinski
acting Governor

Jorge Braga de Macedo
Florian Bercea

Carlos Solchaga

Anne Wibble

Jean Pascal Delamuraz
Tansu Ciller

Lynda Chalker
Nicholas Brady

Victor Gerashchenko

(vacant)
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Alternate Governor

Richard Woolcott
Othmar Haushofer
Grégoire Brouhns
Mileti Mladenov
Reid Morden
Michael Erotokritos
Josef Tosovsky

Ole Loensmann Poulsen
Karel Van Miert
Alain Prate

Saad Al Farargi
Veikko Kantola
Jean-Claude Trichet
Horst Koshler
George Theophanous
Imre Tarafas

Bjorn Fridfinnsson
Sean P Cromien
Shalom Singer
Mario Draghi
Yasushi Mieno

Kun Kim

Yves Mersch
Anthony P Galdes
José Angel Gurria
Mohammed Dairi
Hans van den Broek
George Gair

Jon Ivar Nalsund
Stefan Kawalec

acting Alternate Governor

José Monteiro Fernandes Brés

Mugur Isarescu
Pedro Perez

Olle Wastberg
Silvio Arioli
Tevfik Altinok
Timothy Lankester
Robert Zoellick
‘Vsevolod Sitnin
Slavoljub Stanic



1 William Curran succeeded
Charles Dallara (May 1991)

2 Tetsuma Fujikawa succeeded
Shotara Miyake (July 1991)

3 Yoshihisa Kuroda succeeded
Makoto Mizutani (August 1991)

4 Gybrgy Matolcsy succeeded
Andras Horvai (October 1991)

5 Jacques Reverdin succeeded
Nicolas Imboden {(November 1991)

Directors, Alternates and Constituencies

As at 31 December 1991

Directors

William Curran 1
Claes de Neergaard
Tony Faint
Tetsuma Fujikawa 2
James Humphreys
Ron Keller

Heiner Luschin
Giuseppe Maresca
Alexander Maslov
Donald McCutchan
Patrick Mordacq
Kari Nars

Guy Noppen
Branimir Pajkovic
Tomés Parizek
Jacques Reverdin 5
Christopher Sibson
José da Silva Lopes
Lars Tybjerg

José Luis Ugarte
Antoine Van Goethem
Jan Winiecki

Glinter Winkelmann

Alternate Directors

Emily Walker
Halldér J Kristjansson
Craig Pickering
Yoshihisa Kuroda s
Seung Woo Kwon
Paul Menkveld
Mordechai D Fraenkel
Maurizio Serra
Serguei Ovseitchik
Robert Mackenzie
Erik Aarhus

Ermnest Muhlen

Stanel Ghencea
Gyorgy Matolesy 4
Ibrahim Berberoglu
Terry Brown

Dimitri Koulourianos
Pol O’Duibhir
Vicente Ferndndez
Peter Blackie

Plamen Ilichev

Composition of Board of Directors’ Committees

As at 31 December 1991

Audit Committee

Kari Nars Chairman

Branimir Pajkovic Vice-Chairman
Tony Faint

Jacques Reverdin

Donald McCutchan

Toméas Parizek

José da Silva Lopes

Giinter Winklemann

Committee on Staff

Compensation and Administrative

Affairs of the Board

James Humphreys Chairman

Ron Keller Vice- Chairman

Tetsuma Fujikawa
Heiner Luschin
Christopher Sibson
Lars Tybjerg

José Luis Ugarte
Jan Winiecki
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Constituencies

USA
Sweden/Iceland
UK

Japan

Australia/Korea/Egypt/New Zealand

Netherlands
Austria/lsrael/Cyprus/Malta
Italy

USSR

Canada/Morocco

France

Finland/Norway
Belgium/Luxembourg
Yugoslavia/Romania
CSFR/Hungary
Switzerland/Turkey/Liechtenstein
EIB

Portugal/Greece
Denmark/Ireland
Spain/Mexico

EEC

Poland/Bulgaria

Germany

Finance Committee

Antoine Van Goethem Chairman
William Curran Vice-Chairman
Claes de Neergaard

Giuseppe Maresca

Alexander Maslov

Donald McCutchan

Patrick Mordacq

Guy Noppen



*Effective date of Albania's membership,

18 December 1991
**Following completion of membership

procedures by Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania

in early 1992

Appendices

Membership

Capital Subscription

Country ECU million
Australia 100.00
Austria 228.00
Belgium 228.00
Bulgaria 79.00
Canada 340.00
Cyprus 10.00

Czech and Slovak
Federal Republic 128.00

Denmark 120.00
Egypt 10.00
Finland 125.00
France 851.75
Germany 851.75
Greece 65.00
Hungary 79.00
Iceland 10.00
Ireland 30.00
Israel 65.00
Italy 851.75
Japan 851.75
Korea 65.00
Liechtenstein 2.00
Luxembourg 20.00
Malta 1.00
Mexico 30.00
Morocco 10.00
Netherlands 248.00
New Zealand 10.00
Norway 125.00
Poland 128.00
Portugal 42.00
Romania 48.00
Spain 340.00
Sweden 228.00
Switzerland 228.00
Turkey 115.00
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Percentage of
Capital Stock
1.00
2.28
2.28
0.79
3.40
0.10

1.28
1.20
0.10
1.25
8.52
8.52
0.65
0.79
0.10
0.30
0.65
8.52
8.52
0.65
0.02
0.20
0.01
0.30
0.10
2.48
0.10
1.25
1.28
0.42
0.48
3.40
2.28
2.28
1.15

Capital Subscription

Country ECU million
United Kingdom 851.75
USA 1000.00
USSR 600.00
Yugoslavia 128.00
EEC 300.00
EIB 300.00

Membership approved by Governors during 1991

Albania™® 10.00
Estonia 10.00
Latvia 10.00
Lithuania 10.00

Unallocated shares™* 116.25

Percentage of
Capital Stock
8.52
10.00
6.00

1.28

3.00

3.00

0.10
0.10
0.10
0.10



Appendices

Management structure

V P Merchant I I I

Banking

Country Transaction Key Sector Functional
Teams Transaction Teams  Transaction Teams
V P Development I I I I
Banking
Central & Eastern USSR* Public Infrastucture Cooperation Funds
Europe Energy & Training
Environment Procurement
V P Finance I I I I I I
Treasury Controller Analysis Corporate Planning  Information Internal Audit

& Budgeting Technology

V P Personnel I I

& Administration
Personnel Administration

President

V P Evaluation

Secretary General

General Counsel

Chief Economist

Political Unit
*Vvalid until 31 December 1991
Department being restructured to take
account of membership changes Communications
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President

Jacques Attali

*Valid until 31 December 1991.
Department being restructured to take
account of membership changes

Appendices

Management

Merchant Banking
First Vice President

Deputy head

Bulgaria
CSFR
Hungary

Poland

Romania

USSR’

Yugoslavia
Commercial Banks
Hotels/Property
Oil & Gas
Privatization

Project Finance

Restructuring
Syndications

Telecommunications

Ron Freeman

Guy de Selliers, Senior Banker

Pierre-Yves Divisia, Senior Banker
Alex Tyrteos, Senior Banker

Gyuri Karady, Senior Banker

Peter Reiniger, Senior Banker
Bogy Cimoszko, Senior Banker
Charles Wrangham, Senior Banker
Bogdan Baltazar, Senior Adviser
Pierre-Yves Divisia, Senior Banker
Boris Fedorov, Senior Banker
Yasuo Izumi, Senior Banker
Barbara Insel, Senior Banker
Massimo Ponzellini, Senior Banker
Randall Fischer, Senior Banker
Charles Vuylsteke, Senior Banker
Masato Miyachi, Senior Banker
Charles Wrangham, Senior Banker
Christopher Beauman, Senior Banker
Noreen Doyle, Senior Banker
Edouard Altenhoven, Banker
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*Valid until 31 December 1991
Department being restructured to take
account of membership changes

Development Banking

Vice President

Mario Sarcinelli

Adviser to the Vice President Pascal Lorot

Central and Eastern European Department

Department Director
Albania

Bulgaria

CSFR

Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania
Hungary

Poland

Romania

Yugoslavia

USSR Department”

Deputy Department Director

Magne Haga

Matthias von Bismarck-Osten, Senior Country Manager
Stijn Albregts, Senior Country Manager

Aldo Patania, Senior Country Manager

George Krivicky, Senior Country Manager (acting)
Rolf Westling, Senior Country Manager

George Krivicky, Senior Country Manager

Klaus Hoffarth, Senior Country Manager (acting)
Klaus Hoffarth, Senior Country Manager

Motoo Kusakabe

Infrastructure, Energy & Environment Department

Department Director
Energy

Environment

Rural & Agro Industrial
Infrastructure

Social Infrastructure
Telecommunications
Transport

Urban and Municipal

Development

Support Services
Head of Co-Financing Unit
Head of Procurement Unit

Head of Training Unit

Thierry Baudon
Mark Tomlinson, Senior Project Manager

Tim Murphy, Senior Environmental Specialist

Juan Miranda, Senior Project Manager
Michel Gaspard, Senior Project Manager
Friedrich Kraemer, Senior Project Manager

Clell Harral, Senior Project Manager

Josué Tanaka, Senior Project Manager

Ullrich Kiermayr

Bernard Gouveia

Philippe-Emmanuel Dewilde
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Appendices Management

Finance

Vice President
Information Technology
Controller

Treasurer

Corporate Planning and
Budgeting

Director, Financial

Policies and Analysis
Head of Internal Audit

Personnel and Administration
Vice President
Director of Personnel

Director of Administration

Evaluation

Vice President

Secretary General
Secretary General

Deputy Secretary General

General Counsel

General Counsel

Deputy General Counsel
Assistant General Counsel

Senior Counsel

Chief Economist
Chief Economist

Senior Economist

Political Unit
Head, Political Unit

Political Counsellor

Communications
Chief Press Officer
Chief Public Affairs Officer

Anders Ljungh
Guy de Poerck
Christopher Holyoak

René Karsenti

Pierre Pissaloux

Boris Zenic

Tarek Rouchdy

Miklss Németh
Sam Goldenberg
Renaud Lagey

Manfred Abelein

Bart le Blanc

Sarah Papineau

Andre Newburg
John Taylor
Emmanuel Maurice

Liz Hunt

John Flemming

Philippe Aghion

Sylvia Jay
Andrei Bugrov

Barbara Ann Clay

James Rosenstein
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Appendices

Members of the advisory councils

Business Advisory Council

The Business Advisory Council comprises 25 eminent
industrialists and financiers from the private sector.
The purpose of the Council is to provide guidance to
the Bank and to share experience in all relevant areas
in which its members have expertise. The members

of the Council are:

Avv Giovanni Agnelli

President of Fiat S.p.A. in Turin, Italy

Mr Jean-Louis Beffa

President of Saini-Gobain in Paris, France

Mr Hervé de Carmoy

Advisor to the President of HR Finance and President of
Parvalind Gérance, in Paris, France

Mr Michel David-Weill

Managing Director of Lazard Freéres in Paris, France
Mr Richard Debs

Advisory Director of Morgan Stanley & Co Inc in

New York, USA

Ing Giuseppe Garofano

Chairman of Montedison in Milan, Italy

Mr Pehr G Gyllenhammar

Executive Chairman of AB Volvo in Gothenburg, Sweden
Mr Jean-Yves Haberer

President & Director General of Crédit Lyonnais

in Paris, France

Mr Karl Kahane

Chairman of the Supervisory Board of Montana AG

in Vienna, Austria

Mr Yusuke Kashiwagi

Chairman of The Bank of Tokyo in Tokyo, Japan

Dr Karlheinz Kaske

President & Chief Executive Officer of Siemens AG

in Munich, Germany

Mr Raymond Kirsch

Chief Executive Officer & President of the Executive
Committee of the Banque et Caisse d’Epargne de UEtat

in Luxembourg
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Mr Yoh Kurosawa

President of The Industrial Bank of Japan in

Tokyo, Japan

Mr Friiz Leutwiler

Chairman of BBC Brown Boveri Limited in Baden,
Switzerland

Mr Andre Leysen

President of Agfa Gevaert in Mortsel, Belgium

Mr Robert McNamara

Washington DC, USA

Mr Helmut Maucher

Chairman of the Board & Chief Executive Officer

of Nestlé SA in Vevey, Switzerland

Mr Henry Owen

Co-Chairman of the Bretton Woods Commiltee

in Washington DC, USA

Mr Albert Reichmann

President of Olympia & York Developments Limited
in London, UK

Mr Edzard Reuter

Chairman of Daimler-Benz AG in Stuttgart, Germany
Mr Antoine Riboud

President & Director General of BSN in Paris, France
The Rt Hon Lord Richardson of Duntisbourne KG
Former Governor of the Bank of England & Vice
Chairman of the BIS

Mr Hans-Joerg Rudloff

Chairman of Crédit Suisse First Boston in London, UK
Dr Heinz Schimmelbusch

Chairman of Metallgesellschaft AG in Frankfurt,
Germany

Mr Alain de Wulf

Director General of Bangue Partbas in Paris, France
Mr Takuma Yamamoto

Chairman of Fujitsu in Tokyo, Japan



Appendices Members of the advisory

Economic Advisory Council

The Economic Advisory Council was established

to provide a link between the Bank and the academic
community, in particular in the area of research on

the economics of transition. It also advises the Bank on
the economic issues raised by its activities.

It comprises the following members:

Academician Abel G Aganbegyan

Rector at the Academy of National Economy

of the USSR in Moscow, USSR

Professor Kenneth J Arrow

Professor of Economics at Stanford University in
Stanford, California, USA

Professor Jean-Paul Fitoussi

President of the OFCE in Paris, France

Professor Ryutaro Komiya

Director General of the Research Institute of
International Trade & Industry in Tokyo, Japan
Professor Janos Kornai

Professor of Economics at the Institute of Economics

in Budapest, Hungary

Professor Assar C Lindbeck

Professor of International Economics at the Institute for
International Economics in Stockholm, Sweden
Professor Edmund S Phelps

Professor of Political Economy at Columbia University
in New York, USA

Professor Robert M Solow

Professor of Economics at the Massachusetts Institute of
Technology in Cambridge, USA

Professor Luigi Spaventa

Professor of Economics at the Universita degli Studi

in Rome, Italy

Professor Dr C Christian von Weizsicker

Professor of Economics at the University of Cologne

in Cologne, Germany
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Environmental Advisory Council

The Bank is directed in its Agreement to promote
environmentally sound and sustainable development
in the full range of its activities. The Environmental
Advisory Council, a direct advisory body to

the President, assists the Bank to meet this goal.

13 of the 17 Council members have now been

appointed:

Dr Wojciech Beblo

Director of the Environment Department of Katowice
Province, Poland

Mr Jacques-Yves Cousteau

Director, Fondation Cousteau, France

Dr Boguslaw Fiedor

Professor of Economics at the Oscar Lange Academy
of Economics in ’Wroclaw, Poland and member of

the European Association of Naiural Resources and
Environmental Economics

Dr Peter Hardi

Executive Director of the Regional Environmental
Center in Budapest, Hungary

Dr Martin Holdgate

Director General of the International Union for the
Conservation of Nature and Natural Resources,
Switzerland

Dr Andrzej Kassenberg

President of the Institute for Sustainable Development in
Warsaw, Poland

Dr Vdclav Mezricky

Director of the Environmental Law Institute at Charles
University, Prague, CSFR and former First Deputy
Minister of Environmeni of the Czech Republic

Sir Crispin Tickell

President of the Royal Geographic Society,

London, UK and Chairman of the International Institute

Jor Environment and Development, UK



Mr Angheluta Vadineanu

Professor of Ecology, University of Bucharest and
Chairman of the Commission of Ecology of the
Romanian Academy

Mr Janos Vargha

President of ISTER Environmental Research Institute in
Budapest, Hungary and Board Member of the Danube
Circle, Hungary

Mr Delcho Georgiev Vitchev

Member of the Executive Council, ECOGLASNOST,
Bulgaria

Professor Dr E U von Weizicker

Director of the Institute for European Environmental
Policy in Bonn, Germany

Mr Jan-Olaf Willums

Executtve Director of the International Environment
Bureau, International Chamber of Commerce, Paris,

France
The remaining four members are being recruited and

will extend the institutional, technical and geographical

scope of the Couneil.
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Page numbers in light refer to the
illustrations and tables

Aarhus, Erik, 141, 139
Abelein, Manfred, 144
accounting policies, 129-30
administrative expenses, 135
Adriatic Sea, 56
advisory councils, 145-7
Aganbegyan, Abel G, 146
Aghion, Philippe, 144
Agnelli, Giovanni, 145
agriculture, 42, 72, 99, 101, 107, 110
Ahern, Bertie, 138
Ahmeti, Vilson, 27, 64
air pollution see pollution
air transport, 77
Akmene, 118
Albania, 14, 18
Bank involvement, 66
banks, 66
capital subscription, 128, 140
economic situation, 25, 33, 36, 64-5
environment, 65
political review, 27, 64
strategy for operations, 14, 66
technical assistance, 21, 66
Albregts, Stijn, 143
Algeria, 53
Alia, Ramiz, 64
Altenhoven, Edouard, 142
Altinok, Tevfik, 138
Ameritech International, 95
Antall, Jozsef, 80
Arioli, Silvio, 138
Armenia, 38, 42
Arrow, Kenneth J, 146
Aspe, Pedro, 138
Attali, Jacques, 810, 11, 18, 112
Audit Committee, 15, 139
auditors’ report, 137
Australia, 128, 140
Austria, 22, 54, 74, 88, 128, 140
Austrian Institute of Economic Research, 33
aviation, 47, 48, 49
Azerbaijan, 38
Azov Sea, 56

balance sheet, 124
Balcerowicz, Leszek, 88
Baltazar, Bogdan, 142
Baltic Republics see Estonia; Latvia; Lithuania
Baltic Sea, 22, 56, 61, 93, 115, 116, 118
Baltic Sea Environment Programme, 61
Baitic Sea Joint Comprehensive Programme, 115,
117, 148
Bank of Poznan (WBK), 18, 20, 92, 93, 127
banks, 3941
Albania, 66
Bulgaria, 39, 71
CSFR, 39, 76
Hungary, 39, 86
Poland, 39, 91
USSR, 107, 110
barter deals, 38
Baudon, Thierry, 143

Beauman, Christopher, 142

Beblo, Dr Wojciech, 146

Beffa, Jean-Louis, 145

Belarus, 27, 38, 52, 104

Belgium, 128, 140

Berberoglu, tbrahim, 11, 139

Bercea, Florian, 138

Bérégovoy, Pierre, 138

Berisha, Salih, 64

Berne Union, 18

Berrada, Mohamed, 138

Bielecki, Jan Krzystof, 27, 88

BIS, 32

Bismarck-Osten, Matthias von, 143

Black Sea, 56, 71

Black Triangle, 56

Blackie, Peter, 11, 139

Board of Directors, 139

Board of Governors, 12, 138

Bohemia, 75

Bond Issue, 9, 13, 18

Bonello Du Puis, George, 1.38

borrowing programme, 13, 16, 120

Borsod, 81

Bosnia-Herzegovina, 112

BOT (Build, Operate and Transfer) schemes, 48,
49, 85, 93

Bourgas, 71

Brady, Nicholas, 138

Braga De Macedo, Jorge, 138

Bras, José Monteiro Fernandes, 138

Bratislava, 54, 55, 75, 77

Bréder, Emst-Ginther, 138

Brouhns, Grégoire, 138

Brown, Terry, 11, 139

BSN, 78

Budapest, 21, 55, 81, 86

Budget, 14

Bufi, Ylli, 27, 64

Bugrov, Andrei, 144

Bulgaria, 16
Bank involvement, 71-2
banks, 39, 71
capital subscription, 128, 140
constitution, 25
economic situation, 33, 68-9
environment, 69
political review, 27, 68
privatization, 42, 44, 71, 72
strategy for operations, 14, 71
technical assistance, 21, 71, 72
trade, 36, 37, 38

Bulgarian Railways Company, 71

Business Advisory Council, 16, 18, 145

Calfa, Marian, 74

Canada, 45, 128, 140,138

capital expenditure programme, 14
capital formation, 35

capital subscriptions, 120, 128, 140
Carli, Guido, 138

Carmoy, Hervé de, 145

Carrington, Lord, 27

cash flows, 126

Caspian Sea, 56

Central Bank of Russia, 110
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Chalker, Lynda, 138
Chemobyl, 56, 105
Christodouiou, Efthymios, 138
Christophersen, Henning, 138
Ciller, Tansu, 138
Cimoszko, Bogy, 142
Clay Barbara Ann, 144
CMEA, 34, 36, 46, 52, 53, 54, 64, 74, 80, 105
co-financing, 122
coal, 54, 57
Cokoladovny, 20, 78, 127
Cold War, 24
Collogquy on Economic Law Reform, 18, 32
Comecon, 27, 36
commercial banks, 39
Committee on Staff Compensation and
Administrative Affairs, 15, 139
Committees, 15, 139
Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS), 27,
104, 105 see also USSR
Conference on the Economics of Transition, 18
constitutions, 25
conversion reserve, 129, 134
Cooperation Funds Programme (CFP), 22, 122, 136
cooperative banks, 39
Council of Europe, 185, 25, 27, 32, 64, 68, 74,
88, 98, 114, 115, 116, 117
country strategy papers, 13, 14
Cousteau, Jacques-Yves, 146
credit, interest rates, 40
Croatia, 25, 27, 112
Cromien, Sean P, 138
CSCE, 265, 27, 64, 88, 104, 115, 117
CSFR, 16
Bank involvement, 76-8
banks, 39, 76
capital subscription, 128, 140
economic situation, 33, 34, 74-5
energy resources, 53, 54, 77
environment, 75, 77
foreign direct investment, 45
inflation, 35
operations, 77-78
political review, 25, 27, 74
pollution, 56
privatization, 42, 44, 76
projects approved, 20
strategy for operations, 14, 76
technical assistance, 21, 78
trade, 37, 38
Curran, William, 11, 139
currency: convertibility, 38
former Soviet republics, 356
Cyprus, 128, 140
Czechoslovak Telecommunications Project, 78
Czechoslovakia see CSFR
Czechoslovakia Investment Corporation Inc, 20,
778, 127

Dairi, Mohammed, 138

Danube, river, 22, 56, 61, 81

Danube Delta Biosphere Authority, 61, 101

Danube Delta Environment Programme, 61

Danube River Basin Environmental
Programme, 61,62

Daugavpils, 117



David-Weill, Michel, 145
Dawkins, John, 138
decentralization, municipal, 55
Delamuraz, Jean Pascal, 138
democracy, 1, 8, 9, 13, 24, 25, 26

Albania, 64

Bulgaria, 68

CSFR, 74

Estonia, 114

Hungary, 80

Latvia, 116

Lithuania, 117

Poland, 88

Romania, 98

USSR, 104
demonopolization, 43, 51
Denmark, 128, 140
Dewilde, Philippe-Emmanuel, 143
Dimitrov, Filip, 27, 68
Directors, 11, 139

report, 12-16
Divisia, Pierre-Yves, 142
domestic banks, 39
Doyle, Noreen, 142
Draghi, Mario, 138

Economic Advisory Council, 16, 18, 146
Economic Commission for Europe, 15
economic review, regional, 334
economic reviews:
Albania, 64-5
Bulgaria, 68-9
CSFR, 745
Estonia, 115
Hungary, 801
Latvia, 116
Lithuania, 117-18
Poiand, 889
Romania, 98-9
USSR, 105
ECU Bond Issue, 9, 13, 18, 120
EFTA, 45, 80
Egypt, 128, 140
Elbe, river, 56
electricity, 534
Elektrenai, 118
Ellemann-Jensen, Uffe, 138
employment, 34, 35, 43
energy, 47, 525, 62
Albania, 66
Bulgaria, 72
CSFR, 53, 54, 77
Hungary, 85
Poland, 93
Romania, 100-1
USSR, 52, 53, 1079
Enhanced Digital Network (EDN), 20, 108, 109,
127
Environmental Advisory Council, 16, 18, 146-7
Environmental Assessment Legislation and Policy
in central and eastern Europe, 61
environment, 13
environment:
Albania, 65, 66
Bulgaria, 69
CSFR, 75, 77

Estonia, 115
Hungary, 81, 85
Latvia, 11617
Lithuania, 118
Poland, 89, 93
Romania, 99, 101
USSR, 105
environmental review, regional, 56-62
equity investments, 15, 121, 127
Erotokritos, Michael, 138
Estonia, 14, 18, 27
capital subscription, 140
economic review, 115
environment, 115
political review, 114-15
privatization, 42
technical assistance, 21
telecommunications, 52
trade, 38
ethnic minorities, 26
European Commission, 15, 120
European Communities (EC), 15, 26, 32, 34, 74,
80, 88, 107, 112
capital subscription, 128, 140
Cooperation Fund Agreements, 22
Council of Ministers, 27
foreign direct investment, 45
PHARE Programme, 72, 96
trade, 36
European Convention on Human Rights and
Fundamental Freedoms, 25, 74
European Energy Charter, 55, 107
European Investment Bank (EIB), 15, 32, 85, 120,
128, 140
European Parliament, 18
exchange rates, 33, 356
exports, 37, 38, 38
External Auditors, 15
report, 137

Faint, Tony, 11, 139
Al Farargi, Saad, 138
Fedorov, Boris, 142
Fernandez, Vicente, 11, 139
Fiedor, Dr Boguslaw, 146
Finance Committee, 16, 139
financial highlights, 19
financial policies, 120-2
financial sector review, regional, 3941
financial sector:

Albania, 66

Bulgaria, 71

CSFR, 76

Hungary, 83

Poland, 91

USSR, 107, 110
Financial Statements, 15, 123-36
Finland, 128, 140
Fischer, Randall, 142
Fitoussi, Professor Jean-Paul, 146
Fleming, Robert, 78
Flemming, John, 144
foreign direct investment, 45-6
Fraenkel, Mordechai D, 11, 139
France, 22, 128, 140
France Telecom Mobiles International, 95

Freeman, Ron, 142
Frenkel, Jacob A, 138
Fridfinnsson, Bjorn, 138
Frommelt, Egmond, 138
Fujikawa, Tetsuma, 11, 139

G-7 summit, 27

Gair, George, 138

Galdes, Anthony P, 138

Garofano, Giuseppe, 145

gas supplies, 53

Gaspard, Michel, 143

Gdarisk, 21, 55, 58, 89, 95

GDP, 33, 33, 34, 36

GEC Alsthom, 20, 102, 127
General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT), 15
general reserve, 121, 134
Georgia, 27, 38, 104
Gerashchenko, Victor, 138
Germany, 8, 43, 54, 56, 128, 140
Ghencea, Stanel, 11, 139
Godmanis, lvars, 116

Goldenberg, Sam, 144

Goncz, President, 16

Gorbachev, Mikhail, 24-5, 27, 104
Gorbunovs, Anatolijs, 116
Gouveia, Bernard, 143

Governors, 12, 138

Greece, 128, 140

Gurria, José Angel, 138
Gyllenhammar, Pehr G, 145

Haberer, Jean-Yves, 145

Haga, Magne, 143

Hardi, Dr Peter, 146

Harral, Clell, 143

Harvard Programme on International Financial
Systems, 32

Hata, Tsutomu, 138

Haushofer, Othmar, 138

Havel, Vaclav, 74

Headquarters Agreement, 129

headquarters building, 14, 18

health issues, 56-7

Helsinki Commission's Task Force, 61

Hexagonale, 74, 80, 88

highways, 49, 71, 86

Hoffarth, Klaus, 143

Holdgate, Dr Martin, 146

Holyoak, Christopher, 144

housing, 42, 43

Hoxha, Enver, 64

Humphreys, James, 11, 139

Hungarian Telecommunications Company, 20, 84,
86, 127
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AFD Alliance of Free Democrats (Hungary)

BIS Bank for International Settlements

BOT Build, Operate, Transfer.
(a form of concession financing where the
private sector finances the building and
operation of public facilities while the
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government grants various types of
‘concessions’ which normally include grants of
land, sometimes finance, as welt as public
license to do business. At the end of the
concession the facility is transferred back to
the government.

THE BANK,

THE EUROPEAN BANK ,

EBRD European Bank for Reconstruction and
Development.

BSP Bulgarian Socialist Party

BNB Bulgarian National Bank

CIS Commonwealth of Independent States

CMEA Council for Mutual Economic Assistance

CSFR Czech and Slovak Federal Republic

CSCE Conference on Security and Cooperation in
Europe

CFP Cooperation Funds Programme

DEL Direct exchange line

DP Democratic Party (Albania)

ECE Economic Commission for Europe (United
Nations}

ECU European Currency Unit

EDN Enhanced Digital Network (Soviet company)

EEC/EC European Economic Community, European
Communities

EIB European Investment Bank

EFTA European Free Trade Association

GFS Government Finance Statistics

GNP Gross National Product

GDP Gross Domestic Product

HDF Hungarian Democratic Forum

HTC Hungarian Telecommunications Company

IBRD International Bank for Development and
Reconstruction

IFC International Finance Corporation

IFI International Financial Institution

IMF International Monerary Fund

IMGB Intreprinderea de Masini Grele Bucruesti
(Romanian heavy equipment manufacturer)

ITAP Initial Technical Assistance Programme

IUCN International Union for the Conservation of
Nature and Natural Resources

INA Yugoslav Federal Army

LIBOR London interbank offered rate

MDI Municipal Development Initiative

MIGA Mulitlateral Investment Guarantee Agency

NATO North Atlantic Treaty Organisation

NIB Nordic Investment Bank

NMP Net Material Product

NSF National Salvation Front (Romania)

OECD Organisation for Economic Cooperation and
Development

OMSYC Observatoire Mondial des systémes de
Communication

OTP National Savings Bank (Hungary)

PHARE Poland and Hungary: Aid for Economic
Restructuring (EC)

PTT Post, telegraph and telephone organizations

POTS Plain, old telephone service

RT Rom Telecom

SPA State Property Agency (Hungary)

SPT Slovak Posts and Telecom

UDF Union of Democratic Forces (Bulgaria)

UNDP United Nations Development Programme

WEU West European Union
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Romanians carrying their flag with the
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Dismantling of Dzherzhinsky

(founder of the KGB) statue, Moscow 1991 1
Soviet withdrawal, Shroband, Hungary 1989 1
Gorbachev with G7 leaders, London 1991 3
Albanian refugees, Brindisi, ltaly 1

Red army parading outside Lenin’s tomb 2
Insurgents, Bucharest 1

Statin's fallen statue, Albania 2

Red Army guard before withdrawal

from Hungary 1

Cafe Plovdiv, Bulgaria 1

UDF pre-election rally, Bulgaria 1990 3

Soviet riot troops defending the

Latvian Parliament 2

independence day rally, Vilnius,

Lithuania 1990 1

Solidarity rally, Gdarisk, 1988 3

Véclav Havel and Alexander Dubgek toast the
resignation of the Communist politburo 1
Lithuanians pinning up passports and ID cards
outside Parliament buildings, January 1991 2
Demonstration in Prague 3

Tallinn, Estonia, August 1991 2

Romanians watch trucks containing their

war dead pass 1

Soviet troops attack Estonians during Soviet
coup attempt, August 1991 2

Polish President Walesa addressing potential
investors in Poland, 1990 1

Bulgarian Green Party, South Park,

Sofia 1989 2

Demonstration in Prague 1

Independence day rally, Vilnius,

Lithuania 1990 1

Serbs demonstrating in Kosovo

Yugoslavia 1988 2

Solidarity Mayday demonstration, Poland,
Warsaw 1989 1

Election posters for Magyar Democratic Forum,
a week before the first free elections 3
Inside Ceaucescu’s office at the Central
Committee building 2

Croatian troops in Yugoslavia, 1991 1
Demonstration to coincide with fiftieth
anniversary of Molotov - Ribbentrop pact,
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Gorbachev and Yeltsin, Autumn 1991 2
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Regional Section Captions page 28 and 29

A district heating power plant, Katowice, Poland s
Food market, Lithuania 1

Street scene, Budapest 6

Bank clerk, Tallinn, Estonia 1

Waste water treatment plant, Warsaw 5

Petofi Nyomda Rt. packaging factory, Budapest &
Peter’'s Passage supermarket, Moscow 7

Red Cross food distribution 1

Motorway, Hungary &

Department store, Sofia, Buigaria 2

Acid rain pollution, Czechoslovakia 1989 2
Wedding ceremony, Albania 4
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Regional Section Captions page 30 and 31

Urban transport, Warsaw 5

District heating plant, Warsaw s

Onion farming, Pogradec, Albania 2
Carbosin factory, Romania, February 1990 2
Shopping for meat, Moscow 7

Telephone kiosk, Prague Central Station &
Commodities Exchange, Moscow, 1991 2
Independence elections, Vilnius,
Lithuania, 1990 1

Computer games at private co-operative,
Estonia 2

Sinpetru agricultural co-op, Transyivania,
Romania, June 1991 2

Port, Lithuania 1

Czechoslovakian airline technical workshops 8
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